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ANDRE
Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*

(a joint stock limited company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China)

 (Stock code : 02218)

Consolidated Balance Sheet – unaudited
As at 30 June 2021
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise stated)

Note VI Closing Balance Opening Balance

Assets
Current assets:

Cash at bank and on hand Note 1 350,250,578.98 187,978,630.88
Financial assets held for trading Note 2 411,799,482.88 287,617,293.20
Bills receivable Note 3 6,583,956.50 5,572,474.00
Accounts receivable Note 4 210,232,889.31 176,572,910.68
Prepayments Note 5 8,110,544.12 2,435,171.66
Other receivables Note 6 834,173.03 1,293,631.96
Inventories Note 7 396,362,144.23 664,477,186.52
Other current assets Note 8 108,266,186.35 124,666,330.03

  

Total current assets 1,492,439,955.40 1,450,613,628.93
  

Non-current assets:
Other non-current financial assets Note 9 6,000,000.00 –
Fixed assets Note 10 658,950,503.67 667,605,005.22
Construction in progress Note 11 13,703,191.77 6,282,281.59
Intangible assets Note 12 101,178,417.05 90,185,449.10
Goodwill Note 13 5,586,976.43 5,586,976.43
Other non-current assets Note 15 1,414,775.00 4,086,210.22

  

Total non-current assets 786,833,863.92 773,745,922.56
  

Total assets 2,279,273,819.32 2,224,359,551.49
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Note VI Closing Balance Opening Balance

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities:

Notes payable Note 16 60,000,000.00 –
Accounts payable Note 17 36,788,460.31 63,179,732.56
Contract liabilities Note 18 2,079,810.24 1,359,029.04
Employee benefits payable Note 19 12,893,353.12 20,521,257.56
Taxes payable Note 20 2,543,622.02 4,069,730.55
Other payables Note 21 33,804,343.33 13,381,726.13
Other current liabilities Note 22 – 300,000.00

  

Total current liabilities 148,109,589.02 102,811,475.84
  

Non-current liabilities:
Long-term payables Note 23 1,600,040.50 1,581,524.00
Deferred income Note 24 12,172,585.97 12,175,430.80

  

Total non-current liabilities 13,772,626.47 13,756,954.80
  

Total liabilities 161,882,215.49 116,568,430.64
  

Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital Note 25 367,300,000.00 378,000,000.00
Capital reserve Note 26 51,532,007.12 118,791,715.23
Less: treasury shares Note 27 23,872,408.21 77,959,708.11
Surplus reserve Note 28 136,586,052.71 136,586,052.71
Retained earnings Note 29 1,585,845,952.21 1,552,373,061.02

  

Total equity attributable to shareholders 
of the company 2,117,391,603.83 2,107,791,120.85

  

Non-controlling interests – –
Total shareholders’ equity 2,117,391,603.83 2,107,791,120.85

  

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 2,279,273,819.32 2,224,359,551.49
  

(Attached notes to statements are part of the consolidated financial statements)

Legal Representative: Wang An Chief Financial Officer: Wang Yanhui
  

Chief Accountant: Li Lei
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Company Balance Sheet – unaudited
As at 30 June 2021
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise stated)

Note XIV Closing Balance Opening Balance

Assets
Current assets:

Cash at bank and on hand 261,338,645.97 153,194,363.03
Financial assets held for trading 411,799,482.88 287,617,293.20
Bills receivable 6,583,956.50 5,072,474.00
Accounts receivable Note 1 176,878,655.38 118,084,805.61
Prepayments 3,962,805.23 153,847.39
Other receivables Note 2 98,113,305.50 172,214,932.03
Inventories 56,206,415.38 82,408,041.25
Other current assets 105,242,518.49 110,487,515.73

  

Total current assets 1,120,125,785.33 929,233,272.24
  

Non-current assets:
Long-term equity investments Note 3 429,794,824.28 429,794,824.28
Other non-current financial assets 6,000,000.00 –
Fixed assets 117,774,697.48 124,556,199.04
Intangible assets 27,869,387.99 28,346,016.95

  

Total non-current assets 581,438,909.75 582,697,040.27
  

Total assets 1,701,564,695.08 1,511,930,312.51
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Note XIV Closing Balance Opening Balance

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities:

Bills payable 60,000,000.00 –
Accounts payable 82,291,620.22 36,140,962.58
Contract liabilities 706,238.57 967,744.51
Employee benefits payable 826,550.96 3,222,296.31
Taxes payable 12,753.17 607,993.49
Other payables 494,451,311.96 355,160,045.51

  

Total current liabilities 638,288,474.88 396,099,042.40
  

Total liabilities 638,288,474.88 396,099,042.40
  

Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital 367,300,000.00 378,000,000.00
Capital reserve 77,774,704.97 145,034,413.08
Less: treasury shares 23,872,408.21 77,959,708.11
Surplus reserve 136,586,052.71 136,586,052.71
Retained earnings 505,487,870.73 534,170,512.43

  

Total equity attributable to shareholders 
of the company 1,063,276,220.20 1,115,831,270.11

  

Total shareholders’ equity 1,701,564,695.08 1,511,930,312.51
  

(Attached notes to statements are part of the consolidated financial statements)

Legal Representative: Wang An Chief Financial Officer: Wang Yanhui
  

Chief Accountant: Li Lei
Li
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Consolidated Income Statement – unaudited
For the six-month period ended 30 June 2021
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise stated)

Items Note VI

For the  
six-month 

period ended  
30 June 2021

For the  
six-month  

period ended  
30 June 2020

I Operating income Note 30 418,371,887.26 470,121,307.00
 Less:  Operating costs Note 30 339,803,594.53 332,890,629.39

Taxes and surcharges Note 31 4,408,409.01 5,116,611.64
Selling and distribution expenses Note 32 1,393,785.67 33,859,119.40
General and administrative expenses Note 33 14,207,526.14 16,912,425.45
Research and development expenses Note 34 1,486,610.18 861,917.82
Financial expenses Note 35 3,347,411.04 (6,433,111.79)
Including: Interest expenses 18,516.50 18,517.22
 Interest income 2,234,056.54 2,609,127.87

 Add: Other income Note 36 742,722.15 1,002,781.24
Investment income Note 37 9,713,436.84 5,662,069.81
Including: Investment income from 

associates and joint 
ventures – –

Derecognition of financial 
assets at amortised cost – –

Profits arising from changes in fair 
value Note 38 (15,850,333.07) –

Credit losses Note 39 3,414,587.12 (3,811,660.00)
Impairment losses Note 40 (371.40) 18,047.12
Gains/(losses) from asset disposals Note 41 1,811.55 (1,349.40)

  

II Operating profit 51,746,403.88 89,783,603.86

 Add: Non-operating income Note 42 4,358.16 434.80
 Less: Non-operating expenses Note 43 39,313.84 1,153,820.56

  

III Profit before taxation 51,711,448.20 88,630,218.10

 Less: Income tax expenses Note 44 (126,442.99) 2,139,576.41
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Items Note VI

For the  
six-month 

period ended  
30 June 2021

For the  
six-month  

period ended  
30 June 2020

IV Net profit 51,837,891.19 86,490,641.69

Including: Net profit realised before business 
combinations under common 
control – –

a) Classified by continuity of operations – –
Net profit from continuing operations 51,837,891.19 86,490,641.69
Net profit from discontinued operations – –

b) Classified by ownership of the equity – –
Attributable to shareholders of the 

Company 51,837,891.19 86,490,641.69
Attributable to non-controlling interests – –

  

V Total comprehensive income 51,837,891.19 86,490,641.69

Attributable to shareholders of the Company 51,837,891.19 86,490,641.69
Attributable to non-controlling interests – –

  

VI Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share 0.140 0.242

  

Diluted earnings per share 0.140 0.242
  

(Attached notes to statements are part of the consolidated financial statements)

Legal Representative: Wang An Chief Financial Officer: Wang Yanhui
  

Chief Accountant: Li Lei
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Company Income Statement – unaudited
For the six-month period ended 30 June 2021
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise stated)

Items Note XIV

For the  
six-month 

period ended  
30 June 2021

For the  
six-month  

period ended  
30 June 2020

I Operating income Note 4 293,299,427.02 327,769,689.88
 Less: Operating costs Note 4 287,253,505.19 294,576,568.82

Taxes and surcharges 942,374.47 2,128,394.27
Selling and distribution expenses 1,227,857.82 20,710,454.55
General and administrative expenses 3,959,580.33 5,652,016.28
Research and development expenses 820,398.33 861,917.82
Financial expenses 2,151,420.94 (5,417,023.86)
Including: Interest expenses – –
 Interest income 2,208,615.98 2,393,353.86

 Add: Other income 307,940.68 344,149.31
Investment income Note 5 9,713,436.84 13,249,689.99
Including: Investment income from 

associates and joint ventures – –
Derecognition of financial assets 

at amortised cost – –
Profits arising from changes in fair value (15,850,333.07)
Credit losses (1,395,124.18) (2,524,173.00)
Impairment losses (12,489.49) 18,047.12
Gains/(losses) from asset disposals (897.49) (1,349.40)

  

II Operating profit (10,293,176.77) 20,343,726.02

 Add: Non-operating income 6.79 –
 Less: Non-operating expenses 24,471.72 –

  

III Profit before taxation (10,317,641.70) 20,343,726.02

 Less: Income tax expenses – –
  

IV Net profit (10,317,641.70) 20,343,726.02

Net profit from continuing operations (10,317,641.70) 20,343,726.02
Net profit from discontinued operations – –

  

VI Total comprehensive income (10,317,641.70) 20,343,726.02
  

(Attached notes to statements are part of the consolidated financial statements)

Legal Representative: Wang An Chief Financial Officer: Wang Yanhui
  

Chief Accountant: Li Lei
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statements – unaudited
For the six-month period ended 30 June 2021
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise stated)

Items Note VI

For the six-month 
period ended  
30 June 2021

For the six-month 
period ended  
30 June 2020

I Cash flows from operating activities:
Proceeds from sale of goods and rendering 

of services 418,522,483.71 495,260,482.66
Refund of taxes and surcharges 22,819,888.36 36,460,915.27
Cash received relating to other operating 

activities Note 45 12,059,475.40 94,517,898.40
  

Sub-total of cash inflows from operating 
activities 453,401,847.47 626,239,296.33

  

Cash paid for goods and services 38,474,480.89 76,305,695.32
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees 27,402,298.35 23,258,694.00
Payments of taxes and surcharges 12,899,269.58 11,971,918.89
Cash paid relating to other operating 

activities Note 45 4,151,415.49 43,669,966.68
  

Sub-total of cash outflows from operating 
activities 82,927,464.31 155,206,274.89

  

Net cash flows from operating activities 370,474,383.16 471,033,021.44
  

II Cash flows from investing activities:
Cash received from disposal of investments 214,386,524.76 2,514,080,000.00
Cash received from returns on investments 9,713,436.84 5,662,069.81
Net cash received from disposal of fixed 

assets, intangible assets and other long-
term assets 395,585.28 143,996.00

Net proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 
and other business units – –

Cash received relating to other investing 
activities Note 45 2,234,056.54 2,609,128.00

  

Sub-total of cash inflows from investing 
activities 226,729,603.42 2,522,495,193.81

  

Cash paid to acquire fixed assets, intangible 
assets and other long-term assets 46,456,823.60 22,677,148.00

Cash paid to acquire investments 360,387,513.27 2,514,080,000.00
  

Sub-total of cash outflows from investing 
activities 406,844,336.87 2,536,757,148.00

  

Net cash flows from investing activities (180,114,733.45) (14,261,954.19)
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Items Note VI

For the six-month 
period ended  
30 June 2021

For the six-month 
period ended  
30 June 2020

III Cash flows from financing activities:
Payments for dividends, profit or interest 461,855.95 –
Payments for other financing activities Note 45 25,762,755.43 –

  

Sub-total of cash outflows from financing 
activities 26,224,611.38 –

  

Net cash flow from financing activities (26,224,611.38) –
  

IV Effect of foreign currency exchange rate 
changes on cash and cash equivalents (1,863,090.23) 652,145.19

  

V Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 162,271,948.10 457,423,212.44
Add:  Cash and cash equivalents at the 

beginning of the period 187,978,630.88 274,050,303.01
  

VI Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
period 350,250,578.98 731,473,515.45

  

(Attached notes to statements are part of the consolidated financial statements)

Legal Representative: Wang An Chief Financial Officer: Wang Yanhui
  

Chief Accountant: Li Lei
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Company Cash Flow Statement – unaudited
For the six-month period ended 30 June 2021
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise stated)

Items

For the six-month 
period ended  
30 June 2021

For the six-month 
period ended  
30 June 2020

I Cash flows from operating activities:
Proceeds from sale of goods and rendering of services 235,613,264.18 320,291,180.70
Refund of taxes and surcharges 13,754,531.14 26,570,909.76
Cash received relating to other operating activities 67,061,471.90 4,302,153.36

  

Sub-total of cash inflows from operating activities 316,429,267.22 351,164,243.82
  

Cash paid for goods and services 39,677,413.62 34,228,284.30
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees 7,764,107.94 5,550,784.00
Payments of taxes and surcharges 1,566,287.05 2,204,629.41
Cash paid relating to other operating activities 1,907,555.04 24,293,753.00

  

Sub-total of cash outflows from operating activities 50,915,363.65 66,277,450.71
  

Net cash flows from operating activities 265,513,903.57 284,886,793.11
  

II Cash flows from investing activities:
Cash received from disposal of investments 214,386,524.76 2,429,080,000.00
Cash received from returns on investments 9,713,436.84 13,249,689.99
Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets, 

intangible assets and other long-term assets 4,206,894.66 2,188.34
Net proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries and other 

business units – –
Cash received relating to other investing activities 2,208,615.98 140,491,311.00

  

Sub-total of cash inflows from investing activities 230,515,472.24 2,582,823,189.33
  

Cash paid to acquire fixed assets, intangible assets 
and other long-term assets 714,961.19 1,657,291.00

Cash paid to acquire investments 360,387,513.27 2,429,080,000.00
Net cash paid for acquiring subsidiaries and other 

business units – –
Cash paid relating to other investing activities – –

  

Sub-total of cash outflows from investing activities 361,102,474.46 2,430,737,291.00
  

Net cash flows from investing activities (130,587,002.22) 152,085,898.33
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Items

For the six-month 
period ended  
30 June 2021

For the six-month 
period ended  
30 June 2020

III Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments of borrowings – –
Payments for dividends, profit or interest 461,855.95 –
Payments for other financing activities 25,762,755.43 –

  

Sub-total of cash outflows from financing activities 26,224,611.38 –
  

Net cash outflow from financing activities (26,224,611.38) –
  

IV Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on 
cash and cash equivalents (558,007.03) 211,971.76

  

V Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 108,144,282.94 437,184,663.20
Add: Ca sh and cash equivalents at the beginning of 

the period 153,194,363.03 231,377,965.46
  

VI Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 261,338,645.97 668,562,628.66
  

(Attached notes to statements are part of the consolidated financial statements)

Legal Representative: Wang An Chief Financial Officer: Wang Yanhui
  

Chief Accountant: Li Lei
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity – unaudited
For the six-month period ended 30 June 2021
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise stated)

For the six-month ended 30 June 2021
Equity attributable to parent company

Items Share capital
Other equity 
instruments Capital reserves

Less: Treasury 
stock

Other 
comprehensive 

income
Special  

reserves
Surplus  
reserve

Retained  
earnings

Non-controlling 
interests

Total owners’ 
equity

I Closing balance of last year 378,000,000.00 – 118,791,715.23 77,959,708.11 – – 136,586,052.71 1,552,373,061.02 – 2,107,791,120.85
II Opening balance of current year 378,000,000.00 – 118,791,715.23 77,959,708.11 – – 136,586,052.71 1,552,373,061.02 – 2,107,791,120.85          

III Increase/decrease for current period (10,700,000.00) – (67,259,708.11) (54,087,299.90) – – – 33,472,891.19 – 9,600,482.98          

 a) Total comprehensive income – – – – – – – 51,837,891.19 – 51,837,891.19
 b) Own er’s contributions to and 

withdrawals of capital (10,700,000.00) – (67,259,708.11) (77,959,708.11) – – – – – –
  i  Co mmon stock 

contributed/paid-in 
capital by shareholders/
owners – – – – – – – – – –

  ii. Ca pital contributed by 
other equity instruments 
holders – – – – – – – – – –

  iii. Sh are-based payments to 
owners’ equity – – – – – – – – – –

  iv. Others (10,700,000.00) (67,259,708.11) (77,959,708.11)
 c) Profits distribution – – – – – – – (18,365,000.00) – (18,365,000.00)
  i. Ap propriation of surplus 

reserve – – – – – – – – – –
  ii. Distribution to owners – – – – – – – (18,365,000.00) – (18,365,000.00)
  iii. Others – – – – – – – – – –
 d) Others – – – 23,872,408.21 – – – – – (23,872,408.21)          

IV Closing balance of current period 367,300,000.00 – 51,532,007.12 23,872,408.21 – – 136,586,052.71 1,585,845,952.21 – 2,117,391,603.83
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For the six-month period ended 30 June 2020
Equity attributable to parent company

Items Share capital
Other equity 
instruments Capital reserves

Less: Treasury 
stock

Other 
comprehensive 

income
Special  

reserves
Surplus  
reserve

Retained  
earnings

Non-controlling 
interests

Total owners’ 
equity

I Closing balance of last year 358,000,000.00 – 17,291,715.23 – – 128,215,584.54 1,408,965,256.99 – 1,912,472,556.76
II Opening balance of current period 358,000,000.00 – 17,291,715.23 – – – 128,215,584.54 1,408,965,256.99 – 1,912,472,556.76          

III Increase/decrease for current period – – – – – – – 86,490,641.68 – 86,490,641.68          

 a) Total comprehensive income – – – – – – – 86,490,641.68 – 86,490,641.68
 b) Own er’s contributions to and 

withdrawals of capital – – – – – – – – – –
  i  Co mmon stock 

contributed/paid-in 
capital by shareholders/
owners – – – – – – – – – –

  ii. Ca pital contributed by 
other equity instruments 
holders – – – – – – – – – –

  iii. Sh are-based payments to 
owners’ equity – – – – – – – – – –

  iv. Others – – – – – – – –
 c) Profits distribution – – – – – – – – – –
  i. Ap propriation of surplus 

reserve – – – – – – – – – –
  ii. Distribution to owners – – – – – – – – – –
  iii. Others – – – – – – – – – –
 d) Others – – – – – – – – – –          

IV Closing balance of current period 358,000,000.00 – 17,291,715.23 – – – 128,215,584.54 1,495,455,898.67 – 1,998,963,198.44
          

(Attached notes to statements are part of the consolidated financial statements)

Legal Representative: Wang An Chief Financial Officer: Wang Yanhui
  

Chief Accountant: Li Lei
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Company Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity – unaudited
For the six-month period ended 30 June 2021
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise stated)

For the six-month period ended 30 June 2021

Items Paid-in capital
Other equity 
instruments Capital reserves

Less: Treasury 
stock

Other 
comprehensive 

income
Special  

reserves
Surplus  
reserve

Retained  
earnings

Total owners’ 
equity

I Closing balance of last year 378,000,000.00 – 145,034,413.08 77,959,708.11 – – 136,586,052.71 534,170,512.43 1,115,831,270.11
II Opening balance of current period 378,000,000.00 – 145,034,413.08 77,959,708.11 – – 136,586,052.71 534,170,512.43 1,115,831,270.11         

III Increase/decrease for current period (10,700,000.00) – (67,259,708.11) (54,087,299.90) – – – (28,682,641.70) (52,555,049.91)         

 a) Total comprehensive income – – – – – – – (10,317,641.70) (10,317,641.70)
 b) Owner’s contributions to and withdrawals of capital (10,700,000.00) – (67,259,708.11) (77,959,708.11) – – – – –
  i. Co mmon stock contributed/paid-in capital by 

shareholders/owners – – – – – – – – –
  ii. Ca pital contributed by other equity instruments 

holders – – – – – – – – –
  iii. Share-based payments to owners’ equity – – – – – – – – –
  iv. Others (10,700,000.00) – (67,259,708.11) (77,959,708.11) – – – – –
 c) Profits distribution – – – – – – – (18,365,000.00) (18,365,000.00)
  i. Appropriation of surplus reserve – – – – – – – – –
  ii. Distribution to owners – – – – – – – (18,365,000.00) (18,365,000.00)
  iii. Others – – – – – – – – –
 d) Others – – – 23,872,408.21 – – – – (23,872,408.21)         

IV Closing balance of current period 367,300,000.00 – 77,774,704.97 23,872,408.21 – – 136,586,052.71 505,487,870.73 1,063,276,220.20
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For the six-month period ended 30 June 2020

Items Paid-in capital
Other equity 
instruments Capital reserves

Less: Treasury 
stock

Other 
comprehensive 

income
Special  

reserves
Surplus  
reserve

Retained  
earnings

Total owners’ 
equity

I Closing balance of last year 358,000,000.00 – 43,534,413.08 – – – 128,215,585.00 458,836,298.93 988,586,297.01
II Opening balance of current period 358,000,000.00 – 43,534,413.08 – – – 128,215,585.00 458,836,298.93 988,586,297.01

         

III Increase/decrease for current period – – – – – – – 20,343,726.02 20,343,726.02
         

 a) Total comprehensive income – – – – – – – 20,343,726.02 20,343,726.02
 b) Owner’s contributions to and withdrawals of capital – – – – – – – – –
  i. Co mmon stock contributed/paid-in capital by 

shareholders/owners – – – – – – – – –
  ii. Ca pital contributed by other equity instruments 

holders – – – – – – – – –
  iii. Share-based payments to owners’ equity – – – – – – – – –
  iv. Others – – – – – – – – –
 c) Profits distribution – – – – – – – – –
  i. Appropriation of surplus reserve – – – – – – – – –
  ii. Distribution to owners – – – – – – – – –
  iii. Others – – – – – – – – –
 d) Others – – – – – – – – –

         

IV Closing balance of current period 358,000,000.00 – 43,534,413.08 – – – 128,215,585.00 479,180,024.95 1,008,930,023.03
         

(Attached notes to statements are part of the consolidated financial statements)

Legal Representative: Wang An Chief Financial Officer: Wang Yanhui
  

Chief Accountant: Li Lei
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Notes to the financial statements

I Company status

(I) Place of incorporation, form of organization and address of head office of the Company

Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. (the “Company”), was named Yantai North Andre Juice Company 
Limited which was established in Yantai on 30 March 1996. Headquarter of the Company is located 
in Yantai, Shandong Province.

On 14 June 2001, upon the approval of the Ministry of Commerce of the People’s Republic of China 
(formerly the Ministry of Foreign Trade and Cooperation), the original company as a whole was 
changed to a joint stock limited company, and its name was changed to Yantai North Andre Juice 
Co., Ltd. The Company was listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong in April 2003 
and transferred from the GEM to the Main Board in January 2011.

The Company’s application for initial public offering of not more than 20 million ordinary shares (A 
shares) was approved by the China Securities Regulatory Commission on 21 August 2020 in the Reply 
on the Approval of the Initial Public Offering of Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd, (Zheng Jian Xu 
Ke [2020] No.1914). The Company was listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange on 18 September  
2020 and currently holds a business license with a unified social credit code of 91370000613431903J.

After years of bonus share distribution, placing of new shares, conversion of share capital and issuance 
of new shares, as of 30 June 2021, the Company had a total share capital of 367,300,000 shares with a 
registered capital of RMB367,300,000, Its registered address is 18 Andre Avenue, Muping Economic 
Development Zone, Yantai City, Shandong Province, and the actual controllers are Wang An and 
Wang Meng (father and daughter).

(II) The nature of the Company’s business and major operating activities

The Company belongs to the fruit and vegetable juice and fruit and vegetable juice beverage 
manufacturing industry, and its main products and services are the production and sales of various 
fruit and vegetable juices, fruit pulp, essence, biological feed stuff and related products.

(III) Approval of financial statements

The financial statements were approved for presentation by the Board of Directors of the Company 
on 26 August 2021.
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II Scope of consolidated financial statements

There are 11 subsidiaries included in the scope of the consolidated financial statements in the current 
period, including:

Name of subsidiary Subsidiary type Rank
Shareholding 

(%)
Voting 

Rights (%)

Baishui Andre Juice Co., Ltd. wholly-owned 
subsidiary

1 100.00 100.00

Yantai Longkou Andre Juice Co.,  
Ltd.

wholly-owned 
subsidiary

2 100.00 100.00

Xuzhou Andre Juice Co., Ltd. wholly-owned 
subsidiary

1 100.00 100.00

Andre Juice Co., Ltd. wholly-owned 
subsidiary

1 100.00 100.00

North Andre Juice Company Limited 
(USA) Inc.

wholly-owned 
subsidiary

2 100.00 100.00

Dalian Andre Juice Co., Ltd. wholly-owned 
subsidiary

1 100.00 100.00

Yantai Andre Juice Co., Ltd. wholly-owned 
subsidiary

1 100.00 100.00

Yongji Andre Juice Co., Ltd. wholly-owned 
subsidiary

1 100.00 100.00

Anyue Andre Lemon Industry 
Technology Co., Ltd.

wholly-owned 
subsidiary

1 100.00 100.00

Liquan Yitong Juice Co., Ltd. wholly-owned 
subsidiary

2 100.00 100.00

Yantai Andre Drinking Water Co., 
Ltd.

subsidiary 1 85.00 85.00

III Basis for preparing financial statements

(I) Basis for preparing financial statements

The Company prepares the financial statements based on the actual transactions and events, and in 
accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises–Basic Standards and Specific 
Enterprise Accounting Standards, Guidelines for the Application of Accounting Standards for Business 
Enterprises, Interpretations of Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and other relevant 
provisions (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises”) 
issued by the Ministry of Finance, and on this basis, in combination with the provisions of the China 
Securities Regulatory Commission’s Regulation on the Information Disclosure of Companies Offering 
Securities to the Public No.15–General Provisions on Financial Reporting (Revised in 2014).

(II) Going concern

The Company evaluated its ability to continue as a going concern for a period of 12 months from the 
end of the reporting period and found no events or circumstances that cast significant doubt on its 
ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the financial statements have been prepared on 
the going concern assumption.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates

(I) Statement of Compliance with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises

The financial statements prepared by the Company meet the requirements of the Accounting Standards 
for Business Enterprises and give a true and complete view of the Company’s financial position, 
operating results, cash flows and other relevant information during the Reporting Period.

(II) Accounting period

The accounting period is from 1 January to 31 December.

(III) Functional currency

The Company’s functional currency is Renminbi and these financial statements are presented in 
Renminbi. Functional currency is determined by the Company and its subsidiaries on the basis of 
the currency in which major income and costs are denominated and settled. Some of the Company’s 
subsidiaries have functional currencies that are different from the Company’s functional currency. 
Their financial statements have been translated.

(IV) Accounting for business combinations under the same control and under different controls

1. When the terms, conditions and economic impact of each transaction in the process of achieving 
a business combination step by step meet one or more of the following conditions, multiple 
transactions are accounted for as a package transaction

(1) These transactions were entered into simultaneously or with mutual influence in mind;

(2) These transactions as a whole can achieve a complete commercial outcome;

(3) The occurrence of one transaction depends on the occurrence of at least one other 
transaction;

(4) A transaction is uneconomical on its own, but economic when considered in conjunction 
with other transactions.

2. Business combinations involving entities under common control

Assets and liabilities of the Company acquired in a business combination are measured at the 
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities of the acquiree (including goodwill arising on 
the acquisition of the acquiree by the ultimate controlling party) in the consolidated financial 
statements of the ultimate controlling party at the date of the combination. The difference 
between the carrying value of the net assets acquired in the merger and the carrying value of 
the consideration paid for the merger (or the aggregate nominal value of the shares issued) is 
adjusted by adjusting the share premium in the capital reserve or, if the share premium in the 
capital reserve is insufficient to offset, by adjusting the retained earnings.

If there is contingent consideration and it is necessary to recognise the expected liability or 
asset, adjust the capital reserve (capital premium or equity premium) for the difference between 
the amount of the expected liability or asset and the subsequent settlement of the contingent 
consideration, or adjust retained earnings if the capital reserve is insufficient.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(IV) Accounting for business combinations under the same control and under different controls 
(continued)

2. Business combinations involving entities under common control (continued)

In the case of a business combination that is ultimately achieved through multiple transactions 
and is a package transaction, each transaction is accounted for as a transaction that obtains 
control; If the transaction is not a blanket transaction, the capital reserve is adjusted by the 
difference between the initial investment cost of the long-term equity investment at the date of 
acquisition of control and the sum of the carrying amount of the long-term equity investment 
before the merger plus the carrying amount of the new consideration paid for the further 
acquisition of shares at the date of merger; If the capital reserve is insufficient to offset, the 
retained earnings shall be adjusted. For equity investments held before the consolidation date, 
other comprehensive income recognised by applying the equity method of accounting or financial 
instrument recognition and measurement standards is not accounted for until such time as the 
investment is disposed of on the same basis as the related assets or liabilities directly disposed 
of by the investee; Changes in owners’ equity other than net profit or loss, other comprehensive 
income and profit distribution in the net assets of the investee recognised as a result of the 
equity method of accounting are not accounted for until they are transferred to profit or loss 
in the current period when the investment is disposed of.

3. Business combinations involving entities not under common control

The purchase date is the date on which the Company actually obtains control over the acquiree, 
i.e. the date on which the net assets of the acquiree or the control over production and operation 
decisions are transferred to the Company. The Company generally considers that the transfer 
of control is achieved when the following conditions are satisfied:

(1) The business combination contract or agreement has been approved by the internal 
authority of the Company.

(2) the enterprise merger matters need to be approved by the relevant competent departments 
of the state, has been approved.

(3) has handled the necessary formalities for the transfer of property rights.

(4) The Company has paid the majority of the consolidated price and is able and planned 
to pay the remaining amount.

(5) The Company has actually controlled the financial and operating policies of the acquiree, 
and enjoys corresponding benefits and bears corresponding risks.

The Company measures assets, liabilities incurred or assumed as consideration for a business 
combination at fair value at the date of purchase, and the difference between the fair value and 
its carrying amount is included in the profit or loss of the current period.

Goodwill is recognised when the cost of the combination exceeds the fair value share of the 
identifiable net assets of the acquiree acquired in the combination; The difference between the 
cost of the combination and the fair value share of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree 
obtained in the combination is included in the profit or loss of the current period after review.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(IV) Accounting for business combinations under the same control and under different controls 
(continued)

3. Business combinations involving entities not under common control (continued)

If a business combination that is not under the same control and is achieved step by step 
through multiple exchange transactions is a blanket transaction, each transaction is accounted 
for as a transaction that obtains control; If the equity investment held before the merger date 
is accounted for using the equity method if the transaction is not a blanket transaction, the 
sum of the carrying amount of the equity investment held by the acquiree before the purchase 
date and the new investment cost at the purchase date shall be taken as the initial investment 
cost of the investment; Other comprehensive income recognised for equity investments held 
prior to the purchase date that are accounted for using the equity method is accounted for on 
the same basis as if the investee had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. If the 
equity investment held before the merger date is accounted for using the financial instrument 
recognition and measurement standard, the sum of the fair value of the equity investment at 
the merger date and the new investment cost shall be taken as the initial investment cost at the 
merger date. The difference between the fair value and carrying amount of the original equity 
held and the cumulative change in fair value originally included in other comprehensive income 
shall be transferred to the investment income of the current period at the date of consolidation.

4. Related expenses incurred for consolidation

Intermediary expenses such as audit, legal services, assessment and consultation and other 
directly related expenses incurred for business combination are included in the profit or loss 
of the current period when incurred; Transaction costs of equity securities issued for business 
combinations that are directly attributable to equity transactions are deducted from equity.

(V) Consolidated financial statements

1. Scope of consolidation

The scope of consolidation in the Company’s consolidated financial statements is determined 
on a control basis, with all subsidiaries (including separate entities controlled by the Company) 
included in the consolidated financial statements.

2. Consolidation procedure

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared on the basis of the financial 
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries and based on other relevant information. In 
preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company treats the entire enterprise group 
as one accounting entity and reflects the overall financial position, operating results and cash 
flows of the Group in accordance with the requirements for recognition, measurement and 
presentation of relevant accounting standards for enterprises and consistent accounting policies.

If the accounting policies and accounting periods adopted by all subsidiaries included in the 
scope of consolidation of the consolidated financial statements are consistent with those of the 
Company, and if the accounting policies and accounting periods adopted by the subsidiaries are 
inconsistent with those of the Company, necessary adjustments shall be made in accordance with 
the Company’s accounting policies and accounting periods when preparing the consolidated 
financial statements.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(V) Consolidated financial statements (continued)

2. Consolidation procedure (continued)

When the financial statements are consolidated, the effects of internal transactions between 
the Company and each subsidiary and each subsidiary on the consolidated balance sheet, 
consolidated income statement, consolidated cash flow statement and consolidated statement 
of changes in shareholders’ equity are eliminated. If the consolidated financial statements of 
an enterprise group differ from the recognition of the same transaction with the Company or 
a subsidiary as the accounting entity, the transaction is adjusted from the enterprise group 
perspective.

Subsidiary owners’ equity, net profit or loss for the current period and the minority shareholders’ 
share of the current consolidated income are presented separately in the consolidated balance 
sheet under owners’ equity, in the consolidated income statement under net profit and in the 
consolidated total income. The minority shareholders’ share of the current losses of the subsidiary 
exceeds the minority shareholders’ share of the initial owners’ equity of the subsidiary and the 
balance is offset against the minority shareholders’ equity.

For a subsidiary acquired through a business combination under the same control, adjustments 
are made to its financial statements based on the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities 
(including goodwill resulting from the acquisition of the subsidiary by the ultimate control 
party) in the financial statements of the ultimate control party.

For subsidiaries acquired through business combinations not under the same control, adjustments 
are made to their financial statements based on the fair value of net identifiable assets at the 
date of purchase.

(1) Add a subsidiary or business

During the reporting period, if a subsidiary or business is added as a result of a business 
combination under the same control, the opening amount of the consolidated balance 
sheet is adjusted; Include the income, expenses and profits of subsidiaries or business 
combinations from the beginning of the current period to the end of the reporting period 
in the consolidated income statement; The cash flows from the beginning of the current 
period to the end of the reporting period of a subsidiary or business combination are 
included in the consolidated cash flow statement, and the related items in the comparative 
statements are adjusted as if the consolidated reporting entity has been in existence since 
the point when the ultimate controlling party begins to control.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(V) Consolidated financial statements (continued)

2. Consolidation procedure (continued)

(1) Add a subsidiary or business (continued)

Where control can be exercised over the investee under the same control due to additional 
investment and other reasons, it shall be deemed that the parties participating in the 
merger have made adjustments in their current status when the ultimate controlling party 
begins to control. Equity investments held before control of the consolidated party are 
recognised for profit or loss, other comprehensive income and other changes in net assets 
between the later of the date on which the original equity interest is acquired and the 
date on which the combined party and the consolidated party are under the same control 
and the date of consolidation, which are offset against the opening retained earnings or 
current profit or loss, respectively, in the period of the comparative statements.

During the Reporting Period, if a subsidiary or business is added as a result of a business 
combination that is not under the same control, the opening amount of the consolidated 
balance sheet is not adjusted; Include in the consolidated income statement the income, 
expenses and profits of the subsidiary or business from the date of purchase to the end 
of the reporting period; The cash flows of the subsidiary or business from the date of 
purchase to the end of the reporting period are included in the consolidated statement 
of cash flows.

Where control can be exercised over an investee that is not under the same control due 
to additional investment or other reasons, the Company remeasures the equity interest 
of the investee held before the purchase date based on the fair value of the equity 
interest at the purchase date, and the difference between the fair value and its carrying 
amount is included in the current investment income. Where the equity interest in the 
acquiree held before the purchase date relates to other comprehensive income under the 
equity method and other changes in owner’s equity other than net profit or loss, other 
comprehensive income and profit distribution, other comprehensive income and other 
changes in owner’s equity relating thereto are transferred to investment income of the 
current period as at the purchase date, except for other comprehensive income arising 
from the remeasurement of net liabilities or changes in net assets of defined benefit 
plans by the investee.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(V) Consolidated financial statements (continued)

2. Consolidation procedure (continued)

(2) Dispose of a subsidiary or business

1) General treatment

During the Reporting Period, when the Company disposes of a subsidiary or 
business, the income, expenses and profits of that subsidiary or business from the 
beginning of the period to the date of disposal are included in the consolidated 
income statement; The cash flows from the beginning of the period to the disposal 
date of the subsidiary or operation are included in the consolidated statement 
of cash flows.

When control over the investee is lost due to the disposal of part of the equity 
investment or other reasons, the Company remeasures the remaining equity 
investment after disposal at its fair value at the date when control is lost. The 
difference between the sum of the consideration obtained on disposal of the 
equity interest and the fair value of the remaining equity interest, less the sum 
of the share of the net assets of the original subsidiary calculated based on the 
original shareholding ratio and goodwill calculated on a continuing basis from 
the date of purchase or consolidation, is included in investment income in the 
period in which control is lost. Other comprehensive income or changes in 
owner’s equity other than net profit or loss, other comprehensive income and 
profit distribution relating to the equity investment in the original subsidiary is 
converted to investment income in the current period when control is lost, except 
for other comprehensive income arising from the remeasurement by the investee 
of net defined benefit plans liabilities or changes in net assets.

2) Disposal of subsidiaries step by step

Where the equity investment in a subsidiary is disposed of step by step through 
multiple transactions until control is lost, the terms, conditions and economic 
impact of each transaction that disposes of the equity investment in a subsidiary 
meet one or more of the following conditions, which generally indicate that 
multiple transactions should be accounted for as a single transaction:

A. The transactions were entered into simultaneously or with mutual influence 
in mind;

B. The transactions as a whole are capable of achieving a complete 
commercial outcome;

C. The occurrence of one transaction depends on the occurrence of at least 
one other transaction;

D. The transaction is uneconomical by itself but economic when considered 
in conjunction with other transactions.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(V) Consolidated financial statements (continued)

2. Consolidation procedure (continued)

(2) Dispose of a subsidiary or business (continued)

2) Disposal of subsidiaries step by step (continued)

Where each transaction that disposes of an equity investment in a subsidiary 
until control is lost is a blanket transaction, the Company accounts for each 
transaction as a transaction that disposes of the subsidiary and loses control; 
However, the difference between each disposal price before the loss of control 
and the share of net assets of the subsidiary corresponding to the disposal of 
the investment is recognised as other comprehensive income in the consolidated 
financial statements and is transferred to profit or loss in the period in which 
control is lost when control is lost.

Where each transaction that disposes of an equity investment in a subsidiary 
until the loss of control is not a blanket transaction, the relevant policy for 
partial disposal of an equity investment in a subsidiary without loss of control 
is accounted for before the loss of control; When control is lost, accounting 
is performed in the same manner as would be done for a disposal subsidiary.

(3) Purchase of minority interests in subsidiaries

The difference between the Company’s newly acquired long-term equity investment 
resulting from the purchase of minority interests and the share of net assets attributable 
to the subsidiary calculated on an ongoing basis from the date of purchase (or the date 
of consolidation) based on the newly increased shareholding ratio, the equity premium 
in the capital reserve in the consolidated balance sheet is adjusted, and if the equity 
premium in the capital reserve is insufficient to offset, the retained earnings is adjusted.

(4) Partial disposal of equity investments in subsidiaries without loss of control

Adjust the equity premium in the capital reserve in the consolidated balance sheet 
for the difference between the disposal price obtained from the partial disposal of the 
long-term equity investment in the subsidiary without loss of control and the share of 
the net assets of the subsidiary that would continue to be calculated from the purchase 
date or the consolidation date corresponding to the disposal of the long-term equity 
investment, or adjust the retained earnings if the equity premium in the capital reserve 
is insufficient to offset.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(VI) Classification of joint arrangements and accounting for joint operations

1. Classification of joint arrangements

The Company classifies joint arrangements into joint operations and joint ventures based on 
factors such as the structure, legal form and terms agreed in the joint arrangements, other 
relevant facts and circumstances, etc.

Joint arrangements that are not reached through separate entities are classified as joint operations; 
Joint arrangements entered into through separate entities are generally classified as joint 
ventures; However, a joint venture arrangement that meets any of the following conditions 
and meets the requirements of relevant laws and regulations is classified as joint operation if 
there is conclusive evidence:

(1) The legal form of the joint arrangement indicates that the parties to the joint arrangement 
have rights and obligations respectively over the relevant assets and liabilities under the 
arrangement.

(2) The contractual terms of the joint arrangement stipulate that the parties to the joint 
arrangement shall have rights and obligations respectively in respect of the relevant 
assets and liabilities under the arrangement.

(3) Other relevant facts and circumstances indicate that the parties have rights and obligations 
respectively over the relevant assets and liabilities under the arrangement, such as 
the parties have substantially all the outputs related to the joint arrangement and the 
settlement of the liabilities under the arrangement continues to depend on the support 
of the parties.

2. Accounting for joint operations

The Company recognises the following items in the share of interests in joint operations that 
are relevant to the Company and are accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting 
standards for enterprises:

(1) Recognising assets held separately and jointly held assets in proportion to their share;

(2) Recognition of liabilities that are assumed individually and of liabilities that are shared 
in proportion to their share;

(3) Recognition of revenue arising from the disposal of their share of joint operating outputs;

(4) Revenue from the disposal of outputs from joint operations is recognised at its share;

(5) Recognise expenses incurred separately and recognise expenses incurred in joint 
operations in proportion to their share.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(VI) Classification of joint arrangements and accounting for joint operations (continued)

2. Accounting for joint operations (continued)

The Company invests or sells assets, etc, to a joint operation (except where the assets constitute 
a business), only the portion of the profit or loss arising from the transaction attributable to the 
other participants in the joint operation is recognised before the assets, etc, are sold from the 
joint operation to a third party. The Company recognises in full an impairment loss on an asset 
that has been placed or sold that meets the requirements of IAS 8–Impairment of Assets, etc.

The Company purchases assets, etc, from a joint operation (except where the assets constitute 
a business) and only recognises the portion of the profit or loss arising from the transaction 
attributable to the other participants in the joint operation before selling the assets, etc, to a 
third party. Where an asset acquired has an impairment loss that meets the requirements of 
Accounting Standard for Business Enterprises No.8–Impairment of Assets, etc., the Company 
recognises the loss based on the share assumed.

The Company does not have joint control over the joint operation, If the Company enjoys the 
assets related to the joint operation and bears the liabilities related to the joint operation, it shall 
still be accounted for in accordance with the above principles; otherwise, it shall be accounted 
for in accordance with the relevant accounting standards for enterprises.

(VII) Criteria for determining cash and cash equivalents

In preparing the statement of cash flows, cash on hand and deposits that are readily available for 
payment are recognised as cash. Cash equivalents are defined as investments that simultaneously meet 
the four criteria of short maturity (generally due within three months from the date of purchase), high 
liquidity, easy conversion to known amounts of cash, and low risk of changes in value.

(VIII) Foreign currency transactions and translation of foreign currency statements

1. Foreign currency transaction

Foreign currency business transactions are initially recognised using the spot rate at the date of 
the transaction as the translation rate and translated into RMB for accounting.

On the balance sheet date, foreign currency monetary items are translated at the spot exchange 
rate on the balance sheet date, and exchange differences arising therefrom are included in the 
current profit or loss, except for exchange differences arising from foreign currency specific 
borrowings relating to the acquisition and construction of assets eligible for capitalization, 
which are treated in accordance with the principle of capitalisation of borrowing costs. Non-
monetary items in foreign currencies that are measured at historical cost are still translated 
using the spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction without changing the amount in the 
functional currency.

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in foreign currencies are translated using the spot 
exchange rate at the date when the fair value is determined, The difference between the amount 
in the functional currency after translation and the amount in the original functional currency 
is treated as a change in fair value (including changes in exchange rates) and included in the 
current profit or loss or recognised as other comprehensive income.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(VIII) Foreign currency transactions and translation of foreign currency statements (continued)

2. Translation of foreign currency financial statements

Items of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet are translated using the spot exchange rates at 
the balance sheet date; Items of owner’s equity other than “undistributed profits” are translated 
using the spot exchange rate at the time of occurrence. Income and expense items in the income 
statement are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Translation 
differences in the foreign currency financial statements arising from the above translation are 
included in other comprehensive income.

When disposing of a foreign operation, the difference between the translation of the foreign 
currency financial statements relating to the foreign operation as shown in other comprehensive 
income items in the balance sheet is transferred from other comprehensive income items to 
the profit or loss of the current period of disposal; When the proportion of interests held in a 
foreign operation is reduced but the control over the foreign operation is not lost due to the 
disposal of part of equity investment or other reasons, the translation difference of the foreign 
currency statements relating to the disposal part of the foreign operation will be attributed to 
the minority shareholders’ interests and not transferred to the current profit or loss. When a 
foreign operation is disposed of as an associate or part of an equity interest in a joint venture, 
the translation difference in the foreign currency statements relating to the foreign operation 
is transferred to the profit or loss of the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of 
in proportion to the proportion of the foreign operation disposed of.

(IX) Financial instruments

A financial asset or financial liability is recognised when the Company becomes a party to a contract 
for a financial instrument.

The effective interest method is the method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or 
financial liability and of allocating interest income or interest expense over each accounting period.

The effective interest rate is the rate used to discount the estimated future cash flows of a financial 
asset or financial liability over its expected life to the carrying amount of the financial asset or the 
amortized cost of the financial liability. In determining the effective interest rate, the expected cash 
flows are estimated taking into account all contractual terms of the financial asset or financial liability 
(e.g, prepayment, extension, call option or other similar option, etc.), but without taking into account 
the expected credit losses.

The amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount initially recognised for that 
financial asset or financial liability less the principal repaid, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation 
of the difference between the amount initially recognised and the amount at maturity using the effective 
interest method, less the cumulative loss allowance (for financial assets only).
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(IX) Financial instruments (continued)

1. Classification and measurement of financial assets

Based on the business model of the financial assets under management and the contractual cash 
flow characteristics of the financial assets, the Company classifies the financial assets into the 
following three categories:

(1) Financial assets measured in amortized cost.

(2) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.

(3) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets are measured at fair value on initial recognition, but trade or bills receivables 
arising from the sale of goods or services, etc, that do not contain a significant financing 
component or do not consider a financing component for more than one year are initially 
measured at the transaction price.

For financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are charged 
directly to profit or loss, and transaction costs relating to other types of financial assets are 
charged to the amount initially recognised.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification, and all affected 
related financial assets are reclassified when and only when the Company changes its business 
model for managing financial assets.

(1) Classified as financial assets measured in amortized cost

A financial asset is classified as a financial asset measured in amortized cost if the 
contractual terms of the financial asset specify that the cash flows that arise at a particular 
date are solely payments of principal and interest based on the amount of the principal 
outstanding and the financial asset is managed in a business model that aims to collect 
the contractual cash flows. The Company’s financial assets classified as measured in 
amortized cost include monetary funds, bills and trade receivables, other receivables, 
long-term receivables, debt investments, etc.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(IX) Financial instruments (continued)

1. Classification and measurement of financial assets (continued)

(1) Classified as financial assets measured in amortized cost (continued)

Interest income is recognised by the Company using the effective interest method for 
these financial assets and subsequently measured at amortized cost, Gains or losses arising 
from impairment or derecognition or modification are included in the profit or loss of 
the current period. Interest income is determined by multiplying the carrying amount of 
a financial asset by the effective interest rate, except for the following:

1) For financial assets that have been acquired or originated for credit impairment, 
the Company calculates and determines the interest income based on the amortized 
cost and credit-adjusted effective interest rate of the financial assets from initial 
recognition.

2) For financial assets that have not been credit-impaired but become credit-impaired 
in subsequent periods, the Company calculates and determines the interest income 
based on the amortized cost and effective interest rate of the financial assets in 
subsequent periods. If the financial instrument is no longer credit-impaired due to 
an improvement in its credit risk in a subsequent period, the Company calculates 
and determines interest income by multiplying the effective interest rate by the 
carrying amount of the financial asset.

(2) Financial assets classified as at fair value through other comprehensive income

A financial asset is classified by the Company as a financial asset at fair value through 
other comprehensive income if the contractual terms of the financial asset stipulate that 
the cash flows generated at a particular date are solely payments of principal and interest 
based on the amount of the principal outstanding and the financial asset is managed 
in a business model that aims at both collecting the contractual cash flows and selling 
the financial asset.

The Company recognises interest income on these financial assets using the effective 
interest method. Changes in fair value are included in other comprehensive income, 
except for interest income, impairment losses and exchange differences, which are 
recognised in profit or loss for the period. When the financial asset is derecognised, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is 
transferred from other comprehensive income to profit or loss for the current period.

Bills and receivables at fair value through other comprehensive income are presented 
as receivables financing and other such financial assets are presented as other debt 
investments, in which: other debt investments that fall due within one year from the 
balance sheet date are presented as non-current assets that fall due within one year and 
other debt investments that have an original maturity of less than one year are presented 
as other current assets.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(IX) Financial instruments (continued)

1. Classification and measurement of financial assets (continued)

(3) Financial assets designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate an investment in a non-
trading equity instrument as a financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive 
income on a single financial asset basis.

Changes in the fair value of these financial assets are included in other comprehensive 
income and no impairment allowance is required. When the financial asset is derecognised, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is 
transferred from other comprehensive income to retained earnings. Dividend income 
is recognised and credited to profit or loss for the period in which the Company holds 
the investment in the equity instrument when the Company’s right to receive dividends 
has been established, it is probable that economic benefits associated with the dividend 
will flow to the Company and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably. 
The Company’s investment in these financial assets in other equity instruments is 
reported below.

An investment in an equity instrument is a financial asset that is measured at fair value 
through profit or loss if one of the following conditions is met: the financial asset is 
acquired primarily for immediate sale; It is part of a centrally managed portfolio of 
identifiable financial asset instruments at initial recognition and there is objective 
evidence that a short-term profit model actually exists in the near term; Are derivatives 
(other than derivatives that meet the definition of a financial guarantee contract and are 
designated as valid hedging instruments).

(4) Financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being classified as either amortized 
cost-based or fair value through other comprehensive income or designated as fair 
value through other comprehensive income are classified as financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss.

The Company applies fair value to subsequent measurement of these financial assets 
and records the gain or loss arising from the change in fair value and dividend and 
interest income related to these financial assets in the profit or loss of the current period.

The Company presents these financial assets under the items of Financial assets held 
for trading and other non-current financial assets based on their liquidity.
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(IX) Financial instruments (continued)

1. Classification and measurement of financial assets (continued)

(5) Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss

At initial recognition, in order to eliminate or significantly reduce accounting mismatches, 
the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset as a financial asset at fair value 
through profit or loss on a single financial asset basis.

Where the hybrid contract contains one or more embedded derivatives and the host 
contract does not belong to the above financial assets, the Company may designate 
the whole as a financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss. Except for the 
following:

1) Embedded derivatives do not materially change the cash flows of the hybrid 
contract.

2) When initially determining whether a similar hybrid contract needs to be split, it 
is almost clear without analysis that the embedded derivatives it contains should 
not be split. Where an embedded prepayment option for a loan allows the holder 
to prepay the loan at an amount close to amortized cost, the prepayment option 
does not need to be split.

The Company applies fair value to subsequent measurement of these financial assets 
and records the gain or loss arising from the change in fair value and dividend and 
interest income related to these financial assets in the profit or loss of the current period.

The Company presents these financial assets under the items of Financial assets held 
for trading and other non-current financial assets based on their liquidity.

2. Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Company classifies a financial instrument, or a component thereof, as a financial liability 
or an equity instrument on initial recognition based on the contractual terms of the financial 
instrument issued and the economic substance reflected therein, rather than solely in legal form, 
in combination with the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. Financial 
liabilities are classified on initial recognition as financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss, other financial liabilities, and derivatives designated as effective hedging instruments.

Financial liabilities are measured at fair value on initial recognition. For financial liabilities 
measured at fair value through profit or loss, the related transaction costs are charged directly 
to profit or loss; For other types of financial liabilities, the related transaction costs are included 
in the amount initially recognised.
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(IX) Financial instruments (continued)

2. Classification and measurement of financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification:

(1) financial liabilities measured at fair value and whose movements are included in the 
profit and loss of the current period

Such financial liabilities include transactional financial liabilities (including derivatives 
that are financial liabilities) and financial liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss on initial recognition.

A financial liability is a transaction if one of the following conditions is met: the underlying 
financial liability is assumed primarily for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the 
near term; It is part of a centrally managed portfolio of identifiable financial instruments, 
and there is objective evidence that the enterprise has recently adopted a short-term profit 
model; They are derivatives, except for those that are designated as effective hedging 
instruments and those that meet financial guarantee contracts. Transactional financial 
liabilities (including derivatives that are financial liabilities) are subsequently measured 
at fair value and all changes in fair value are included in profit or loss for the period, 
except for those relating to hedge accounting.

At initial recognition, in order to provide more relevant accounting information, the 
Company irrevocably designates a financial liability that meets one of the following 
conditions as a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss:

1) Accounting mismatches can be eliminated or significantly reduced.

2) The management and performance evaluation of a portfolio of financial liabilities 
or a portfolio of financial assets and financial liabilities on a fair value basis, in 
accordance with the corporate risk management or investment strategy as set out 
in the official written documents, and reporting to key management personnel 
within the enterprise on this basis.

The Company subsequently measures these financial liabilities at fair value, except for 
changes in fair value arising from changes in the Company’s own credit risk, which are 
included in other comprehensive income, other changes in fair value are included in the 
profit or loss of the current period. The Company accounts for all changes in fair value 
(including the amount of the effect of changes in its own credit risk) in profit or loss 
for the current period, unless such changes in fair value through other comprehensive 
income would cause or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.



33

IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(IX) Financial instruments (continued)

2. Classification and measurement of financial liabilities (continued)

(2) Other financial liabilities

The Company classifies financial liabilities as financial liabilities measured in amortized 
cost, which are subsequently measured in accordance with amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, and gains or losses arising from derecognition or amortisation 
are included in profit or loss for the period, except for the following:

1) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

2) Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of a financial asset that does not meet 
the conditions for derecognition or continues to be involved in the transferred 
financial asset.

3) Financial guarantee contracts that do not fall under the first two categories of this 
article, and loan commitments that do not fall under category 1) of this article 
for loans at below-market interest rates.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires an issuer to pay a specific 
amount to a contract holder that has suffered a loss when a particular debtor fails to 
pay its debt in accordance with the terms of the original or modified debt instrument 
when due. Financial guarantee contracts that are not financial liabilities designated at 
fair value through profit or loss are measured after initial recognition at the higher of the 
loss allowance amount and the amount initially recognised less accumulated amortisation 
over the guarantee period.

3. Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

(1) A financial asset is derecognised when one of the following conditions is met, i.e, it is 
written off from its account and balance sheet:

1) The contractual right to receive the cash flows from the financial asset is 
terminated.

2) The financial asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the requirements 
for derecognition of the financial asset.
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(IX) Financial instruments (continued)

3. Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(2) Conditions for derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability (or a portion of a financial liability) is derecognised if the current 
obligation of the financial liability (or portion of a financial liability) has been discharged.

Where an agreement is entered into between the Company and the lender to replace the 
original financial liability by assuming the new financial liability and the contractual 
terms of the new financial liability and the original financial liability are materially 
different, or the contractual terms of the original financial liability (or a portion thereof) 
are materially modified, the original financial liability is derecognised and a new financial 
liability is simultaneously recognised, and the difference between the carrying amount 
and the consideration paid (including the non-cash assets transferred out or the liabilities 
assumed) is included in the profit or loss of the current period.

Where the Company repurchases a portion of a financial liability, the carrying amount 
of the financial liability as a whole is allocated based on the fair value of the continuing 
recognition portion and the derecognition portion as a proportion of the fair value of 
the financial liability as a whole at the date of repurchase. The difference between 
the carrying amount allocated to the derecognised portion and the consideration paid, 
including the non-cash assets transferred out or liabilities assumed, is included in the 
current profit or loss.

4. The basis for recognition and measurement of financial asset transfers

When a transfer of financial assets occurs, the Company assesses the extent of the risks and 
rewards of retaining ownership of the financial assets and deals with each of the following:

(1) Where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset are 
transferred, the financial asset is derecognised and the rights and obligations arising or 
retained in the transfer are recognised separately as assets or liabilities.

(2) A financial asset is recognised if it retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership.
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(IX) Financial instruments (continued)

4. The basis for recognition and measurement of financial asset transfers (continued)

(3) Where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset have not 
been transferred or retained (i.e, other than those in (1) and (2) of this Article), they 
are dealt with in the following circumstances, depending on whether they retain control 
over the financial asset:

1) Where control over the financial asset is not retained, the financial asset is 
derecognised and the rights and obligations arising or retained in the transfer 
are recognised separately as assets or liabilities.

2) Where control over the financial asset is retained, the financial asset continues 
to be recognised to the extent that it continues to be involved in the transferred 
financial asset and the related liability is recognised accordingly. The extent to 
which the Company continues to be involved in the transferred financial asset 
is the extent to which the Company is exposed to risks or rewards from changes 
in the value of the transferred financial asset.

In determining whether the transfer of financial assets meets the above conditions for 
derecognition of financial assets, the principle of substance over form is adopted. The 
Company classifies the transfer of financial assets into overall transfer and partial 
transfer of financial assets.

(4) Where the overall transfer of a financial asset satisfies the derecognition condition, the 
difference between the following two amounts is included in the current profit or loss:

1) The carrying amount of the transferred financial asset at the date of derecognition.

2) The sum of the consideration received for the transfer of a financial asset and the 
amount of the corresponding derecognised portion of the cumulative change in 
fair value that would have been credited directly to other comprehensive income 
(the financial asset involved in the transfer is a financial asset measured at fair 
value with the change in other comprehensive income).
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(IX) Financial instruments (continued)

4. The basis for recognition and measurement of financial asset transfers (continued)

(5) Where a financial asset is partially transferred and the transferred portion as a whole 
satisfies the derecognition condition, the carrying amount of the financial asset as a whole 
before the transfer is apportioned between the derecognition portion and the continuing 
recognition portion (in which case, the retained service asset shall be regarded as a part 
of the continuing recognition of the financial asset) based on the relative fair value on 
the transfer date, and the difference between the following two amounts is included in 
the current profit or loss:

1) The carrying amount of the derecognised portion at the date of derecognition.

2) The sum of the consideration received for the derecognition component and the 
amount of the corresponding derecognition component of the cumulative change 
in fair value originally included in other comprehensive income (the financial 
asset involved in the transfer is a financial asset measured at fair value with its 
change included in other comprehensive income).

Where the transfer of a financial asset does not meet the conditions for derecognition, 
the financial asset is continued to be recognised and the consideration received is 
recognised as a financial liability.

5. Determination of fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

A financial asset or financial liability that has an active market is determined at its fair value 
based on quoted prices in the active market, unless the financial asset has a shelf life that is 
specific to the asset itself. Financial assets that are restricted for sale against the asset itself are 
determined at quoted prices in active markets, net of the amount of compensation required by 
market participants to assume the risk of not selling the financial asset in the open market for a 
specified period of time. Quoted prices in active markets include quoted prices that are readily 
and regularly available from exchanges, dealers, brokers, industry groups, pricing agencies or 
regulators, etc, and that represent actual and recurring market transactions on a fair trading basis.

Financial assets acquired or derived initially, or financial liabilities assumed, are determined 
on the basis of market transaction prices.

Financial assets or financial liabilities that do not have an active market are valued at fair value 
using valuation techniques. In making the valuation, the Company uses valuation techniques 
that are appropriate in the circumstances and supported by sufficient available data and other 
information to select inputs that are consistent with the characteristics of the asset or liability 
that market participants consider in the transaction of the underlying asset or liability, and to 
the extent possible, gives preference to the relevant observable inputs. Unobservable inputs 
are used when the relevant observable inputs are not available or are not practicable to obtain.
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(IX) Financial instruments (continued)

6. Impairment of financial instruments

The Company performs impairment accounting and recognises loss allowances on the basis of 
ECL for financial assets classified as measured in amortized cost, financial assets classified as 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial guarantee contracts.

Expected credit losses are the weighted average of the credit losses on financial instruments 
weighted by the risk of default. Credit losses represent the difference between all contractual 
cash flows receivable under the contract and all cash flows expected to be received, discounted 
at the Company’s original effective interest rate, being the present value of all cash shortfalls. 
Among them, credit-impaired financial assets purchased or originated by the Company shall 
be discounted at the credit-adjusted effective interest rate of the financial assets.

For receivables arising from transactions governed by revenue standards, the Company applies 
the simplified measurement method to measure the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECLs.

For financial assets that have been purchased or originated for credit impairment, only the 
cumulative change in expected credit losses over the lifetime after initial recognition is 
recognised as a loss allowance at the balance sheet date. At each balance sheet date, the 
amount of the change in ECL over the lifetime is credited to profit or loss as an impairment loss 
or gain. Favourable changes in ECLs are recognised as impairment gains even if the lifetime 
ECLs determined at the balance sheet date are less than the amount of ECLs reflected in the 
estimated cash flows at initial recognition.

For financial assets other than those that have undergone credit impairment using the simplified 
measurement method and purchases or origination described above, the Company assesses at 
each balance sheet date whether the credit risk of the relevant financial instrument has increased 
significantly since initial recognition and measures its loss allowance, recognises ECLs and 
changes therein separately as follows:

(1) If the credit risk of the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition and is in stage 1, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to the 
expected credit loss of the financial instrument over the next 12 months and interest 
income is calculated based on the carrying amount and the effective interest rate.

(2) If the credit risk of the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition but no credit impairment has occurred, it is in stage 2, the loss allowance 
is measured at an amount equal to the expected credit loss over the lifetime of the 
financial instrument, and interest income is calculated based on the carrying amount 
and the effective interest rate.

(3) If the financial instrument has been credit-impaired since initial recognition, it is in 
Stage 3, the Company measures its loss allowance at an amount equal to the expected 
credit losses over the lifetime of the financial instrument and calculates interest income 
at amortized cost and effective interest rates.
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(IX) Financial instruments (continued)

6. Impairment of financial instruments (continued)

The amount by which the credit loss allowance for a financial instrument is increased or 
reversed is credited to profit or loss as an impairment loss or gain. Except for financial assets 
classified as at fair value through other comprehensive income, credit loss allowance is made 
against the carrying amount of the financial asset. For financial assets classified as at fair 
value through other comprehensive income, the Company recognises its credit loss allowance 
in other comprehensive income and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset 
as shown in the balance sheet.

If the Company has measured the loss allowance at an amount equal to the expected credit losses 
over the lifetime of the financial instrument in the previous accounting period, but the financial 
instrument is no longer subject to a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition 
at the balance sheet date of the current period, the Company measures the loss allowance at an 
amount equal to the expected credit losses over the next 12 months at the balance sheet date 
of the current period, and the reversal amount of the loss allowance thus formed is included in 
the current profit or loss as an impairment gain.

(1) Significant increase in credit risk

The Company uses available reasonable and supportable forward-looking information 
to determine whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly 
since initial recognition by comparing the risk of a default occurring on the balance sheet 
date with the risk of a default occurring on the date of initial recognition. For financial 
guarantee contracts, the date on which the Company becomes a party to an irrevocable 
commitment is the date of initial recognition when the Company applies the impairment 
provision for financial instruments.

In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Company 
considers the following factors:

1) Whether there has been an actual or expected significant change in the operating 
results of the debtor;

2) Whether there has been a significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic 
or technological environment in which the debtor is located;

3) Whether there has been a significant change in the value of the collateral used as 
security for the debt or in the quality of the guarantees or credit enhancements 
provided by third parties that is expected to reduce the debtor’s economic 
incentive to pay within the contractual time limit or affect the probability of 
default;
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(IX) Financial instruments (continued)

6. Impairment of financial instruments (continued)

(1) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

4) Whether there has been a significant change in the expected performance and 
repayment behavior of the debtor;

5) Changes in the Company’s credit management methods for financial instruments, 
etc.

At the balance sheet date, the Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the Company 
determines that the financial instrument has only low credit risk. A financial instrument 
is considered to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of default, the borrower has a 
strong ability to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the short term, and even 
if there are adverse changes in the economic situation and operating environment over 
a longer period of time, it may not necessarily reduce the borrower’s ability to meet its 
contractual cash flow obligations.

(2) Financial assets with credit impairment

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental 
impact on the expected future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence 
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable information:

1) Significant financial difficulties of the issuer or the debtor;

2) Breach of contract by the debtor, such as default or overdue payment of interest 
or principal, etc.;

3) A concession given by a creditor to the debtor that the debtor would not otherwise 
make for economic or contractual reasons relating to the debtor’s financial 
difficulties;

4) The debtor is likely to go bankrupt or undergo other financial restructuring;

5) The financial difficulty of the issuer or the debtor results in the disappearance 
of an active market for the financial asset;

6) A financial asset is purchased or originated at a significant discount that reflects 
the fact that a credit loss has occurred.

Credit impairment of financial assets may be caused by the joint action of multiple 
events, and may not be caused by separately identifiable events.
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(IX) Financial instruments (continued)

6. Impairment of financial instruments (continued)

(3) Determination of ECL

The Company assesses the ECLs for financial instruments individually and in combination, 
taking into account reasonable and supportable information about past events, current 
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions in assessing the ECLs.

The Company classifies financial instruments into different combinations based on 
common credit risk characteristics. Common credit risk characteristics adopted by the 
Company include: type of financial instrument, credit risk rating, aging mix, overdue 
aging mix, contract settlement cycle, debtor’s industry, etc. See the accounting policies 
for the relevant financial instruments for the individual assessment criteria and the 
combined credit risk characteristics of the relevant financial instruments.

The Company determines the ECL for the relevant financial instruments as follows:

1) For financial assets, credit losses are the present value of the difference between 
the contractual cash flows that the Company is expected to receive and the cash 
flows that it expects to receive.

2) For financial guarantee contracts, credit losses are the present value of the 
difference between the expected payments to be made by the Company to the 
contract holder for credit losses incurred by the contract holder, less the amount 
that the Company expects to receive from the contract holder, the debtor or any 
other party.

3) For a financial asset that is credit-impaired at the balance sheet date but not 
purchased or originated from credit-impaired, credit loss is the difference between 
the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Factors reflected in the Company’s approach to ECL on quantitative finance Instruments 
include: an unbiased probability-weighted average amount determined by evaluating 
a range of possible outcomes; The time value of money; Reasonable and supportable 
information about past events, current conditions, and forecasts of future economic 
conditions that is available at the balance sheet date without undue additional cost or 
effort.

(4) Write-down of financial assets

When the Company no longer reasonably expects the contractual cash flows of a 
financial asset to be recovered in whole or in part, the carrying amount of the financial 
asset is written down directly. Such a write-down constitutes a derecognition of the 
relevant financial asset.
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(IX) Financial instruments (continued)

7. Offset of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are presented separately in the balance sheet and are 
not offset against each other. However, if the following conditions are met at the same time, 
the net amount after offsetting is shown in the balance sheet:

(1) The Company has a legal right to set off the recognised amounts and such legal right 
is currently enforceable;

(2) The Company plans to settle on a net basis, or to realise the financial asset and settle 
the financial liability simultaneously.

(X) Bills receivable

See Note IV/(IX) 6, Impairment of Financial Instruments for details of the method of determining and 
accounting for ECL on bills receivable.

When it is not possible to assess sufficient evidence of ECLs at a reasonable cost at the individual 
instrument level, the Company refers to historical credit loss experience, combines current conditions 
with its judgement of future economic conditions, and, based on credit risk characteristics, will 
Bills receivable are grouped into groups and ECLs are calculated on a group basis. The basis for 
determining the combination is as follows:

Combination 
name

The basis for determining the 
combination

Accrual method

Risk-free bank 
acceptance 
portfolio

The drawer has a high credit rating, has 
no bill default in history, has a very 
low risk of credit loss, and has a strong 
ability to fulfill its contractual cash flow 
obligations in the short term.

The loss allowance is measured 
with reference to historical 
credit loss experience, in 
combination with current 
conditions and expectations 
of future economic 
conditions.

trade acceptance The credit risk is higher than that of bank 
acceptance bills.

The loss allowance is measured 
with reference to historical 
credit loss experience, in 
combination with current 
conditions and expectations 
of future economic 
conditions.
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(XI) Account receivables

See Note IV/(IX) 6, Impairment of financial instruments for details of the Company’s method of 
determining and accounting for ECL on trade receivables.

When it is not possible to assess sufficient evidence of ECL at a reasonable cost at the level of a single 
instrument, the Company refers to historical credit loss experience, combines current conditions with 
judgement of future economic conditions, divides the accounts receivable into combinations based 
on credit risk characteristics, and calculates ECL on a combination basis. The basis for determining 
the combination is as follows:

Combination 
name

The basis for determining the 
combination

Accrual method

Portfolio 1: 
Portfolio 
of amounts 
due from 
customers

Customer credit risk characteristics Based on historical credit loss 
experience, Loss allowance 
is measured in combination 
with current conditions 
and expectations of future 
economic conditions.

(XII) Accounts receivable financing

See Note IV/(IX) 6, Impairment of financial instruments for details of the Company’s method of 
determining and accounting for ECL accounts receivable financing.
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(XIII) Other receivables

See Note IV/(IX) 6, Impairment of financial instruments for details of the Company’s method of 
determining and accounting for ECL on other receivables.

When it is not possible to assess sufficient evidence of ECL at a reasonable cost at the level of a 
single instrument, the Company calculates ECL on a portfolio basis by dividing other receivables 
into portfolios based on credit risk characteristics, with reference to historical credit loss experience, 
combining current conditions with judgement of future economic conditions. The basis for determining 
the combination is as follows:

Combination 
name

The basis for determining the 
combination

Accrual method

Portfolio 1: 
Consolidated 
Related Parties

Related parties within the range of 
receivables consolidation

The provision for bad debts is 
measured with reference to 
historical credit loss experience, in 
combination with current conditions 
and expectations of future economic 
conditions.

Portfolio 2: 
Export 
tax rebate 
portfolio

Export tax rebates receivable The provision for bad debts is 
measured with reference to 
historical credit loss experience, in 
combination with current conditions 
and expected future economic 
conditions.

Portfolio 3: 
Portfolios with 
low credit risk 
such as margin 
and reserve 
fund portfolios

Portfolios with low credit risk such 
as margin and reserve fund portfolios

The provision for bad debts is 
measured with reference to 
historical credit loss experience, in 
combination with current conditions 
and expected future economic 
conditions.

Portfolio 4: 
Others

Receivables other than the above The provision for bad debts is 
measured with reference to 
historical credit loss experience, in 
combination with current conditions 
and expected future economic 
conditions..
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(XIV) Inventory

1. Classification of inventories

Inventories refer to finished goods or commodities held by the Company for sale in the ordinary 
course of activities, products in progress in the production process, materials and materials 
consumed in the production process or the provision of labor services, etc. Mainly including raw 
materials, work in progress, semi-finished products and finished products (inventory goods), etc.

2. Valuation method of inventories

Inventories are initially measured at cost when acquired, including purchase costs, processing 
costs and other costs. Inventories are issued using the moving weighted average method.

3. The basis for determining the net realisable value of inventories and the method for drawing 
down the provision for falling prices of inventories

After a comprehensive inventory of inventories is conducted at the end of the period, the 
provision for depreciation of inventories is drawn down or adjusted based on the lower of 
the cost of inventories and net realisable value. Inventories of goods directly for sale, such as 
finished goods, goods in stock and materials for sale, are determined as net realisable value in the 
normal course of production and operation at the estimated selling price of the inventories less 
estimated selling expenses and related taxes; Inventories of materials that need to be processed 
are determined as net realisable value in the normal course of production and operation at the 
estimated selling price of the finished goods produced less the estimated costs to be incurred, 
the estimated selling expenses and related taxes and fees to completion; The net realisable 
value of inventories held in execution of a sales contract or a labour contract is calculated on 
the basis of the contract price, if the quantity of inventories held exceeds the quantity ordered 
in the sales contract, the net realisable value of the excess inventories is calculated on the basis 
of the general selling price.

At the end of the period, provision for inventory depreciation is made based on individual 
inventory items; However, for inventories with large quantity and low unit price, provision 
for inventory depreciation shall be made according to the inventory category; Inventories that 
are related to product lines produced and sold in the same region, have the same or similar 
end use or purpose and are difficult to measure separately from other items are provided for 
in a consolidated manner.

If the factors affecting the previous write-down of the inventory value have disappeared, the 
amount of the write-down shall be restored and reversed within the amount of the original 
provision for inventory depreciation, and the reversed amount shall be included in the current 
profit or loss.
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(XIV) Inventory (continued)

4. Inventory count system

The Group maintains a perpetual inventory system.

5. Amortisation method for low-value consumables and packaging materials

(1) Low-value consumables are written off once.

(2) The packaging materials are sold by one-off rotation method.

(3) Other revolving materials are amortised using the one-off write-off method.

(XV) Long – term equity investment

1. Determination of initial investment cost

(1) For the long-term equity investment formed by a business combination, see Note IV/
(IV) Accounting Methods for Business Combinations under Same Control and under 
Non-same Control for specific accounting policies.

(2) Long-term equity investments acquired by other means

Long-term equity investments acquired by cash payments are initially invested at the purchase 
price actually paid. Initial investment costs include expenses, taxes and other necessary expenses 
that are directly related to obtaining a long-term equity investment.

Long-term equity investments made by issuing equity securities, with the fair value of the 
issued equity securities as the initial investment cost; Transaction costs incurred in issuing or 
obtaining their own equity instruments are deducted from equity if they are directly attributable 
to equity transactions.

The initial investment cost of a long-term equity investment in a non-monetary asset exchange 
is determined on the basis of the fair value of the asset transferred, unless there is conclusive 
evidence that the fair value of the asset transferred is more reliable, to the extent that the non-
monetary asset exchange has commercial substance and the fair value of the asset transferred 
or the asset transferred can be measured reliably; For the exchange of non-monetary assets that 
do not meet the above premise, the carrying amount of the assets exchanged and the relevant 
taxes payable are taken as the initial investment cost of the long-term equity investment.

Initial investment costs for long-term equity investments acquired through debt restructuring 
are determined on a fair value basis.
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(XV) Long – term equity investment (continued)

2. Subsequent measurement and profit or loss recognition

(1) Cost method

Long-term equity investments in which the Company is able to exercise control over the 
investee are accounted for using the cost method and are valued at the initial investment 
cost, with additional or recovered investments to adjust the cost of the long-term equity 
investment.

Except for the declared but undistributed cash dividends or profits included in the price or 
consideration actually paid when the investment is obtained, the Company is recognised 
as current investment income in accordance with the cash dividends or profits declared 
and distributed by the investee.

(2) Equity method

The Company’s long-term equity investments in associates and joint ventures are 
accounted for using the equity method; Some of the equity investments in associates that 
are indirectly held through venture capital institutions, mutual funds, trust companies 
or similar entities, including investment linked insurance funds, are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss.

The difference between the initial investment cost of the long-term equity investment 
and the fair value share of the identifiable net assets of the investee at the time of 
investment, and the initial investment cost of the long-term equity investment is not 
adjusted; The difference between the initial investment cost and the fair value share of 
the identifiable net assets of the investee at the time of investment is included in the 
profit or loss of the current period.

After the Company obtains the long-term equity investment, it shall recognize the 
investment income and other comprehensive income respectively according to the 
share of net profit or loss and other comprehensive income realized by the investee 
that shall be enjoyed or shared, and adjust the book value of the long-term equity 
investment; The carrying amount of the long-term equity investment shall be reduced 
accordingly by calculating the share according to the profit or cash dividend declared 
to be distributed by the investee; For changes in owner’s equity other than net profit or 
loss, other comprehensive income and profit distribution of the investee, the carrying 
amount of the long-term equity investment is adjusted and included in owner’s equity.

The Company recognises its share of the net profit or loss of the investee by adjusting 
the net profit of the investee based on the fair value of each identifiable asset of the 
investee at the time of investment. Profit or loss on unrealised internal transactions 
between the Company and associates, joint ventures are offset by the share attributable to 
the Company on a pro rata basis, on which basis investment profit or loss is recognised.
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(XV) Long – term equity investment (continued)

2. Subsequent measurement and profit or loss recognition (continued)

(2) Equity method (continued)

When the Company recognises the share of losses incurred by the investee, it is dealt 
with in the following order: First, the carrying amount of the long-term equity investment 
is written down. Secondly, if the book value of the long-term equity investment is 
insufficient to offset, the investment loss shall be continuously recognised to the extent of 
the book value of other long-term equity which in substance constitutes a net investment 
in the investee, and the book value of long-term receivable items shall be offset. Finally, 
after the above treatment, if the enterprise still assumes additional obligations according 
to the investment contract or agreement, the expected liabilities shall be recognized 
according to the expected obligations and included in the current investment loss.

Where the investee achieves profit in a subsequent period, the Company shall, after 
deducting the unrecognised loss contribution, proceed in the reverse order as described 
above, and after deducting the book balance of the recognised expected liabilities and 
restoring the book value of other long-term interests and long-term equity investments 
which in substance constitute a net investment in the investee, the Company shall resume 
the recognition of investment income.

3. Conversion of accounting method for long-term equity investment

(1) Fair value measurement transferred to equity method

For equity investments that were previously held by the Company and are not subject 
to control, joint control or significant influence over the investee and are subject to 
accounting under the Financial Instrument Recognition and Measurement Standards, 
but are capable of exerting significant influence over the investee or exercising joint 
control over the investee but do not constitute control due to reasons such as additional 
investment, the sum of the fair value of the equity investment originally held and the 
cost of the additional investment determined in accordance with IAS 22–Recognition and 
Measurement of Financial Instruments shall be regarded as the initial cost of investment 
accounted for under the equity method instead.

The initial investment cost calculated under the equity method is less than the difference 
between the fair value shares of the identifiable net assets of the investee at the date of 
the additional investment calculated and determined based on the brand-new shareholding 
ratio after the additional investment, and the book value of the long-term equity 
investment is adjusted and included in the current non-operating income.
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(XV) Long – term equity investment (continued)

3. Conversion of accounting method for long-term equity investment (continued)

(2) Fair value measurement or transfer of equity method to cost method

When preparing individual financial statements, the Company’s original equity investment 
that does not have control, joint control or significant impact on the investee and is 
accounted for in accordance with the Financial Instrument Recognition and Measurement 
Standards, or its original long-term equity investment in an associate or joint venture 
that is able to control the investee that is not under the same control due to additional 
investment and other reasons, shall be calculated as the initial cost of investment by 
adding the carrying amount of the equity investment that was originally held to the 
cost of the additional investment in the preparation of individual financial statements.

Other comprehensive income recognised for equity investments held prior to the purchase 
date that are accounted for using the equity method is accounted for on the same basis 
as if the investee had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

If the equity investment held before the purchase date is accounted for in accordance 
with the relevant provisions of Accounting Standard for Enterprises No.22–Recognition 
and Measurement of Financial Instruments, the change in the accumulated fair value 
originally included in other comprehensive income is transferred to the current profit 
or loss when it is accounted for by the cost method instead.

(3) From equity method to fair value measurement

Where the Company loses joint control or significant influence over the investee due 
to the disposal of part of the equity investment, the remaining equity after disposal 
shall be accounted for in accordance with Accounting Standard for Enterprises No.22–
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Instruments, and the difference between 
the fair value and the carrying value on the date when the joint control or significant 
influence is lost shall be included in the current profit or loss.

Other comprehensive income recognised from an original equity investment that is 
accounted for using the equity method is accounted for on the same basis as the related 
assets or liabilities directly disposed of by the investee when the equity method is 
discontinued.

(4) Transfer of cost method to equity method

Where the Company has lost control over the investee due to the disposal of part of the 
equity investment or other reasons, in the preparation of individual financial statements, 
if the remaining equity after disposal can exercise joint control or exert significant 
influence on the investee, the accounting shall be changed to the equity method, and 
the accounting shall be adjusted by the equity method as soon as the remaining equity 
is deemed to have been acquired.
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(XV) Long – term equity investment (continued)

3. Conversion of accounting method for long-term equity investment (continued)

(5) Transfer of cost method to fair value measurement

Where the Company has lost control over the investee due to the disposal of part of 
the equity investment or other reasons, and the remaining equity after disposal cannot 
exercise joint control or exert significant influence on the investee in the preparation 
of individual financial statements, the accounting treatment shall be carried out in 
accordance with the relevant provisions of Accounting Standards for Enterprises No.22–
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Instruments, and the difference between fair 
value and carrying value on the date of loss of control shall be included in the current 
profit or loss.

4. Disposal of long-term equity investments

For the disposal of long-term equity investment, the difference between the book value and 
the actual purchase price shall be included in the current profit or loss. Long-term equity 
investments that are accounted for using the equity method are disposed of on the same basis 
as the investee’s direct disposal of the related assets or liabilities, accounting for the portion 
originally included in other comprehensive income in a corresponding proportion.

The terms, conditions and economic impact of each transaction that disposes of an equity 
investment in a subsidiary meet one or more of the following conditions, and multiple 
transactions are accounted for as a single transaction:

(1) These transactions were entered into simultaneously or with mutual influence in mind;

(2) These transactions as a whole can achieve a complete commercial outcome;

(3) The occurrence of one transaction depends on the occurrence of at least one other 
transaction;

(4) A transaction is uneconomical on its own, but economic when considered in conjunction 
with other transactions.
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(XV) Long – term equity investment (continued)

4. Disposal of long-term equity investments (continued)

If the Company loses control of the original subsidiary due to the disposal of part of the equity 
investment or other reasons, which is not a blanket transaction, the relevant accounting treatment 
shall be conducted separately from the individual financial statements and the consolidated 
financial statements:

(1) In the individual financial statements, the difference between the carrying amount of 
the equity disposed of and the actual purchase price is included in the current profit or 
loss. If the remaining equity after disposal can exercise joint control or exert significant 
influence on the investee, it shall be accounted for using the equity method instead, 
and the remaining equity shall be deemed to have been acquired and adjusted using the 
equity method; Where the remaining equity after disposal cannot exercise joint control 
or exert significant influence on the investee, it shall be accounted for in accordance 
with the relevant provisions of Accounting Standard for Enterprises No.22–Recognition 
and Measurement of Financial Instruments, and the difference between its fair value 
and carrying value on the date of loss of control shall be included in the profit or loss 
of the current period.

(2) In the consolidated financial statements, for each transaction before the loss of control 
over the subsidiary, the capital reserve (equity premium) is adjusted for the difference 
between the disposal price and the corresponding share of the net assets of the entitled 
subsidiary calculated continuously from the date of purchase or the date of consolidation 
for the disposal of the long-term equity investment, or the retained earnings if the capital 
reserve is insufficient to offset; When control of a subsidiary is lost, the remaining equity 
is remeasured to its fair value at the date of loss of control. The difference between 
the sum of the consideration obtained on disposal of the equity interest and the fair 
value of the remaining equity interest, less the share of the net assets of the original 
subsidiary calculated on a pro rata basis from the date of purchase, is included in the 
investment income in the period in which control is lost and goodwill is written off. 
Other comprehensive income relating to the equity investment of the original subsidiary 
is converted into current investment income when control is lost.
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(XV) Long – term equity investment (continued)

4. Disposal of long-term equity investments (continued)

Where each transaction involving the disposal of an equity investment in a subsidiary until 
the loss of control is a blanket transaction, each transaction is accounted for as a transaction 
involving the disposal of an equity investment in a subsidiary and the loss of control, and the 
related accounting is performed separately from the individual financial statements and the 
consolidated financial statements:

(1) In individual financial statements, the difference between the price of each disposal 
before the loss of control and the carrying amount of the long-term equity investment 
corresponding to the equity disposed of is recognised as other comprehensive income 
and is transferred to profit or loss in the period in which control is lost when control is 
lost.

(2) In the consolidated financial statements, the difference between the price of each disposal 
before the loss of control and the share of the net assets of the subsidiary that corresponds 
to the disposal of the investment is recognised as other comprehensive income and is 
transferred to profit or loss in the period in which control is lost when control is lost.

5. Criteria for common control and significant impact

An arrangement is considered to be jointly controlled by the Company and the other participants 
if the Company controls the arrangement collectively in accordance with the relevant agreement 
and the decision on activities that have a significant impact on the return on the arrangement 
exists only with the unanimous consent of the participants sharing control.

Where a joint arrangement is made through a separate entity, and it is judged according to the 
relevant agreement that the Company has rights to the net assets of that separate entity, the 
separate entity is accounted for as a joint venture using the equity method. When it is determined 
in accordance with the relevant agreements that the Company does not have a right to the net 
assets of the separate entity, the separate entity operates as a joint operation, the Company 
recognises items relating to the share of common operating benefits and performs accounting 
in accordance with the relevant accounting standards for enterprises.

Significant impact refers to the investor’s power to participate in the decision-making of the 
financial and operating policies of the investee, but is unable to control or jointly control the 
formulation of these policies with other parties. The Company determines that it has significant 
influence on the investee by considering all facts and circumstances under one or more of the 
following circumstances: (1) it is represented on the board of directors or a similar authority 
of the investee; (2) to participate in the financial and operating policy formulation process of 
the investee; (3) significant transactions with the investee; (4) sending management personnel 
to the investee; (5) providing key technical information to the investee.
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(XVI) Fixed assets

1. Recognition of fixed assets

Fixed assets are tangible assets that are held for the purpose of producing goods, providing 
services, leasing or operating management and have a useful life of more than one accounting 
year. Fixed assets are recognised when both of the following conditions are met:

(1) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the fixed asset will flow to the 
enterprise;

(2) The cost of the fixed asset can be measured reliably.

2. Initial measurement of fixed assets

The Company’s fixed assets are initially measured at cost.

(1) The cost of externally purchased fixed assets includes purchase price, import duties and 
other related taxes and fees, as well as other expenses incurred to bring the fixed assets 
into their intended use that can be directly attributed to the assets.

(2) The cost of self-constructed fixed assets consists of the expenditure necessary to construct 
the asset before it is ready for use.

(3) Fixed assets invested by investors are accounted for at the value agreed in the investment 
contract or agreement, but those with unfair value agreed in the contract or agreement 
are accounted for at fair value.

(4) Where the purchase price of a fixed asset is deferred beyond normal credit conditions 
and is of a financing nature in substance, the cost of the fixed asset is determined based 
on the present value of the purchase price. The difference between the actual price paid 
and the present value of the purchase price, unless capitalised, is credited to profit or 
loss in the credit period.



53

IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(XVI) Fixed assets (continued)

3. Subsequent measurement and disposal of fixed assets

(1) Depreciation of fixed assets

Depreciation of fixed assets is provided over their expected useful lives based on their 
recorded value less expected net residual value. For fixed assets for which an impairment 
allowance has been made, the amount of depreciation is determined in future periods 
based on the carrying amount net of the impairment allowance and based on the useful 
life; Fixed assets that are fully depreciated and continue to be used are not depreciated.

Fixed assets that are expensed from the special reserve are written off against the 
special reserve at the cost of forming the fixed assets and accumulated depreciation of 
the same amount is recognised, and no depreciation is provided for the fixed assets in 
future periods.

The Company determines the useful life and expected net residual value of fixed assets 
based on their nature and usage. At the end of the year, the useful life, expected net 
residual value and depreciation method of the fixed assets are reviewed and adjusted 
accordingly if there are differences from the original estimates.

The depreciation method, depreciation life and annual depreciation rate of each class 
of fixed assets are as follows:

Category Depreciation method
Depreciation 

life (years)

Residual 
value rate 

(%)

Annual 
depreciation 

rate (%)

Plant and buildings Average age method 35-40 10.00 2.57-2.25

Machinery and equipment Average age method 20 10.00 4.50

Office and other equipment Average age method 5 10.00 18.00

Motor vehicles Average age method 5 10.00 18.00

Plant and buildings leased out 
under operating leases

Average age method 40 10.00 2.25
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(XVI) Fixed assets (continued)

3. Subsequent measurement and disposal of fixed assets (continued)

(2) Subsequent expenditure on fixed assets

Subsequent expenditures relating to fixed assets that meet the conditions for recognition 
of fixed assets are included in the cost of fixed assets; Those that do not meet the 
conditions for recognition of fixed assets are included in the current profit or loss 
when incurred.

(3) Disposal of fixed assets

A fixed asset is derecognised when it is disposed of, or no economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. Disposal income from the sale, transfer, retirement or damage 
of fixed assets is included in the profit or loss of the current period after deducting its 
carrying amount and relevant taxes and fees.

(XVII) Construction in progress

1. Initial measurement of construction in progress

The Company’s own construction in progress is valued at the actual cost, which comprises the 
necessary expenses incurred before the asset is constructed to its intended serviceable condition, 
including the cost of materials used for the project, labour costs, related taxes and fees paid, 
borrowing costs to be capitalised (see Notes IV, XVIII) and indirect costs to be apportioned.

2. The standard and time point at which construction in progress is carried forward as fixed assets

Construction-in-progress projects are accounted for as the value of fixed assets on the basis 
of all expenditures incurred before the asset is ready for use. If the construction-in-progress 
project has reached its scheduled serviceable condition but has not yet completed the final 
accounts, from the date when it reaches its scheduled serviceable condition, it is transferred to 
the fixed assets based on the estimated value according to the project budget, cost or actual cost 
of the project, etc., and the depreciation of the fixed assets is accrued in accordance with the 
Company’s fixed assets depreciation policy,After the final accounts are completed, the original 
provisional value is adjusted based on the actual cost, but the original accrued depreciation 
amount is not adjusted.
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(XVIII) Borrowing costs

1. Principles for recognition of capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred by the Company that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of assets that meet the conditions for capitalization are capitalised and 
included in the cost of the related assets; Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense 
when incurred based on the amount incurred and credited to profit or loss in the current period.

Assets eligible for capitalization are assets such as fixed assets, investment real estate and 
inventories that require a significant period of time to acquire, build or produce before they 
are ready for use or sale.

Borrowing costs are capitalised when both of the following conditions are met:

(1) Expenditure on assets has been incurred,Expenditure on assets includes expenditure 
incurred in the form of payment of cash, transfer of non-cash assets or assumption of 
interest-bearing liabilities for the purchase, construction or production of assets that 
meet the conditions for capitalization;

(2) borrowing costs have been incurred;

(3) the purchase, construction or production activities necessary to bring the asset to its 
intended use or sale have commenced.

2. Period in which borrowing costs are capitalised

The period of capitalisation refers to the period from the point when the capitalisation of 
borrowing costs begins to the point when the capitalisation ceases, excluding the period when 
the capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended.

Capitalization of borrowing costs ceases when the acquisition, construction or production of an 
asset that meets the conditions for capitalization reaches its intended use or sale.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs for assets that qualify for capitalisation ceases when some 
of the items in the asset that qualify for capitalisation are completed separately and can be 
used separately.

Where each part of an asset that is purchased, constructed or produced is completed separately, 
but cannot be used or sold to the outside world until it is completed in its entirety, the 
capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when the asset is completed in its entirety.
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(XVIII) Borrowing costs (continued)

3. Suspension period

If the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that meets the conditions for capitalization 
is interrupted abnormally for more than 3 consecutive months, the capitalization of borrowing 
costs is suspended; Borrowing costs continue to be capitalised if the interruption is a process 
necessary to bring the qualifying assets acquired, constructed or produced to their intended use 
or sale. Borrowing costs incurred in the period of interruption are recognised in profit or loss 
until the acquisition, construction or resumption of production activities of the asset.

4. The method of calculating the capitalised amount of borrowing costs

Interest expense on special borrowings (net of interest income earned on deposits of unused 
borrowing funds with banks or investment income from temporary investments) and ancillary 
expenses are capitalised before the qualifying assets acquired, constructed or produced are 
ready for use or sale.

The amount of interest to be capitalised on general borrowings is determined by multiplying the 
weighted average of the asset expenditures for the portion of the accumulated asset expenditures 
that exceeds the specific borrowings by the capitalisation rate of the general borrowings 
occupied. The capitalisation rate is calculated based on the weighted average interest rate on 
general borrowings.

Where there is a discount or premium on the borrowing, the amount of discount or premium 
to be amortised in each accounting period shall be determined in accordance with the effective 
interest method, and the amount of interest per period shall be adjusted.
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(XIX) Intangible assets and development expenditures

Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets with no physical form owned or controlled by 
the Company, including land use rights, etc.

1. Initial measurement of intangible assets

The cost of outsourcing an intangible asset includes the purchase price, related taxes and other 
expenses that are directly attributable to the intended use of the asset. Where the purchase 
price of an intangible asset is deferred beyond normal credit conditions and is essentially of 
a financing nature, the cost of the intangible asset is determined based on the present value 
of the purchase price.

Debt restructuring obtains intangible assets used by the debtor to settle debts, determines their 
entry value based on the fair value of the intangible assets, and records the difference between 
the book value of the restructured debt and the fair value of the intangible assets used to settle 
debts in the current profit or loss.

Intangible assets exchanged for non-monetary assets are accounted for on the basis of the 
fair value of the exchanged assets, provided that the exchange of non-monetary assets is of 
commercial substance and the fair value of the exchanged assets can be measured reliably, unless 
there is conclusive evidence that the fair value of the exchanged assets is more reliable; For the 
exchange of non-monetary assets that do not meet the above prerequisites, the carrying amount 
of the assets exchanged and the related taxes payable are used as the cost of the intangible 
assets, and no profit or loss is recognised.

Intangible assets acquired by means of absorption and combination of enterprises under the 
same control are accounted for at the carrying value of the combined parties; Intangible assets 
acquired through mergers and acquisitions of enterprises not under the same control are valued 
at fair value.

The cost of an internally self-developed intangible asset includes: materials used in the 
development of the intangible asset, labour costs, registration fees, amortisation of other 
patents and concessions used in the development process and interest charges that meet the 
conditions for capitalisation, as well as other direct costs incurred before the intangible asset 
is ready for its intended use.
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(XIX) Intangible assets and development expenditures (continued)

2. Subsequent measurement of intangible assets

When the Company obtains intangible assets, it analyzes and judges their useful lives and 
classifies them into intangible assets with finite useful lives and indefinite useful lives.

(1) Intangible assets with finite useful lives

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
period that brings economic benefits to the enterprise. The expected life of intangible 
assets with finite useful lives and the basis are as follows:

project Estimated useful life basis

land use right 35-50 years Duration of benefit

At the end of each period, the useful life and amortisation method of intangible assets 
with finite useful lives are reviewed and adjusted accordingly if there are differences 
from the original estimates.

Upon review, the useful lives and amortisation method of intangible assets at the end 
of the current period are not different from previous estimates.

(2) Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

Intangible assets that cannot be expected to bring economic benefits to the enterprise 
for a period of time are regarded as intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. Such 
intangible assets are not amortised. As at the balance sheet date, the Company does not 
have intangible assets with indefinite useful lives.

3. Specific criteria for dividing the research phase and development phase of research and 
development projects within the Company

Research stage: The stage of original and planned investigation and research activities to acquire 
and understand new scientific or technological knowledge.

Development phase: the phase in which research results or other knowledge are applied to 
a plan or design to produce new or substantially improved materials, devices, products, etc, 
before commercial production or use.

Expenditures incurred in the research phase of internal research and development projects are 
included in profit or loss as incurred.
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(XIX) Intangible assets and development expenditures (continued)

4. Specific criteria for capitalising development phase expenditures

Expenditures incurred during the development phase of internal research and development 
projects are recognised as intangible assets when the following conditions are met:

(1) It is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset so that it can be used or sold;

(2) Has the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

(3) The way in which the intangible asset generates economic benefits, including the ability 
to prove the existence of a market for the products produced using the intangible asset 
or the existence of a market for the intangible asset itself, and the usefulness of the 
intangible asset if it is to be used internally;

(4) Having sufficient technical, financial and other resources to support the development 
of the intangible asset and the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

(5) Expenditure attributable to the development phase of the intangible asset can be measured 
reliably.

The point in time when internal research and development expenditures are capitalised: a product 
or process, etc, formed from development is technically and commercially feasible, the Company 
has sufficient resources and intention to complete the development, and the expenditures at the 
development stage can be reliably measured.

Expenditures for the development phase that do not meet the above conditions are included in 
profit or loss as incurred. Development expenditures charged to profit or loss in prior periods 
are not recognised as assets in subsequent periods. Expenditures for the development phase 
that have been capitalised are shown as development expenditures on the balance sheet and are 
transferred to intangible assets from the date the item reaches its intended use.
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(XX) Impairment of long-term assets

At the balance sheet date, the Company determines whether there is any indication that a long-term 
asset may be impaired. If there is an indication of impairment of a long-term asset, the recoverable 
amount is estimated on a single asset basis; Where it is difficult to estimate the recoverable amount 
of a single asset, the recoverable amount of the asset group is determined based on the asset group 
to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount of an asset is estimated based on the higher of its fair value less disposal 
costs and the present value of the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

If the measurement result of recoverable amount indicates that the recoverable amount of the long-term 
asset is lower than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the long-term asset is written down to 
the recoverable amount, and the written down amount is recognized as an asset impairment loss and 
included in the current profit or loss, and the corresponding asset impairment reserve is withdrawn. 
Once an impairment loss on an asset is recognised, it is not reversed in subsequent accounting periods.

Subsequent to the recognition of an impairment loss on an asset, the depreciation or amortisation 
expense of the impaired asset is adjusted in future periods so that the adjusted carrying amount of 
the asset (net of expected net residual value) is allocated on a systematic basis over the remaining 
useful life of the asset.

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives arising from business combinations are tested 
for impairment annually, regardless of whether there is any indication of impairment.

In the impairment test of goodwill, the carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the asset group 
or group of assets that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. When 
performing impairment test on the relevant asset group or combination of asset groups containing 
goodwill, if there is any indication of impairment on the asset group or combination of asset groups 
related to goodwill, the impairment test shall be performed on the asset group or combination of 
asset groups not containing goodwill, the recoverable amount shall be calculated and compared with 
the relevant book value to confirm the corresponding impairment loss. An impairment test is then 
performed on the asset group or combination of asset groups containing goodwill,The carrying value 
of these related asset groups or combination of asset groups (including the carrying value portion of 
goodwill allocated) is compared with its recoverable amount, If the recoverable amount of the related 
asset group or combination of asset groups is lower than its carrying value, an impairment loss of 
goodwill is recognised.
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(XXI) Contract liabilities

The Company recognises the portion of the obligation to transfer goods to customers for consideration 
received or receivable from customers as a contract liability.

(XXII) Employee benefits

Employee remuneration refers to various forms of remuneration or compensation given by the Company 
to obtain services provided by employees or to dissolve labor relations. Staff remuneration includes 
Short-term employee benefits, post-employment benefits, termination benefits and other long-term 
staff benefits.

1. Short-term employee benefits

Short-term emoluments represent the emoluments of employees, other than post-employment 
benefits and termination benefits, that the Company is required to pay in full within twelve 
months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related 
services. The Company recognises short-term emoluments payable as a liability in the accounting 
period in which the employees render the services and includes them in the cost and expense 
of the related assets based on the beneficiaries of the services rendered by the employees.

2. Post-employment benefits

Post-employment benefits refer to various forms of remuneration and benefits provided by 
the Company after the employees retire or terminate the labor relationship with the enterprise 
in order to obtain the services provided by the employees, except for Short-term employee 
benefits and dismissal benefits.

The Company’s post-employment benefit plans are all defined contribution plans.

The defined contribution plan for after-service benefits is mainly to participate in social basic 
old-age insurance and unemployment insurance organized and implemented by local labor 
and social security institutions. During the accounting period in which the employees render 
services to the Company, the amount payable in accordance with the defined contribution plan 
is recognised as a liability and included in the current profit or loss or the related cost of assets.

The Company has no further payment obligations after making the above payments regularly 
in accordance with the standards stipulated by the state.
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(XXII) Employee benefits (continued)

3. Termination benefits

Termination benefits refer to the Company’s termination of labor relations with employees 
before their labor contracts expire, or compensation given to employees in order to encourage 
employees to voluntarily accept the layoff, When the Company cannot unilaterally withdraw the 
plan for termination of labor relations or the layoff proposal, or when the Company recognizes 
the earlier of the two, the liability arising from compensation given for termination of labor 
relations with employees is recognized and included in the current profit or loss.

The Company provides retirement benefits to employees who accept internal retirement 
arrangements. Internal retirement benefits refer to the salaries paid to employees who have 
not reached the retirement age stipulated by the state and have voluntarily retired from their 
jobs with the approval of the Company’s management, and social insurance premiums paid 
for them. The Company pays internal retirement benefits to retired employees from the date of 
commencement of internal retirement arrangements until the employees reach normal retirement 
age. For the retirement benefits, the Company performs accounting treatment by referring to 
the dismissal benefits, when the relevant recognition conditions for the dismissal benefits are 
met, the salaries and social insurance premiums of the retired employees to be paid during the 
period from the date when the employees stop providing services to the normal retirement date 
are recognized as liabilities and included in the current profit or loss in a lump sum. Differences 
arising from changes in actuarial assumptions and adjustments to benefit standards for retirement 
benefits are included in profit or loss as they arise.

4. Other long-term employee benefits

Other long-term employee benefits are all employee benefits other than short-term salary, 
post-employment benefits and termination benefits.

For other long-term employee benefits that meet the conditions of the defined contribution 
plan, the amount due for contribution is recognised as a liability in the accounting period in 
which the employee provides service to the Company and included in the current profit or loss 
or the related cost of assets.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(XXIII) Provisions

1. Criteria for recognition of provisions

The Company recognises an expected liability when the obligations associated with the 
contingency simultaneously meet the following conditions:

The obligation is a present obligation of the Company;

Fulfilment of this obligation is likely to result in outflow of economic benefits from the Company;
The amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

2. Measurement of provisions

The Company’s projected liabilities are initially measured using the best estimate of the 
expenditure necessary to meet the relevant present obligations.

In determining the best estimate, the Company considers factors such as risks, uncertainties and 
time value of money relating to contingencies. Where the effect on the time value of money 
is material, the best estimate is determined by discounting the related future cash outflows.

The best estimates are dealt with as follows:

Where there is a continuous range (or interval) of expenditures required and the probabilities 
of various outcomes within that range are the same, the best estimate is determined based on 
the median of that range, which is the average of the upper and lower amounts.

There is no continuous range (or interval) of required expenditures, or there is a continuous 
range but the probability of occurrence of various results within the range is different, if the 
contingency involves a single item, the best estimate is determined based on the most probable 
amount; If the contingency involves more than one item, the best estimate is determined by 
calculating the various possible outcomes and the associated probabilities.

Where all or part of the expenses required by the Company to settle the estimated liabilities 
are expected to be compensated by a third party, the amount of compensation is recognised 
separately as an asset when it is substantially certain that it will be received, and the amount 
of compensation recognised does not exceed the carrying amount of the estimated liabilities.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(XXIV) Revenue

1. General principles for revenue recognition

The Company recognises revenue at the transaction price allocated to a contractual performance 
obligation when the customer obtains control of the related goods or services.

A performance obligation is a contract whereby the Company conveys a clearly identifiable 
good or service to a customer.

Obtaining control over the relevant commodity means being able to dominate the use of the 
commodity and obtain substantially all of the economic benefits therefrom.

The Company assesses a contract at the commencement date of the contract, identifies each 
individual performance obligation contained in the contract, and determines whether each 
individual performance obligation is performed within a time period or at a point in time. A 
performance obligation that is performed within a certain period of time if one of the following 
conditions is met, and the Company recognises revenue over a period of time based on the 
performance schedule: (1) the customer obtains and consumes the economic benefits brought 
about by the Company’s performance while the Company performs; (2) the customer is able 
to control the goods under construction during the Company’s performance; (3) Commodities 
produced in the course of the Company’s performance have an irreplaceable use and the 
Company is entitled to payment for the performance completed to date accumulated throughout 
the contract period. Otherwise, the Company recognises revenue when the customer obtains 
control of the related goods or services.

For performance obligations performed within a certain period of time, the Company uses 
the output method to determine the appropriate performance schedule based on the nature of 
the goods and services. The output method determines the performance progress based on the 
value of the goods transferred to the customer to the customer (the input method determines 
the performance progress based on the company’s inputs to fulfill the performance obligations). 
When the performance schedule cannot be reasonably determined, if the Company expects to 
be compensated for the costs already incurred, revenue is recognised based on the amount of 
costs already incurred until the performance schedule can be reasonably determined.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(XXIV) Revenue (continued)

2. Specific method of revenue recognition

General sales: Sales are recognised when control of the product is transferred to the customer 
(i.e, the product is delivered to the customer) and there are no outstanding obligations that could 
affect the customer’s acceptance of the product. Based on the delivery terms of the products 
as stipulated in the sales contracts signed with the customers, the products are deemed to 
have been delivered when the risk of damage has been transferred to the customers when the 
products have arrived at a specific location (including a designated ship at the port of shipment, 
a designated delivery point at home and abroad, etc.) and the customers have received the 
products in accordance with the sales contracts.

Sales on consignment: Sales business in which quality acceptance is performed when the 
customer uses the products and payment is made based on the quantity of products actually used, 
as agreed in the sales contract, are considered delivered when the customer uses the products.

(XXV) Contract cost

1. Contract performance cost

The Company recognises as an asset the cost of performing a contract that it incurs to perform 
the contract that is outside the scope of accounting standards for enterprises other than revenue 
standards and that simultaneously meets the following conditions:

(1) the cost is directly related to a current or expected contract, including direct labor, 
direct materials, manufacturing costs (or similar), costs that are clearly attributable to 
the customer, and other costs that are incurred solely as a result of the contract;

(2) The cost increases the resources that the enterprise will use to fulfill its performance 
obligations in the future;

(3) The cost is expected to be recovered.

The asset is presented in inventory or other non-current assets based on whether the amortisation 
period at initial recognition exceeds a normal operating cycle.

2. Contract acquisition cost

Incremental costs incurred by the Company in obtaining a contract that are expected to be 
recovered are recognised as contract acquisition costs as an asset. Incremental costs are 
costs that the Company would not have incurred without obtaining a contract, such as sales 
commissions. Where the amortisation period does not exceed one year, it is included in the 
current profit or loss when incurred.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(XXV) Contract cost (continued)

3. Amortisation of contract costs

The above assets relating to contract costs are amortised at the point in time when the performance 
obligation is satisfied or in accordance with the progress of the performance obligation, on the 
same basis as the recognition of income from goods or services relating to the asset, and are 
included in the profit or loss of the current period.

4. Impairment of contract costs

Where the carrying value of the above assets relating to contract costs is higher than the 
difference between the remaining consideration expected to be obtained by the Company from 
the transfer of the commodities related to the assets and the cost estimated to be incurred 
for the transfer of the related commodities, the excess shall be provided for impairment and 
recognised as an asset impairment loss.

After the provision for impairment is made, if the difference between the above two items is 
higher than the carrying amount of the asset due to changes in the factors of impairment in 
previous periods, the original provision for impairment of the asset is reversed and included in the 
current profit or loss, but the carrying amount of the asset after the reversal does not exceed the 
carrying amount of the asset on the reversal date assuming no provision for impairment is made.

(XXVI) Government grants

1. Type

Government grants are monetary assets and non-monetary assets obtained by the Company from 
the government free of charge. Government grants are divided into asset-related government 
grants and revenue-related government grants based on the recipients of grants as specified in 
the relevant government documents.

Government grants relating to assets represent government grants obtained by the Company 
to purchase, build or otherwise form long-term assets. Revenue-related government grants are 
government grants other than those relating to assets.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(XXVI) Government grants (continued)

2. Recognition of government grants

At the end of the period, if there is evidence that the company can meet the relevant conditions 
stipulated in the financial support policy and is expected to receive financial support funds, the 
government subsidy is recognised at the amount receivable. In addition, government grants are 
recognised when actually received.

For government grants for which the government documents do not specify the recipients, 
the Company classifies them as either asset-related government grants or revenue-related 
government grants based on the actual recipients,See Note 6 to these financial statements, 
Note to deferred revenue/Non-operating Income Items, for a description of the relevant basis 
of judgment.

Government grants that are monetary assets are measured at the amount received or receivable. 
Government grants that are non-monetary assets are measured at fair value; Where the fair 
value cannot be reliably obtained, it is measured at nominal amount (RMB1 yuan). Government 
grants measured at nominal amounts are credited directly to profit or loss for the current period.

3. Accounting treatment

The Company determines whether a class of government subsidy business should be accounted 
for using the gross method or the net method based on the substance of the economic business. 
Generally, the Company selects only one approach for similar or similar government-subsidized 
business and applies that approach consistently to that business.

project Accounting content

Categories of government grants accounted for using the net 
method

Asset-related

Categories of government grants accounted for using the 
gross method

Related to revenue

Government grants relating to assets should be written down against the carrying amount of 
the related assets or recognised as deferred revenue. Government grants relating to assets that 
are recognised as deferred revenue are credited to profit or loss in a reasonable and systematic 
manner over the useful lives of the assets constructed or purchased.

Government grants relating to revenue that are used to compensate an enterprise for related 
expenses or losses in subsequent periods are recognised as deferred revenue and are included in 
the current profit or loss or charged to related costs in the period in which the related expenses 
or losses are recognised; Those used to compensate the related expenses or losses incurred by 
the enterprise are directly included in the current profit or loss or related costs when obtained.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(XXVI) Government grants (continued)

3. Accounting treatment (continued)

Government grants relating to the day-to-day activities of the enterprise are included in other 
income or offset against related costs and expenses; Government grants that are not related to 
the daily activities of the enterprise are included in the non-operating income and expenses.

Receiving government subsidies related to preferential policy loan interest discounts to offset 
the related borrowing costs; Where a loan is obtained at a preferential policy interest rate 
provided by the lending bank, the recorded value of the loan shall be the amount of the loan 
actually received, and the relevant borrowing costs shall be calculated based on the principal 
of the loan and the preferential policy interest rate.

If the recognised government grants need to be returned, the carrying amount of the relevant 
assets is written down on initial recognition, and the carrying amount of the assets is adjusted; 
Where there is a relevant deferred revenue balance, the relevant deferred revenue book balance 
is written down, and the excess is included in the current profit or loss; If there is no relevant 
deferred revenue, it is directly included in the current profit or loss.

(XXVII) Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are recognised on the basis of the 
difference (temporary difference) between the tax basis of the assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts. At the balance sheet date, deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are 
measured at the tax rates that apply in the period in which the asset is expected to be recovered or 
the liability is settled.

1. Basis for recognition of deferred income tax assets

The Company recognises deferred income tax assets arising from deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised and deductible losses and tax deductions can be 
carried forward to future years. However, deferred income tax assets that arise from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that simultaneously: (2) When the transaction 
occurs, neither accounting profit nor taxable income nor deductible losses will be affected.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences associated with 
investments in associates that meet the following conditions: it is probable that the temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and it is probable that taxable income will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(XXVII) Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities (continued)

2. Basis for recognition of deferred income tax liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences that are due 
and unpaid between the current and prior periods. But does not include:

(1) temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of goodwill;

(2) a temporary difference arising from a transaction or event that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting profit nor taxable income (or deductible 
losses) when the transaction or event occurs;

(3) For taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, the timing of reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it 
is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

3. Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are presented net of offset when 
the following conditions are met:

(1) The enterprise has the legal right to settle the current income tax assets and current 
income tax liabilities on a net basis;

(2) Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are related to income 
taxes levied by the same tax administration department on the same taxable entity or 
different taxable entities, however, in the future period when each significant deferred 
income tax asset and deferred income tax liability are transferred back, the taxable 
entities involved intend to settle the current income tax assets and current income tax 
liabilities on a net basis or acquire assets and settle debts simultaneously.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(XXVIII) Lease

Lease is a contract that conveys the right to use an asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration.

At inception of a contract, an entity shall assess whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract 
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time.

To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time, an entity shall assess whether:

The use of an identified asset is involved in the contract. An identified asset is explicity specified or 
implicitly specified at the time that the asset is made available for use by the customer in a contract, 
when a capacity or other portion of an asset is an identified asset if it is physically distinct, otherwise 
the asset is not an identified asset, unless it represents substantially all of the capacity of the asset 
and thereby provides the customer with the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits 
from use of the asset. The asset is not an identified asset if the supplier has the substantive right to 
substitute the asset throughout the period of use;

The lessee has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified 
asset;

The lessee has the right to direct the use of the identified asset.

The lessee and the lessor shall split the contract for which contains multiple single lease, and determine 
the accounting treatment to every single lease. The lessee and the lessor shall split the lease component 
and non-lease components when the contract contains both of them. The lessee shall allocate the 
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price 
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components. The lessor 
shall allocate the consideration in accordance with the accounting policy of transaction price allocation 
described in Note IV. XXIV.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(XXVIII) Lease (continued)

1. The Group as lessee

At the commencement date, a lessee shall recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. At 
the commencement date, a lessee shall measure the right- of-use asset at cost. The cost of the 
right-of-use asset shall comprise the amount of the initial measurement of the lease lability, any 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date(less any lease incentives received), 
any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee 
in dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is located or 
restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group depreciates the right-of-use asset on a straight-line basis. If the lease transfers 
ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term, the lessee shall 
depreciate the right-of- use asset from the commencement date to the end of the useful life 
of the underlying asset. Otherwise, the Group shall depreciate the right-of-use asset from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the 
end of the lease term. Impairment losses are recognized in accordance with the accounting 
policy described in Note IV. XX.

At the commencement date, a lessee shall measure the lease liability at the present value of 
the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments shall be discounted using 
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group shall 
use the incremental borrowing rate.

The Group shall recognize the interest based on a constant periodic interest rate on the lease 
liability in profit or loss or the cost of underlying assets in each period during the lease term. 
The variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability shall be 
recognized in profit or loss or the cost of underlying assets in the period when it occurs.

After the commencement date, the Group shall apply the present value of revised lease payment 
to remeasure the lease liability, for the following situations occurs:

– there is a change in the amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee;

– there is a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or a rate 
used to determine those payments;

– there is a change in the assessment of an option to purchase, extend or terminate the 
lease of underlying asset, or the practical exercise of an option to extend or terminated 
the lease is inconsistent with the original assessment.

The Group shall recognize the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment 
to the right-of-use asset. However, if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to 
zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease liability, the Group shall 
recognize any remaining amount of the remeasurement in profit or loss.
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IV Significant accounting policies, accounting estimates (continued)

(XXVIII) Lease (continued)

2. The Group as lessor

At the commencement date, the Group shall classify each of its leases as either an operating 
lease or a finance lease. A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of a leased asset to the lessee, irrespective of whether the legal 
title to the asset is eventually transferred. An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease.

At the commencement date, the Group shall derecognise assets held under a finance lease 
and present them as a receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. Net 
investment in the lease is the sum of any unguaranteed residual value accruing to the lessor 
and the lease payments receivable by a lessor under a finance lease discounted at the interest 
rate implicit in the lease.

The Group shall recognise finance income over the lease term, based on constant periodic rate of 
return. The Group shall apply the derecognition and impairment requirements in accordance with 
the accounting policy described in Note IV. XII. The variable lease payments not included in the 
measurement of net investment in the lease shall be recognised in profit or loss when it occurs.

The Group shall recognise lease payments from operating leases as income on a straight: line 
basis. The Group shall add initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease to the 
carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognise those costs as an expense over the lease 
term on the same basis as the lease income. The variable lease payments not included in the 
measurement of lease payments shall be recognised in profit or loss when it occurs.

Fixed assets leased out under operating leases, are depreciated in accordance with the Group’s 
depreciation policies described in Note IV. XVI. Impairment losses are recognised in accordance 
with the accounting policy described in Note IV. XX.

(XXIX) Repurchase of shares of the Company

The consideration and transaction costs paid in a share repurchase reduce shareholders’ equity and no 
gain or loss is recognised when the shares of the Company are repurchased, transferred or cancelled.

The transfer of stock, according to the difference between the actual amount received and the carrying 
amount of the stock, included in the capital reserve, the capital reserve is insufficient to offset, offset 
the surplus reserve and undistributed profits. For the cancellation of stock, the share capital shall be 
reduced based on the par value of the stock and the number of shares cancelled, and the capital reserve 
shall be reduced based on the difference between the carrying amount of the cancelled stock and the par 
value, if the capital reserve is insufficient, the surplus reserve and undistributed profits shall be reduced.

(XXX) Changes in significant accounting policies and accounting estimates

1. Changes in accounting policies

There were no changes in significant accounting policies during the Reporting Period.

2. Changes in accounting estimates

There has been no change in the key accounting estimates for the Reporting Period.
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V Tax

(I) Major taxes and tax rates of the Company

Items of taxation Tax basis Tax rate

value-added tax The output tax is calculated based on the 
income from sales of goods and taxable 
services calculated in accordance with the 
provisions of the tax law. after deducting 
the deductible input tax in the current 
period, the difference is the value-added 
tax payable.

5%、6%、9%、13%

Urban maintenance and 
construction tax

Based on VAT payable 1%、5%、7%

Education surcharge Based on VAT payable 3%

Local education surcharge Based on VAT payable 2%

Business income tax Taxable amount of income 15%、25%

Property tax Ad valorem taxation: 70% of the original 
value of the property

1.2%

Levied from rent: rental income. 12%
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V Tax (continued)

(I) Major taxes and tax rates of the Company (continued)

According to the “Notice of Shaanxi Provincial State Administration of Taxation and Shaanxi Provincial 
Department of Finance on Trial Implementation of Measures for Verification and Deduction of Input 
Value-added Tax on Agricultural Products in Concentrated Juice Industry”, “Notice of Shanxi Provincial 
Department of Finance and Shanxi Provincial State Administration of Taxation on Incorporation of 
Verification and Deduction of Input Value-added Tax on Fruit and Vegetable Juice and Fruit and 
Vegetable Beverages and Other Industries” and the “Notice of Dalian Municipal State Administration 
of Taxation and Dalian Municipal Finance Bureau on Relevant Issues Concerning Enlargement of 
Verification and Deduction of Input Value-added Tax on Agricultural Products”, Whitewater Andre 
Fruit and Vegetable Juice Co., Ltd, and Liquan Yitong Juice Co., Ltd., subsidiaries of the Company, 
have been subject to the approved deduction of input tax of agricultural product value-added tax since 
January 2014, Yongji Andre Fruit and Vegetable Juice Co., Ltd, since December 2014 and Dalian 
Andre Fruit and Vegetable Juice Co., Ltd, since April 2018 and Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd and 
Yantai Longkou Andre Juice Co., Ltd., since January 2021. When agricultural products are purchased, 
the recorded value of raw materials is recognised based on the amount including tax, when finished 
products are sold, the approved deduction of input tax is deducted from current operating costs. As a 
result, the Company’s VAT to be credited at the end of the year excludes the input tax on purchased 
agricultural products that have not yet been sold under the approved deduction method of VAT on 
agricultural products.

(II) Preferential Tax Policies and Basis

According to the Notice of the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation on Issuing 
the Scope of Primary Processing of Agricultural Products Subject to the Preferential Enterprise Income 
Tax Policy (for Trial Implementation) (Cai Shui [2008] No.149), Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd., 
Baishui Andre Juice Co., Ltd., Xuzhou Andre Juice Co., Ltd., Yantai Longkou Andre Juice Co., Ltd., 
Dalian Andre Juice Co., Ltd., Yongji Andre Juice Co., Ltd., Liquan Yitong Juice Co., Ltd., Anyue 
Andre Lemon Industry Technology Co., Ltd, are entitled to the preferential policy of exemption from 
income tax for the raw juice and fruit dregs produced and sold.
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VI Notes to key items in the consolidated financial statements

(The following monetary units are all RMB unless otherwise specified)

Note 1. Cash at bank and on hand

Items Closing balance Opening balance

Cash on hand 13,296.17 13,261.27
Deposits with banks 341,010,887.39 187,854,883.02
Interest receivable due 96,467.71 110,486.59
Other monetary funds 9,129,927.71 –

  

Total 350,250,578.98 187,978,630.88
  

Of which: total amount deposited abroad 1,721,370.21 2,480,742.74

As at 30 June 2021, the Company had not pledged, frozen or potentially recoverable amounts.

Note 2. Financial assets held for trading

Items Closing balance Opening balance

Subtotal of financial assets classified as at fair value through 
profit or loss 411,799,482.88 287,617,293.20

Asset management plan 213,083,005.72 101,004,504.95
Funds 51,485,805.60 52,743,086.85
Investment in equity instruments 131,892,671.56 121,684,201.40
Derivative financial assets 15,338,000.00 12,185,500.00

  

Total 411,799,482.88 287,617,293.20
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VI Notes to key items in the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Note 3. Bills receivable

1. Bills receivable are presented by category

Items Closing balance Opening balance

Bank’s Acceptance Bill 6,583,956.50 5,572,474.00
Trade acceptance – –

  

Total 6,583,956.50 5,572,474.00
  

Note 4. Accounts receivable

1. Disclosure of trade receivables by age

Aging Closing balance Opening balance

Within 6 months (inclusive) 185,776,211.34 174,584,657.62
6 months to 1 year (inclusive) 39,625,870.87 20,549,414.64
2 to 3 years (inclusive) – 2,612.50
3 years above 2,612.50 –
subtotal 225,404,694.71 195,136,684.76
Less: loss allowance 15,171,805.40 18,563,774.08

  

Total 210,232,889.31 176,572,910.68
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VI Notes to key items in the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Note 4. Accounts receivable (continued)

2. Classified disclosure by bad debt provision accrual method

Type

Closing balance
book balance bad-debt provision

Amount Percentage (%) Amount
Accrual 

percentage (%) book value

Accounts receivable for which ECLs are 
accrued individually – – – – –

Trade receivables with expected credit 
losses by portfolio 225,404,694.71 100.00 15,171,805.40 6.73 210,232,889.31

Where: Portfolio 1: Portfolio of amounts 
due from customers 225,404,694.71 100.00 15,171,805.40 6.73 210,232,889.31

     

Total 225,404,694.71 100.00 15,171,805.40 6.73 210,232,889.31
     

Type

Opening balance
book balance bad-debt provision

Amount Percentage (%) Amount
Accrual 

percentage (%) book value

Accounts receivable for which ECLs are 
accrued individually – – – – –

Trade receivables with expected credit 
losses by portfolio 195,136,684.76 100.00 18,563,774.08 9.51 176,572,910.68

Where: Portfolio 1: Portfolio of amounts 
due from customers 195,136,684.76 100.00 18,563,774.08 9.51 176,572,910.68

     

Total 195,136,684.76 100.00 18,563,774.08 9.51 176,572,910.68
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VI Notes to key items in the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Note 4. Accounts receivable (continued)

3. Trade receivables with expected credit losses by portfolio

(1) Portfolio 1: Portfolio of amounts due from customers

Aging

Closing balance

book balance
bad-debt 
provision

Accrual 
percentage (%)

Not past due 214,581,134.72 12,874,868.08 6.00
Within 30 days overdue 10,492,996.67 2,098,599.33 20.00
Overdue for 31 to 60 days 330,563.32 198,337.99 60.00

   

Total 225,404,694.71 15,171,805.40 6.73
   

4. Provision for bad debts withdrawn, recovered or reversed in the current period

Type Opening balance

Changes in current period

Closing balanceProvision
Recovery or 

reversal
cancel after 
verification Other changes

Accounts receivable for which ECLs are 
accrued individually – – – – – –

Trade receivables with expected credit 
losses by portfolio 18,563,774.08 (3,391,968.68) – – – 15,171,805.40

Where: Portfolio 1: Portfolio of amounts 
due from customers 18,563,774.08 (3,391,968.68) – – – 15,171,805.40

      

Total 18,563,774.08 (3,391,968.68) – – – 15,171,805.40
      

5. There are no accounts receivable actually written off in the current period.
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VI Notes to key items in the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Note 4. Accounts receivable (continued)

6. Top Five Accounts Receivable for Period-end Balance Collected by Arrears

Name of organization Closing balance

Percentage 
of accounts 

receivable ending 
balance (%)

Provision for 
bad debts has 

been made

Summary of the Top Five Accounts 
Receivable in the Closing Balance 101,833,429.68 45.18 6,291,102.02

Note 5. Prepayments

1. Prepayments are presented by age

Closing balance Opening balance

Aging Amount
Percentage 

(%) Amount
Percentage  

(%)

Within 1 year 8,006,444.12 98.72 2,435,171.66 100.00
1-2 years 104,100.00 1.28 – –

    

Total 8,110,544.12 100.00 2,435,171.66 100.00
    

2. Top five prepayments of ending balance by prepayment object

Name of organization Closing balance
Percentage of total 

prepayments (%)

Summary of the Top Five Prepaid Payments in the 
Closing Balance 7,370,919.03 90.88
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Note 6. Other receivables

Items Closing balance Opening balance

Others receivables 834,173.03 1,293,631.96
  

Total 834,173.03 1,293,631.96
  

(I) Other receivables

1. Disclosure by age

Aging Closing balance Opening balance

Within 1 year 668,991.64 1,180,777.45
1-2 years 220,701.08 190,992.64
More than 5 years 19,817.67 19,817.67

  

subtotal 909,510.39 1,391,587.76

Less: bad debt allowance 75,337.36 97,955.80
  

Total 834,173.03 1,293,631.96
  

2. Breakdown by nature of amounts

Nature of money Closing balance Opening balance

Deposits, petty cash, deposits 339,575.00 411,037.04
VAT refundable – 479,788.19
other 569,935.39 500,762.53

  

Total 909,510.39 1,391,587.76
  



81

VI Notes to key items in the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Note 6. Other receivables (continued)

(I) Other receivables (continued)

3. Disclosed in three stages of impairment of financial assets

Items

Closing balance Opening balance

book balance
bad-debt 
provision book value book balance

bad-debt 
provision book value

Stage I 909,510.39 75,337.36 834,173.03 1,391,587.76 97,955.80 1,293,631.96
Stage II – – – – – –
Stage III – – – – – –

      

Total 909,510.39 75,337.36 834,173.03 1,391,587.76 97,955.80 1,293,631.96
      

4. Classified disclosure by bad debt provision accrual method

Type

Closing balance
book balance bad-debt provision

Amount
Percentage  

(%) Amount

Accrual 
percentage  

(%) book value

Other receivables for which expected credit 
losses are accrued individually – – – – –

Other receivables for which ECLs are 
accrued by portfolio 909,510.39 100.00 75,337.36 8.28 834,173.03

Where: VAT refund portfolio – – – – –
Portfolio with low credit risk, such as margin 

and reserve fund portfolio 909,510.39 100.00 75,337.36 8.28 834,173.03
     

Total 909,510.39 100.00 75,337.36 8.28 834,173.03
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Note 6. Other receivables (continued)

(I) Other receivables (continued)

4. Classified disclosure by bad debt provision accrual method (continued)

Type

Opening balance
book balance bad-debt provision

Amount
Percentage  

(%) Amount

Accrual 
percentage  

(%) book value

Other receivables for which expected credit 
losses are accrued individually – – – – –

Other receivables for which ECLs are accrued 
by portfolio 1,391,587.76 100.00 97,955.80 7.04 1,293,631.96

Among them: Portfolio 1: VAT refund 479,788.19 34.48 23,989.41 5.00 455,798.78
Portfolio with low credit risk, such as margin 

and reserve fund portfolio 911,799.57 65.52 73,966.39 8.11 837,833.18
     

Total 1,391,587.76 100.00 97,955.80 7.04 1,293,631.96
     

5. There are no other receivables actually written off in the current period.

6. Other receivables in the top five of the ending balances aggregated by the defaulting party

Name of organization
Nature of 
money

Closing  
balance Aging

Percentage 
of other 

receivables 
ending 

balance (%)

bad-debt 
provision 

closing 
balance

Tianjin Wahaha Hongzhen Food and 
Beverage Trading Co., Ltd.

margin 100,000.00 Within 1 year 10.99 5,000.00

Jinmailang Beverage Co., Ltd. Longyao 
Branch

margin 100,000.00 Within 1 year 10.99 5,000.00

Baishui’s Receivables on Employees’ 
Personal Insurance Benefits

other 45,923.72 Within 1 year 5.05 2,296.19

Wang Lei other 33,000.00 8,000.00 Within 1 year;  
others 1-2 years

3.63 2,900.00

Yongji’s Receivables on Employees’ 
Personal Insurance Benefits

other 32,113.57 Within 1 year 3.53 1,605.68

   

Total 311,037.29 34.19 16,801.87
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Note 7. Inventory

1. Inventory classification

Items

closing balance Opening balance

book balance
Depreciation 

reserve book value book balance
Depreciation 

reserve book value

Raw materials 37,496,808.55 – 37,496,808.55 32,674,386.77 – 32,674,386.77
Work-in-process 27,794,803.80 – 27,794,803.80 – – –
Inventory 332,921,133.22 1,850,601.34 331,070,531.88 633,889,809.45 2,087,009.70 631,802,799.75

      

Total 398,212,745.57 1,850,601.34 396,362,144.23 666,564,196.22 2,087,009.70 664,477,186.52
      

2. Provision for depreciation of inventories

Items Opening balance
Increase in current period Decrease in current period

Provision other Reversal resell other closing balance

Inventory 2,087,009.70 12,489.49 – 248,897.85 – – 1,850,601.34
       

Total 2,087,009.70 12,489.49 – 248,897.85 – – 1,850,601.34
       

Note 8. Other current assets

1. Other current assets are presented separately

Items Closing balance Opening balance

VAT deductible 7,782,057.23 24,154,549.21
Short-term other debt investments 100,480,246.58 100,511,780.82
Prepaid stamp duty 3,882.54 –

  

Total 108,266,186.35 124,666,330.03
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Note 9. Other non-current financial assets

Items Closing balance Opening balance

Other equity instrument investment 6,000,000.00 –
  

Total 6,000,000.00 –
  

Note 10. Fixed assets

Items Closing balance Opening balance

Fixed assets 658,950,503.67 667,605,005.22
Liquidation of fixed assets – –

  

Total 658,950,503.67 667,605,005.22
  

Note: The fixed assets in the above table refer to the fixed assets after deducting the liquidation of the fixed 
assets.
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Note 10. Fixed assets (continued)

(1) Fixed assets

1. Fixed assets

Items
Plant and  
buildings

Machinery and  
equipment

Office and  
other equipment Motor vehicles Total

I. Original book value
1. Opening balance 539,947,126.67 869,900,736.48 24,869,145.83 11,265,831.93 1,445,982,840.91
2. Increase in current period 4,558,984.11 1,963,091.35 105,629.35 217,079.64 6,844,784.45

Purchases 4,683,802.08 1,923,696.96 105,629.35 217,079.64 6,930,208.03
Transfer-in of 

construction in 
progress – 39,394.39 – – 39,394.39

Translation differences 
in foreign currency 
statements (124,817.97) – – – (124,817.97)

3. De crease in current 
period – 1,676,430.13 79,327.87 264,945.00 2,020,703.00

Disposal or retirement – 381,130.13 79,327.87 264,945.00 725,403.00
Government grants offset 

against original value – 1,282,700.00 – – 1,282,700.00
Other decrease – 12,600.00 – – 12,600.00

4. Closing balance 544,506,110.78 870,187,397.70 24,895,447.31 11,217,966.57 1,450,806,922.36
II. Accumulated depreciation

1. Opening balance 159,778,771.35 556,675,628.83 19,150,159.99 7,641,839.11 743,246,399.28
2. Increase in current period 5,146,671.24 7,760,117.11 366,222.18 527,759.90 13,800,770.43

Provision for current 
period 5,156,721.59 7,760,117.11 366,222.18 527,759.90 13,810,820.78

Translation differences 
in foreign currency 
statements (10,050.35) – – – (10,050.35)

3. De crease in current 
period – 12,341.85 71,395.08 238,450.50 322,187.43

Disposal or retirement – 12,341.85 71,395.08 238,450.50 322,187.43
4. Closing balance 164,925,442.59 564,423,404.09 19,444,987.09 7,931,148.51 756,724,982.28

III. Impairment allowance
1. Opening balance 17,425,665.35 17,601,655.95 104,115.11 – 35,131,436.41
2. Increase in current period – – – – –

Provision for current 
period – – – – –

3. De crease in current 
period – – – – –

Disposal or retirement – – – – –
4. Closing balance 17,425,665.35 17,601,655.95 104,115.11 – 35,131,436.41

IV. Book value
1. Closing carrying amount 362,155,002.84 288,162,337.66 5,346,345.11 3,286,818.06 658,950,503.67
2. Opening book value 362,742,689.97 295,623,451.70 5,614,870.73 3,623,992.82 667,605,005.22
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Note 10. Fixed assets (continued)

(1) Fixed assets (continued)

2. Fixed assets leased out under operating leases

Items
Closing carrying 

amount

Plant and buildings 19,685,558.16
 

Total 19,685,558.16
 

The fixed assets leased out by the Company through operating leases were mainly two office 
buildings, several commercial outlets and an apartment building located in the Muping Economic 
Development Zone of Yantai City.

3. Fixed assets for which certificates of title have not been completed at the end of the period

Items book value

Reasons for 
failure to 
complete the title 
certificate

Plant and buildings 5,378,637.64 Under way
 

Total 5,378,637.64
 

The fixed assets without title certificate are the factory houses of Yantai Longkou Andre Juice 
Co., Ltd..

Note 11. Construction in progress

Items Closing balance Opening balance

Construction in propress 13,703,191.77 6,282,281.59
Engineering materials – –

  

Total 13,703,191.77 6,282,281.59
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Note 11. Construction in progress (continued)

1. Construction in progress

Items

Closing balance Opening balance

book balance
Impairment 

allowance book value book balance
Impairment 

allowance book value

Longkou cold storage construction 
project 7,181,061.96 – 7,181,061.96 6,263,469.71 – 6,263,469.71

Yongji heat preservation project 1,975,592.92 – 1,975,592.92 – – –
Baishui natural gas station 1,569,450.00 – 1,569,450.00 – – –
Construction of canopy frame in 

Longkou 1,208,256.89 – 1,208,256.89 – – –
Baishui boiler room 771,900.00 – 771,900.00 – – –
Yongji road surface hardening 765,000.00 – 765,000.00 – – –
other 231,930.00 – 231,930.00 18,811.88 – 18,811.88

      

Total 13,703,191.77 – 13,703,191.77 6,282,281.59 – 6,282,281.59
      

2. Changes in Major Construction-in-Progress Projects in the Current Period

Project name Opening balance
Increase in 

current period

Current period 
transfer-in fixed 

assets

Other decrease 
for the current 

period Closing balance

Longkou cold storage 
construction project 6,263,469.71 917,592.25 – – 7,181,061.96

Yongji heat preservation 
project – 1,975,592.92 – – 1,975,592.92

Baishui natural gas station – 1,569,450.00 – – 1,569,450.00
Baishui boiler room – 771,900.00 – – 771,900.00
Yongji road surface hardening – 765,000.00 – – 765,000.00

     

Total 6,263,469.71 5,999,535.17 – – 12,263,004.88
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Note 11. Construction in progress (continued)

2. Changes in Major Construction-in-Progress Projects in the Current Period (continued)

Project name

Budget figure 
(ten thousand 

yuan)

Proportion 
of project 

investment to 
budget (%) Progress (%)

Accumulated 
amount 

of interest 
capitalisation

Of which: 
the amount 
of interest 

capitalised in 
the current 

period

Current 
interest 

capitalisation 
rate (%)

Sources of 
fund

Longkou cold storage 
construction project

1,000.00 71.81 71.81 – – – Self-funded

Yongji heat preservation 
project

370.00 53.39 53.39 – – – Self-funded

Baishui natural gas station 370.91 42.31 42.31 – – – Self-funded
Baishui boiler room 226.02 34.15 34.15 – – – Self-funded
Yongji road surface 

hardening
140.36 54.50 54.50 – – – Self-funded

   

Total 2,107.29 – –
   

Note 12. Intangible assets

1. Intangible assets

Items Land use right Total

I. Cost
1. Opening balance 120,343,069.79 120,343,069.79
2. Increase in current period 12,348,315.20 12,348,315.20

Purchases 12,348,315.20 12,348,315.20
3. Decrease in current period – –
4. Closing balance 132,691,384.99 132,691,384.99

II. Accumulated amortization
1. Opening balance 30,157,620.69 30,157,620.69
2. Increase in current period 1,355,347.25 1,355,347.25

Provision for current period 1,355,347.25 1,355,347.25
3. Decrease in current period – –
4. Closing balance 31,512,967.94 31,512,967.94

III. Impairment allowance
1. Opening balance – –
2. Increase in current period – –
3. Decrease in current period – –
4. Closing balance – –

IV. Book value
1. Closing carrying amount 101,178,417.05 101,178,417.05
2. Opening book value 90,185,449.10 90,185,449.10
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Note 13. Goodwill

1. Original carrying amount of goodwill

The name of the investee or the event 
forming goodwill Opening balance

Increase in 
current period

Decrease in 
current period

Closing  
balance

Formation 
of business 

combination Disposals

Anyue Andre Lemon Industry Technology 
Co., Ltd. 3,066,598.32 – – 3,066,598.32

Yongji Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 4,566,292.71 – – 4,566,292.71
Yantai Longkou Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 1,020,683.72 – – 1,020,683.72

    

Total 8,653,574.75 – – 8,653,574.75
    

2. Provision for impairment of goodwill

The name of the investee or the event 
forming goodwill Opening balance

Increase in 
current period

Decrease in 
current period Closing  

balanceProvision Disposals

Anyue Andre Lemon Industry Technology 
Co., Ltd. 3,066,598.32 – – 3,066,598.32

    

Total 3,066,598.32 – – 3,066,598.32
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Note 13. Goodwill (continued)

3. Information about the asset group or combination of asset groups in which the goodwill is located

On 29 April 2014, the Company paid an acquisition cost of RMB52,120,000.00 to acquire the interest 
in Anyue Andre Lemon Industry Technology Co., Ltd. The excess of the acquisition cost over the 
proportionate share of the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Anyue Andre Lemon 
Industry Technology Co., Ltd. was goodwill relating to Anyue Andre Lemon Industry Technology 
Co., Ltd.

On 26 April 2011, the Company and AGRANA Juice Holding GmbH entered into an agreement and 
the Company paid an acquisition cost of RMB56,201,585.00 to acquire the interest in Yongji Andre 
Juice Co., Ltd. The excess of the acquisition cost over the proportionate share of the fair value of 
the identifiable assets and liabilities of Yongji Andre Juice Co., Ltd. was goodwill relating to Yongji 
Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

On 13 September 2002, the Company and Yantai Jia Cheng Trading Co. entered into an agreement and 
the Company paid an acquisition cost of RMB32,035,810.00 to acquire the interest in Yantai Longkou 
Andre Juice Beverage Co., Ltd. The excess of the acquisition cost over the proportionate share of the 
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Yantai Longkou Andre Juice Beverage Co., Ltd. 
was goodwill relating to Yantai Longkou Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Note 14. Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities

1. Details of deductible temporary differences for unrecognised deferred income tax assets

Items Closing balance Opening balance

Provision for impairment of assets 18,450,652.12 15,036,436.40
Deductible loss 12,346,131.53 12,346,131.53

  

Total 30,796,783.65 27,382,567.93
  

2. Expiration of deductible tax losses for unrecognised deferred tax assets

Age Closing balance Opening balance

2022 11,059,433.29 11,059,433.29
2023 941,061.90 941,061.90
2025 345,636.34 345,636.34

  

Total 12,346,131.53 12,346,131.53
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Note 15. Other non-current assets

Items

Closing balance Opening balance

book balance
Depreciation 

reserve book value book balance
Depreciation 

reserve book value

Advance payment for equipment and project 
purchase 1,414,775.00 – 1,414,775.00 4,086,210.22 – 4,086,210.22

      

Total 1,414,775.00 – 1,414,775.00 4,086,210.22 – 4,086,210.22
      

Note 16. Notes payable

Items Closing balance Opening balance

Bank’s Acceptance Bill 60,000,000.00 –
Trade acceptance – –

  

Total 60,000,000.00 –
  

Note 17. Accounts payable

Items Closing balance Opening balance

Material and other payables 34,927,364.08 42,295,154.49
Amounts due for construction and equipment 1,861,096.23 20,884,578.07

  

Total 36,788,460.31 63,179,732.56
  

Note 18. Contract liabilities

1. Contract liabilities

Items Closing balance Opening balance

Payments received in advance 2,079,810.24 1,359,029.04
  

Total 2,079,810.24 1,359,029.04
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Note 19. Employee benefits payable

1. Details of employee benefits payable:

Items
Opening 
balance

Increase in 
current period

Decrease in 
current period

Closing  
balance

Short-term employee benefits 20,521,257.56 20,727,236.69 28,355,141.13 12,893,353.12
Post-employment benefits – 

defined contribution plans – 1,782,702.48 1,782,702.48 –
    

Total 20,521,257.56 22,509,939.17 30,137,843.61 12,893,353.12
    

2. Short-term employee benefits

Items
Opening 
balance

Increase in 
current period

Decrease in 
current period

Closing  
balance

Wages, bonuses, allowances 
and subsidies 11,296,593.88 19,088,272.22 26,136,499.99 4,248,366.11

Staff welfare 9,218,086.98 46,985.01 618,548.24 8,646,523.75
Social security contributions – 977,981.63 977,981.63 –
Among them: Ba sic medical 

insurance – 860,014.65 860,014.65 –
Work injury 

insurance – 117,966.98 117,966.98 –
Housing fund – 441,569.00 441,569.00 –
Labour union funds and staff 

education funds 6,576.70 172,428.83 180,542.27 (1,536.74)
    

Total 20,521,257.56 20,727,236.69 28,355,141.13 12,893,353.12
    

3. Defined contribution plans

Items
Opening 
balance

Increase in 
current period

Decrease in 
current period

Closing  
balance

Basic pension – 1,701,379.48 1,701,379.48 –
Unemployment insurance – 81,323.00 81,323.00 –

    

Total – 1,782,702.48 1,782,702.48 –
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Note 19. Employee benefits payable (continued)

4. Other descriptions of the salaries payable to the employees

(1) As at 30 June 2021, there was no amount in arrears in the remuneration payable by the Company 
to the employees.

(2) In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations, the Company participates in the employees’ 
defined contribution retirement scheme arranged by the local government for its employees. The 
Company is required to make contributions to the retirement scheme at a specific percentage or 
at a specific amount of the employees’ remuneration. The relevant local government authorities 
are responsible for all retirement liabilities of the retired employees. The Company is not subject 
to any other material obligation in respect of the payment of pension in respect of these plans 
other than the annual contributions mentioned above.

(3) During the period (January-June 2021, 2020 and 2019), the Company had no forfeited 
contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who leave the defined contribution plans 
of the Company prior to vesting fully in such contributions) which may be used by the Company 
to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Note 20. Taxes payable

Tax items Closing balance Opening balance

Value-added tax 1,453,315.13 2,243,697.09
Property tax 328,980.43 627,829.37
Land use tax 335,489.01 679,024.04
Enterprise income tax 11,265.37 –
other 414,572.08 519,180.05

  

Total 2,543,622.02 4,069,730.55
  

Note 21. Other payables

Items Closing balance Opening balance

Dividend payable 17,903,144.05 –
Others 15,901,199.28 13,381,726.13

  

Total 33,804,343.33 13,381,726.13
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Note 21. Other payables (continued)

(1) Dividend payable

Items Closing balance Opening balance

Common stock dividend 17,903,144.05 –
  

Total 17,903,144.05 –
  

(2) Other payables

1. Other payables by nature of amount

Nature of money Closing balance Opening balance

Equipment and project payment, etc. 5,445,875.18 7,616,630.27
Quality guarantee fund – 4,161,329.46
Deposits and margin 639,617.80 108,292.80
Accrued expenses 7,290,314.44 1,469,447.59
Others 2,525,391.86 26,026.01

  

Total 15,901,199.28 13,381,726.13
  

Note 22. Other current liabilities

Items Closing balance Opening balance

Bills receivable not derecognised – 300,000.00
  

Total – 300,000.00
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Note 23. Long-term payables

Items Closing balance Opening balance

Long-term payables 1,600,040.50 1,581,524.00
Cash in bank special fund – –

  

Total 1,600,040.50 1,581,524.00
  

Note: Long-term payables in the above table refer to long-term payables after deducting special payables.

(I) Long-term payables

1. Long-term payables classification

Nature of money Closing balance Opening balance

Payable for plant ownership and land use rights 970,200.50 951,684.00
Special funds for counterpart aid from Jiangsu 

and Shaanxi 629,840.00 629,840.00
  

Total 1,600,040.50 1,581,524.00
  

Note 24. Deferred income

Items Opening balance
Increase in 

current period
Decrease in 

current period Closing balance
Cause of 

formation

Government grants relating to 
assets 12,175,430.80 – 2,844.83 12,172,585.97

See Table 1 
for details

Revenue-related government 
grants – – – – –

    

Total 12,175,430.80 – 2,844.83 12,172,585.97 –
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Note 24. Deferred income (continued)

1. Deferred revenue in relation to government grants

Liability item Opening balance

The amount of 
subsidy added 
in the current 

period

Construction in 
progress is offset 

in the current 
period

Write-down of 
fixed assets in 
current period Closing balance

Asset-related/ 
revenue-related

Longkou New Factory Building 
Foundation Project

12,175,430.80 – – 2,844.83 12,172,585.97 Asset-related

     

Total 12,175,430.80 – – 2,844.83 12,172,585.97 –
     

Note 25. Share capital

Current Period Change Increase (+) Decrease (-)

Items Opening balance issue new shares Give out shares

Conversion of 
provident fund into 

shares other subtotal Closing balance

Total number of shares 378,000,000.00 – – – (10,700,000.00) (10,700,000.00) 367,300,000.00
       

Description of changes in share capital: The decrease in share capital of the Company was mainly due to the 
repurchase of H shares by the Company last year, which was cancelled on 5 January this year.

Note 26. Capital reserve

Items Opening balance
Increase in 

current period
Decrease in 

current period Closing balance

Capital premium (Equity 
premium) 118,781,789.31 – 67,259,708.11 51,522,081.20

Other capital reserve 9,925.92 – – 9,925.92
    

Total 118,791,715.23 – 67,259,708.11 51,532,007.12
    

Description of changes in capital reserve: The decrease in capital reserve was mainly due to the repurchase 
of H shares by the Company last year, which was cancelled on 5 January this year.
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Note 27. Treasury shares

Items Opening balance
Increase in 

current period
Decrease in 

current period Closing balance

Reduce the repurchase of 
registered capital 77,959,708.11 23,872,408.21 77,959,708.11 23,872,408.21

 

Total 77,959,708.11 23,872,408.21 77,959,708.11 23,872,408.21
 

Description of the Treasury shares:

The increase in the current period is due to the actual repurchase of 4,000,000 shares of H shares by the Company 
in the current period, accounting for 4.1338% of the total share capital of H shares of the Company and 1.089% 
of the total share capital of the Company at present, with the total payment amount of RMB23,872,408.21 
(including transaction costs). The implementation of the repurchase meets the requirements of the Company’s 
share repurchase plan and relevant laws and regulations.

The decrease in the current period was due to the cancellation of 10,700,000 H shares repurchased by the 
Company in 2020 on 5 January 2021.

Note 28. Surplus reserve

Items Opening balance
Increase in 

current period
Decrease in 

current period Closing balance

Statutory surplus reserve 136,586,052.71 – – 136,586,052.71
    

Total 136,586,052.71 – – 136,586,052.71
    

Note 29. Retained earnings

Items Amount

Undistributed profit at end of prior period before adjustment 1,552,373,061.02
Adjust the total undistributed profit at the beginning of the period 

(increase+,decrease-) –
Adjusted opening undistributed profit 1,552,373,061.02
Plus: net profit attributable to owners of the parent in the current period 51,837,891.19
Less: draw down statutory surplus reserve –

Common stock dividend payable 18,365,000.00
Undistributed profit at end of period 1,585,845,952.21
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VI Notes to key items in the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Note 30. Operating income and operating costs

1. Operating income, operating costs

Items
Current amount incurred Prior period occurrence

income cost income cost

Principal businesses 413,956,081.03 337,668,944.58 467,091,188.26 331,729,085.63
Other business 4,415,806.23 2,134,649.95 3,030,118.74 1,161,543.76

    

Total 418,371,887.26 339,803,594.53 470,121,307.00 332,890,629.39
    

Note 31. Taxes and surcharges

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Urban maintenance and construction tax 867,784.66 1,193,388.01
Surcharge for Education 774,542.02 1,074,133.02
Property tax 1,295,857.43 1,239,759.20
Land use tax 1,264,664.54 1,248,867.30
Vehicle and vessel use tax 6,716.40 –
Stamp tax 146,158.68 –
other 52,685.28 360,464.11

  

Total 4,408,409.01 5,116,611.64
  

Note 32. Selling and distribution expenses

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Freight charges – 27,915,760.12
Import and export declaration and storage fee – 3,847,060.02
Sales commission 396,572.12 612,115.01
Payroll and welfare 712,534.88 852,959.20
Other 284,678.67 631,225.05

  

Total 1,393,785.67 33,859,119.40
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VI Notes to key items in the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Note 33. General and administrative expenses

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Payroll and welfare 8,796,192.20 6,675,233.16
Depreciation and amortisation charges 2,881,757.60 3,288,063.08
Repair and motor vehicle expenses 33,322.97 2,717,613.19
Audit and consulting fees 1,238,473.99 2,620,366.24
Tax – 15,856.15
Office and travel expenses 239,743.91 850,479.14
other 1,018,035.47 744,814.49

  

Total 14,207,526.14 16,912,425.45
  

Note 34. Research and development expenses

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Employee compensation 960,175.01 550,724.02
Depreciation and amortisation 225,972.59 118,794.24
Experimental materials and inspection fee 142,374.48 177,609.01
Other 158,088.10 14,790.55

  

Total 1,486,610.18 861,917.82
  

Note 35. Financial expenses

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Interest expense 18,516.50 18,517.22
Less: Interest income 2,234,056.54 2,609,127.87
Exchange gain or loss 3,210,585.88 (4,004,504.76)
Bank charges 2,003,715.20 –
Other 348,650.00 162,003.62

  

Total 3,347,411.04 (6,433,111.79)
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VI Notes to key items in the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Note 36. Other income

1. Details of other income

Sources of other income
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Government subsidy 737,764.87 1,002,781.24
Refund of personal income tax handling fee 4,957.28 –

  

Total 742,722.15 1,002,781.24
  

2. Government grants included in other income

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Asset-related/
Related to revenue

Special fund for scientific and 
technological development 100,000.00 – Related to revenue

Industrial development fund – 792,000.00 Related to revenue
Steady-post subsidies 477,626.71 140,041.00 Related to revenue
Foreign trade subsidies 30,000.00 30,000.00 Related to revenue
Work-for-training grant 49,140.00 – Related to revenue
Other 80,998.16 40,740.24 Related to revenue

80,998.16 40,740.24

Total 737,764.87 1,002,781.24
  

Note 37. Investment income

1. Details of investment income

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Investment income from the disposal of financial asset 
hold for trading 4,219,537.05 5,662,069.81

Investment income in the period in which other debt 
investments are held 5,493,899.79 –

  

Total 9,713,436.84 5,662,069.81
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VI Notes to key items in the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Note 38. Profits arising from changes in fair value

Sources of profits arising from changes in fair value
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Financial assets held for trading (15,850,333.07) –
  

Total (15,850,333.07) –
  

Note 39. Credit losses

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Loss on bad debts of accounts receivable 3,391,968.68 (3,811,660.00)
Loss on bad debts of other receivables 22,618.44 –

  

Total 3,414,587.12 (3,811,660.00)
  

Note 40. Impairment losses

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Loss on depreciation of inventories (371.40) 18,047.12
Impairment loss on fixed assets – –

  

Total (371.40) 18,047.12
  

Note 41. Gains/(losses) from asset disposals

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Gains or losses on disposal of fixed assets 1,811.55 (1,349.40)
  

Total 1,811.55 (1,349.40)
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VI Notes to key items in the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Note 42. Non-operating income

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Included in current 
non-recurring profit 

or loss

Other 4,358.16 434.80 4,358.16
   

Total 4,358.16 434.80 4,358.16
   

Note 43. Non-operating expenses

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Included in current 
non-recurring profit 

or loss

Donations – 1,100,000.00 –
Losses from scrapping of fixed assets 9,441.84 33,820.56 9,441.84
Other 29,872.00 20,000.00 29,872.00

   

Total 39,313.84 1,153,820.56 39,313.84
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VI Notes to key items in the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Note 44. Income tax expense

1. Income tax expense statement

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Current income tax (126,442.99) 1,967,695.20
Deferred income tax – 171,881.21

  

Total (126,442.99) 2,139,576.41
  

2. Accounting profit and income tax expense adjustment process

Items
Current amount 

incurred

Total profit 51,711,448.20
Income tax expense at statutory applicable tax rates 12,927,862.05
The effect of applying different tax rates to subsidiaries –
Effect of adjustments to prior period income taxes –
Impact of non-taxable income (20,779,005.83)
Non-deductible costs, expenses and losses 25,504.88
Impact of the use of deductible losses from deferred income tax assets not 

recognised in prior periods –
The effect of deductible temporary differences or deductible losses on deferred 

income tax assets not recognised in the current period 7,699,195.91
Income tax expense (126,442.99)

 



104

VI Notes to key items in the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Note 45. Notes to the statement of cash flows

1. Cash received relating to other operating activities

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Cash received from rental of premises and sale of raw 
materials, etc. 4,420,164.39 3,030,119.40

Government subsidy 2,025,422.15 91,487,779.00
Collection and advance payment received 5,613,888.86 –

  

Total 12,059,475.40 94,517,898.40
  

2. Cash paid relating to other operating activities

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Fees and other expenses paid, etc. 4,151,415.49 43,669,966.68
  

Total 4,151,415.49 43,669,966.68
  

3. Cash received relating to other investing activities

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Interest income received from deposits 2,234,056.54 2,609,128.00
  

Total 2,234,056.54 2,609,128.00
  

4. Cash paid relating to other financing activities

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

H Share repurchase 23,872,408.21 –
Credit facility interest deduction 1,890,347.22 –

  

Total 25,762,755.43 –
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VI Notes to key items in the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Note 46. Supplementary information to the statement of cash flows

1. Supplementary information to the statement of cash flows

Items Current amount Prior period amount

1. Re conciliation of net profit to cash flows from 
operating activities

Net profits 51,837,891.19 86,490,641.69
Plus: Provision for impairment of assets 371.40 (18,047.12)
Credit impairment loss (3,414,587.12) 3,811,660.00
Depreciation of fixed assets, depletion of oil and gas 

assets, depreciation of productive biological assets 13,800,770.43 20,230,437.30
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,355,347.25 1,267,135.20
Amortisation of long-term prepaid expenses – –
Loss on disposal of fixed assets, intangible assets and 

other long-term assets (1,811.55) 1,349.40
Loss from retirement of fixed assets 9,441.84 33,821.56
Loss on changes in fair value 15,850,333.07 –
Finance expenses 1,519,380.91 (3,242,755.00)
Investment losses (9,713,436.84) (5,662,070.31)
Decrease in deferred income tax assets – –
Increase in deferred income tax liabilities – –
Decrease in inventories 268,115,042.29 263,249,717.62
Decrease in operating receivables (20,072,643.86) 103,717,359.59
Increase in operating payables 51,188,284.15 1,153,771.51
other – –
Net cash flows from operating activities 370,474,383.16 471,033,021.44

2. Si gnificant investments and fund-raising activities that 
do not involve cash receipts and payments

Debt-to-capital – –
Convertible corporate bonds due within one year – –
Fixed assets acquired under finance leases – –

3. Net changes in cash and cash equivalents – –
Closing balance of cash 350,250,578.98 731,473,515.45
Less: opening balance of cash 187,978,630.88 274,050,303.01
Plus: ending balance of cash equivalents – –
Less: opening balance of cash equivalents – –
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 162,271,948.10 457,423,212.44
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VI Notes to key items in the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Note 46. Supplementary information to the statement of cash flows (continued)

2. Composition of cash and cash equivalents

Items Closing balance Opening balance

I. cash 350,250,578.98 187,978,630.88
Of which: cash on hand 13,296.17 13,261.27
Bank deposits available for payment at any time 341,010,887.39 187,965,369.61
Other monetary funds readily available for payment 9,226,395.42 –

II. cash equivalents – –
Among them: bond investments with maturities within 

three months – –
III. ba lance of cash and cash equivalents at the end of 

the period 350,250,578.98 187,978,630.88
Where: restricted cash and cash equivalents are used 

by the parent or subsidiaries within the group – –
  

Note 47. Monetary items in foreign currencies

1. Monetary items in foreign currencies

Items
Closing foreign 

currency balance Translation rate
Closing translation 

of RMB balance

Cash at bank and cash on hand – – 131,810,083.30
Of which: USD 20,340,420.10 6.4601 131,401,147.89

Euro 0.05 7.6862 0.38
Hong Kong dollar 491,449.38 0.8321 408,935.03

Accounts receivables – – 238,658,093.74
Of which: USD 36,943,405.48 6.4601 238,658,093.74
Accounts payable – – 8,477,218.29
Of which: USD 1,312,242.58 6.4601 8,477,218.29

   

Note 48. Government subsidy

1. Basic information on government subsidies

Types of government grants
Current amount 

incurred

Amount credited 
to profit or loss 
for the current 

period Remarks

Government grants included in other 
income

737,764.87 737,764.87 See Note VI, 36 
for details

Government grants to offset the 
carrying amount of related assets

1,282,700.00

Total 2,020,464.87
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VII Interests in other entities

(I) Interests in subsidiaries

1. Composition of enterprise groups

Name of subsidiary type

Place of registration 
and place of 
business business nature registered capital scope of business

Actual 
contribution at the 

end of the period

Shareholding (%)
Method of 

obtainingdirect indirect

Baishui Andre Juice 
Co., Ltd.

Limited liability 
company 
(Sino-foreign joint 
venture)

Shaanxi Province, 
China

Production and sale 
of concentrated 
fruit juice

USD17,125,000 Produce fruit and vegetable juice 
concentrate, fruit and vegetable juice 
beverage and its by-products and 
packaging of iron products, and sell 
self-produced products.

USD17,125,000 74.44 25.56 Acquisition of 
establishment

Yantai Longkou Andre 
Juice Co., Ltd.

Limited liability 
company 
(Sino-foreign joint 
venture)

Shandong province, 
China

Production and sale 
of concentrated 
fruit juice

USD20,800,000 Production of fruit and vegetable juices and 
sale of self-produced products

USD20,800,000 43.59 56.41 Acquisition of 
establishment

Xuzhou Andre Juice 
Co., Ltd.

Limited liability 
company 
(Sino-foreign joint 
venture)

Jiangsu Province, 
China

Production and sale 
of concentrated 
fruit juice

USD10,000,000 Production of fruit and vegetable juices, 
beverages and by-products, sales of 
self-produced products, production of 
fruit and vegetable juice outer packaging 
iron drums.

USD10,000,000 75.00 25.00 Acquisition of 
establishment

Andre Juice Co., Ltd. limited liability 
company

British Virgin Islands Investment holding USD50,000 Investment holding. USD1 100.00 Acquisition of 
establishment

North Andre Juice 
Company Limited 
(USA) Inc.

limited liability 
company

United States of 
America

Concentrated fruit 
juice sales

USD1,900,000 Sales of concentrated juice. USD1,900,000 100.00 Acquisition of 
establishment

Dalian Andre Juice 
Co., Ltd.

limited liability 
company

Liaoning province, 
China

Production and sale 
of concentrated 
fruit juice

RMB80,000,000 Production and sales of various fruit and 
vegetable juice beverages, biological 
comprehensive utilization of apple 
essence, vegetables and fruit residues, 
acquisition of agricultural and sideline 
products (excluding grain), production 
of iron packaging, import and export of 
goods and technologies.

RMB80,000,000 70.00 30.00 Acquisition of 
establishment

Yantai Andre Juice 
Co., Ltd.

Limited liability 
company 
(Sino-foreign joint 
venture)

Shandong province, 
China

Pulp production 
and sales

USD4,832,000 We produce and process various fruit pulps 
and their by-products, sell our own 
products, and engage in the wholesale 
and import and export of concentrated 
fruit juices and pulps.

USD4,832,000 75.00 25.00 Acquisition of 
establishment

Yongji Andre Juice 
Co., Ltd.

Limited liability 
company 
(Sino-foreign joint 
venture)

Shanxi Province, 
China

Concentrated juice 
Production 
and sales

USD12,960,000 Production and sale of various kinds of fruit 
and vegetable juices and beverages, and 
biological comprehensive utilization 
of high-power natural apple essence 
and pomace.

USD12,960,000 75.00 25.00 Acquisition by 
consolidation 
under 
non-uniform 
control

Anyue Andre Lemon 
Industry Technology 
Co., Ltd.

limited liability 
company

Sichuan Province, 
China

Concentrated juice 
Production 
and sales

RMB50,000,000 Manufacturing and sales of lemon juice, 
orange juice, lemon oil, orange oil, 
lemon essence, orange essence, 
pomace, etc.

RMB50,000,000 100.00 Acquisition by 
consolidation 
under 
non-uniform 
control

Liquan Yitong Juice 
Co., Ltd.

limited liability 
company

Shaanxi Province, 
China

Concentrated juice 
Production 
and sales

RMB100,000,000 Production and sale of various kinds of fruit 
and vegetable juices and beverages.

RMB100,000,000 100.00 Acquisition by 
consolidation 
under 
non-uniform 
control

Yantai Andre Drinking 
Water Co., Ltd.

Limited liability 
company (foreign-
invested, non-
solely-owned)

Shandong province, 
China

Beverage 
production 
and sales

USD5,000,000 Ordinary goods storage service beverage 
production; Food business.

USD5,000,000 50.00 35.00 Acquisition of 
establishment
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VIII Disclosure of risks associated with financial instruments

The Company’s major financial instruments include monetary funds, equity investments, debt 
investments, Financial assets held for trading, receivables, payables, etc. Exposure to various financial 
instruments in daily activities, mainly including credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The risks 
associated with these financial instruments and the Company’s risk management policies to mitigate 
these risks are described below:

The Board is responsible for planning and establishing the Company’s risk management structure, 
formulating the Company’s risk management policies and relevant guidelines and overseeing the 
implementation of risk management measures. The Company has formulated risk management policies 
to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Company, these risk management policies specify 
specific risks and cover various aspects such as market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk management. 
The Company regularly assesses changes in the market environment and the Company’s operating 
activities to determine whether to update its risk management policies and systems. The Company’s risk 
management is carried out by the Risk Management Committee in accordance with policies approved 
by the Board of Directors. The Risk Management Committee identifies, evaluates and mitigates related 
risks through close cooperation with other business units of the Company. The Company’s internal 
audit department conducts regular audit on the risk management control and procedures and reports 
the audit results to the Company’s audit Committee. The Company diversified its exposure to financial 
instruments through an appropriate mix of diversified investments and businesses and reduced its 
exposure to a single industry, specific region or specific counterparty by developing appropriate risk 
management policies.

(I) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the Company will incur financial losses as a result of a counterparty’s failure 
to meet its contractual obligations, the management has established appropriate credit policies and 
continuously monitors exposure to credit risk.

The Company has adopted a policy of dealing only with creditworthy counterparties. In addition, the 
Company assesses the customer’s credit worthiness and sets a corresponding credit period based on 
the customer’s financial position, the likelihood of obtaining a guarantee from a third party, credit 
history and other factors such as current market conditions. The Company monitors bills receivable, 
balances of accounts receivable and collection status on an on-going basis, For customers with poor 
credit records, the Company applies written reminders, shortens the credit period or cancels the credit 
period to ensure that the Company does not face significant credit losses. In addition, the Company 
reviews the recovery of financial assets at each balance sheet date to ensure that adequate provision 
for expected credit losses is made for the relevant financial assets.

The Company’s other financial assets include monetary funds, other receivables, debt investments, etc, 
The credit risk of these financial assets arises from the default of the counterparty and the maximum 
credit risk exposure is the carrying amount of each financial asset in the balance sheet. The Company 
does not provide any other guarantees that may expose the Company to credit risk.
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VIII Disclosure of risks associated with financial instruments (continued)

(I) Credit risk (continued)

The monetary funds held by the Company are mainly deposited in financial institutions such as state-
owned holding banks and other large and medium-sized commercial banks,The management believes 
that these commercial banks have high reputation and asset status, do not have significant credit risk, 
and will not cause any significant loss due to the default of the counterparty. The Company’s policy 
is to limit the amount of credit risk to any individual financial institution by controlling the amount 
of deposits placed with each reputable financial institution based on its market reputation, scale of 
operations and financial background.

As part of the Company’s credit risk asset management, the Company assesses impairment losses 
on trade and other receivables based on historical credit loss experience, taking into account current 
conditions and expectations of future economic conditions. The Company’s trade receivables involve 
a large number of customers whose historical credit loss experience reflects their solvency and bad 
debt risk on trade and other receivables. The Company calculated the historical actual bad debt rates 
for different aging periods based on historical data, and adjusted the expected loss rate by taking into 
account the forecast of current and future economic conditions, such as the national GDP growth rate, 
total infrastructure investment, national monetary policy and other forward-looking information. For 
long-term receivables, the Company makes a reasonable assessment of the ECL after adjusting for the 
settlement period, contractual payment period, the financial position of the debtor and the economic 
situation of the industry in which the debtor is located, taking into account the above forward-looking 
information.

As at 30 June 2021, the carrying amounts and expected credit impairment losses of the relevant assets 
are as follows:

Aging book balance Impairment allowance

Notes receivable 6,583,956.50 –
Accounts receivable 225,404,694.71 15,171,805.40
Other receivables 909,510.39 75,337.36

  

Total 232,898,161.60 15,247,142.76
  

The Company’s principal customers are large international group companies such as Coca-Cola which 
have reliable and good reputation and therefore, the Company does not consider these customers to 
have significant credit risk. There is no significant concentration of credit risk as the Company has 
a wide range of customers.
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VIII Disclosure of risks associated with financial instruments (continued)

(II) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an enterprise will experience a shortage of funds when it meets its 
obligation to settle by delivering cash or other financial assets. Each of the Company’s subsidiaries 
is responsible for its own cash management, including the short-term investment of cash surpluses 
and the raising of loans to meet expected cash requirements (subject to the approval of the Board 
of Directors of the Company if the amount of borrowings exceeds certain pre-established authorised 
limits). The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor the short-term and long-term liquidity requirements 
and compliance with borrowing agreements to ensure that adequate cash reserves and marketable 
securities are maintained and sufficient reserves are pledged by major financial institutions to meet 
the short-term and longer-term liquidity requirements.

As at 30 June 2021, the Company’s financial liabilities and off-balance-sheet guarantee items are 
presented as follows based on the remaining contractual terms using undiscounted contractual cash 
flows:

Items

closing balance
Immediate 
repayment Within 1 month 1-3 months 3 months -1 year 1-5 years More than 5 years Total

Non-derivative 
financial liabilities

Accounts payable 36,788,460.31 – – – – – 36,788,460.31
other payable– 15,901,199.28 – – – –– – 15,901,199.28
long-term payables – – – – 489,040.50 1,111,000.00 1,600,040.50
Subtotal, non-

derivative financial 
liabilities 50,170,186.44 – – – 489,040.50 1,111,000.00 51,770,226.94

       

Total 50,170,186.44 – – – 489,040.50 1,111,000.00 51,770,226.94
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VIII Disclosure of risks associated with financial instruments (continued)

(III) Market risk

1. Exchange rate risk

The principal operations of the Company are located in the PRC and the principal operations 
are settled in RMB. However, foreign currency assets and liabilities recognised by the Company 
and future foreign currency transactions in which the currencies of valuation of foreign currency 
assets and liabilities and foreign currency transactions are mainly USD and HKD remain subject 
to exchange rate risk. The financial department of the Company is responsible for monitoring 
the scale of the Company’s foreign currency transactions and foreign currency assets and 
liabilities to minimise the exposure to foreign exchange risk; To this end, the Company will 
sign forward settlement and sale contracts to avoid exchange rate risk.

The forward foreign exchange contracts entered into by the Company during the year are as 
follows:

(1) The Company attaches great importance to the study of exchange rate risk management 
policies and strategies, In order to avoid the exchange rate risk of export receivables, 
the Group has entered into a number of forward foreign exchange contracts with banks. 
The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts in which the financial assets held 
for trading were recognised was RMB15,338,000.00 as at 30 June 2021. Changes in 
the fair value of the financial assets held for trading have been included in the profit 
or loss. Relevant contents are in “VI, Note 2, Financial Assets Held for Trading”. At 
the same time, with the increasing share of the international market, the Company will 
adjust the sales policy to reduce the risks arising from the Group’s uncontrollable risks 
such as RMB appreciation.
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VIII Disclosure of risks associated with financial instruments (continued)

(III) Market risk (continued)

1. Exchange rate risk (continued)

(2) As of June 30, 2021, the amounts of foreign currency financial assets and foreign 
currency financial liabilities held by the Company translated into RMB are as follows:

Items

closing balance

US dollar item
Hong Kong 
dollar item Euro project Total

Foreign currency 
financial 
assets:

Cash at bank and 
cash on hand 131,401,147.89 408,935.30 0.38 131,810,083.30

Receivables 238,658,093.74 – – 238,658,093.74
    

subtotal 370,059,241.63 408,935.30 0.38 370,468,177.04
    

Foreign currency 
financial 
liabilities:

Accounts payable 8,477,218.29 – – 8,477,218.29
    

subtotal 8,477,218.29 – – 8,477,218.29
    

(3) Sensitivity analysis:

As of June 30, 2021, for the Company’s various USD and HKD financial assets and 
USD and HKD financial liabilities, if RMB had strengthened or weakened by 5% against 
USD and HKD with other factors held constant, the Company would have decreased or 
increased net profit by approximately RMB18,099,547.45.

2. Interest rate risk

The Company’s interest rate risk arises mainly from bank deposits, etc. Floating rate financial 
liabilities expose the Company to cash flow interest rate risk and fixed rate financial liabilities 
expose the Company to fair value interest rate risk. The Company determines the relative 
proportions of fixed rate and floating rate contracts based on the prevailing market conditions.

The Company’s finance department monitors the Company’s interest rate level on an ongoing 
basis. The increase in interest rates will increase the cost of new interest-bearing debt and the 
interest expense of the Company’s outstanding interest-bearing debt with floating interest rates, 
and will have a significant adverse impact on the Company’s financial results,The management 
will make adjustments in a timely manner based on the latest market conditions, which may 
be an arrangement for interest rate swap to reduce the interest rate risk.
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VIII Disclosure of risks associated with financial instruments (continued)

(III) Market risk (continued)

2. Interest rate risk (continued)

(1) The Company has no interest rate swap arrangement during the year.

(2) sensitivity analysis:

As of 30 June 2021, if the interest rate on bank deposits calculated using floating interest rate 
had increased or decreased by 50 basis points with other factors held constant, the net profit 
of the Company would have increased or decreased by approximately RMB1,705,054.44.

The sensitivity analysis above assumes that a change in interest rates has occurred at the balance 
sheet date and has been applied to all of the Company’s bank deposits obtained at floating rates.

3. Price risk

Price risk represents the risk of fluctuations in market prices other than exchange rate risk and 
interest rate risk arising primarily from changes in commodity prices, stock market indices, 
equity instrument prices and other risk variables.

Investment price risk on equity instruments is the risk that the fair value of equity securities will 
decrease due to changes in the level of the stock index and the value of individual securities. 
As at 30 June 2021, the Company was exposed to the price risk of investments in equity 
instruments arising from individual investments in equity instruments classified as available-
for-sale investments. The investments in listed equity instruments held by the Company are 
listed on the stock exchange and are measured at quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Company’s net profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income net after tax to every 5% change in the fair value of the investment 
in equity instruments, based on the carrying amount at the balance sheet date, with all other 
variables held constant. For the purposes of this sensitivity analysis, for an investment in an 
available-for-sale equity instrument, the impact is considered to be the impact on changes in 
the fair value of the investment in an available-for-sale equity instrument, without taking into 
account factors such as impairment that may affect the income statement.

Investment in  
equity instruments 

book value

Increase/
(decrease) in net 

profit or loss

Increase/
(decrease) in net 

after tax in other 
comprehensive 

income

Inrease/
(decrease) in total 

shareholders’ 
equity

January- 
June 2021 137,892,671.56 6,937,905.86 – 6,937,905.86
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IX Fair value

(I) Financial instruments measured at fair value

The Company presents the carrying amounts of financial asset instruments measured at fair value at 
three levels of fair value as at 30 June 2021. When fair value is classified into three levels as a whole, it 
is based on the lowest of the three levels for each significant input used in the fair value measurement. 
The three levels are defined as follows:

Level 1: unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are available 
at the measurement date;

Level 2: inputs that are observable for the underlying asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, 
in addition to the level 1 inputs;

Level 2 inputs include: 1) quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 2) quoted 
prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in an inactive market; 3) other observable inputs other 
than quoted prices, including interest rate and yield curves, implied volatility and credit spread that are 
observable during the normal quote interval; 4) input value for market verification, etc.

Level 3: is the unobservable input to the related asset or liability.

(II) Final fair value measurement

1. Ongoing fair value measurement

Items
closing fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Subtotal of financial 
assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 411,799,482.88 – – 411,799,482.88

Assets management plan 213,083,005.72 – – 213,083,005.72
Funds 51,485,805.60 – – 51,485,805.60
Investment in equity 

instruments 131,892,671.56 – – 131,892,671.56
Derivative financial 

assets 15,338,000.00 – – 15,338,000.00
    

Total assets 411,799,482.88 – – 411,799,482.88
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IX Fair value (continued)

(III) Basis for determining the market price of continuing and non-continuing level 1 fair value 
measurement items

1. Fair value of fund products investment is based on the net assets value of the fund provided 
by the fund company on the last working day of each month.

2. Fair value of asset management plan is based on the net assets value of the asset management 
plan provided by the asset management company as the end of the period.

3. Fair value of the equity instrument investment is measured based on the closing price of the 
stock in A-share securities market on the last working day in each month.

4. The financial assets held for trading (derivative financial assets) as at June 30, 2021 are forward 
exchange transaction purchased by the Company from banks. The fair value of forward exchange 
transaction is calculated based on the forward exchange rates agreed in the contracts and the 
estimated exchange rates at the end of the period with the foreign exchange forward contracts 
by the banks.

X Related parties and related party transactions

(I) Ultimate holding party of the Company

The ultimate controlling parties of the Company are Wang An and Wang Meng (father and daughter ).

(II) See Note VII (I) Interests in Subsidiaries for details of the Company’s subsidiaries
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X Related parties and related party transactions (continued)

(III) Other related parties

Other related party names
Relationship between other related parties and 
the Company

Shandong Andre Group Co., Ltd. Controlling shareholder
President Enterprises (China) Investment Co., 

Ltd. and its subsidiaries
Enterprises that have a significant impact on the 

Company (i)
Guangzhou President Enterprises Co., Ltd. Enterprise that have a significant impact on the 

Company (i)
Chengdu President Enterprise Food Co., Ltd. Enterprise that have a significant impact on the 

Company (i)
Yantai Andre Yangma Resort Co., Ltd. Enterprise under the same ultimate control
Yantai Andre Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. Enterprise under the same ultimate control
Yantai Andre Property Management Co., Ltd. Enterprise under the same ultimate control
Yantai DSM Andre Pectin Co., Ltd. Under significant influence of the same ultimate 

holding company
Yantai Hengtong Heat Co., Ltd. Enterprise under the same ultimate control
Yantai Yitong Heat Co., Ltd. Enterprise under the same ultimate control
Yantai Hengda Cement Co., Ltd. Enterprise under the same ultimate control
Yantai Hengli Concrete LLC. An enterprise that is significantly affected by the 

ultimate controlling party
Yantai Xinping Jian’an Co., Ltd. The ultimate controlling party is the enterprise 

controlled by close family members.
Yantai Xingan Investment Centre (Limited 

Partnership)
Enterprise controlled by key management 

personnel of the Company
Donghua Fruit Industry Co., Ltd. Controlling shareholder
China Pingan Investment Holdings Limited Controlling shareholder
Yantai Andre Holiday Hotel Plaza Limited Enterprise under the same ultimate control
Yantai Andre Construction and Installation 

Engineering Co., Ltd.
Enterprise under the same ultimate control

Kunlong Spring Resort Ltd. Enterprise under the same ultimate control
Mitsui Products & Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries Enterprises holding more than 5% of the 

Company’s shares (ii)

(i) Uni-President Enterprises Co., Ltd. exercised effective voting rights at the general meeting of 
shareholders and their representatives on the board of directors of the Company through its 
subsidiaries, Chengdu Uni-President Enterprises Food Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou Uni-President 
Enterprises Co., Ltd., thus exerting significant influence on the Company.

(ii) Mitsui Products & Co., Ltd. sold part of its shares in the Company on 28 April 2021, resulting 
in a holding ratio of less than 5%. According to the Listing Rules of Shanghai Stock Exchange, 
the aforesaid events will still be recognized as related parties within 12 months after their 
occurrence.
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X Related parties and related party transactions (continued)

(IV) Related party transaction

1. Transactions between subsidiaries that have a control relationship and are included in the 
scope of the Company’s consolidated financial statements and transactions between parent and 
subsidiary are eliminated.

2. Related party transactions of purchasing goods and receiving services

Affiliated party
Related party 
transactions

Current 
amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Yantai Hengda Cement Co., Ltd. Procurement of 
commodities

57.08 –

Yantai Hengtong Heat Co., Ltd. Procurement of 
commodities

5,133.79 –

Liquan Yitong Heat Co., Ltd. Purchase of steam, 
electricity

585,745.32 668,813.10

Yantai Andre Holiday Hotel Plaza 
Limited

Purchases of service 80,994.91 69,025.01

Yantai DSM Andre Pectin Co., Ltd. Procurement of goods 
and services

59,122.40 160,422.02

Yantai Andre Construction and 
Installation Engineering Co., Ltd.

Procurement of goods 
and services

2,704,624.60 715,046.03

Kunlong Spring Resort Ltd Procurement of goods 
and services

151,439.00 84,374.02

  

Total 3,587,117.10 1,697,680.18
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X Related parties and related party transactions (continued)

(IV) Related party transaction (continued)

3. Related party transactions of selling goods and providing services

Affiliated party
Related party 
transactions

Current 
amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

President Enterprises (China) 
Investment Co., Ltd. and its 
subsidiaries

Sales of goods 11,872,707.39 7,677,430.33

Yantai DSM Andre Pectin Co., Ltd. Sales of goods 9,258,819.48 15,886,816.11
Yantai Hengtong Heat Co., Ltd. Sales of goods 23,459.68 16,062.12
Yantai Yitong Heat Co., Ltd. Sales of goods 23,145.13 13,171.31
Yantai Andre Yangma Resort Co., 

Ltd.
Sales of goods 3,868.14 2,628.23

Yantai Andre Real Estate 
Development Co., Ltd.

Sales of goods 14,015.04 8,119.21

Yantai Andre Property Management 
Co., Ltd.

Sales of goods 11,681.42 10,922.31

Yantai Andre Construction and 
Installation Engineering Co., Ltd.

Sales of goods 6,772.57 3,738.12

Yantai Hengda Cement Co., Ltd. Sales of goods 4,144.25 3,037.25
Yantai Hengli Concrete LLC. Sales of goods 5,949.56 3,796.34
Mitsui Products & Co., Ltd. and its 

subsidiaries
Sales of goods 25,238,117.85 29,841,084.00

Yantai Andre Holiday Hotel Plaza 
Limited

Sales of goods 29,450.45 11,681.85

Kunlong Spring Resort Ltd. Sales of goods 43,030.09 26,196.07
President Enterprises (China) 

Investment Co., Ltd. and its 
subsidiaries

Sales of service 402,297.89 279,587.00

Yantai DSM Andre Pectin Co., Ltd. Sales of service 249,420.00 249,420.00
Yantai Andre Construction and 

Installation Engineering Co., Ltd.
Sales of service 15,517.53 12,781.21

Yantai Andre Real Estate 
Development Co., Ltd.

Sales of service 157,206.33 103,083.31

Yantai Andre Property Management 
Co., Ltd.

Sales of service 172.70 –

  

Total 47,359,775.50 54,149,554.77
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X Related parties and related party transactions (continued)

(IV) Related party transaction (continued)

4. Related lease conditions

(1) The Company acts as a lessor

Name of lessee
Types of leased 
assets

Lease income 
recognised in 

the current 
period

Lease income 
recognised in 

prior period

Yantai DSM Andre Pectin Co., 
Ltd.

House lease 424,390.46 424,390.46

Yantai Andre Real Estate 
Development Co., Ltd.

House lease 99,229.36 54,080.54

Yantai Andre Construction and 
Installation Engineering Co., 
Ltd.

House lease 116,440.35 –

  

Total 640,060.17 478,471.00
  

5. Remuneration of key management personnel

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Remuneration of key management personnel 1,531,633.27 1,523,332.21
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X Related parties and related party transactions (continued)

(IV) Related party transaction (continued)

6. Receivables and payables from related parties

(1) Amounts due from related parties of the Company

Project name Affiliated party

Closing balance Opening balance

book balance
bad-debt 
provision book balance

bad-debt 
provision

Account 
receivables

Yantai DSM Andre Pectin Co., Ltd.
5,176,622.10 310,597.33 15,235,809.56 1,218,864.76

President Enterprises (China) Investment 
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries 4,811,632.20 349,166.17 1,960,352.50 156,828.20

Mitsui Products Co., Ltd. and its 
subsidiaries 522,371.12 31,342.27 353,072.78 28,245.82

Yantai Andre Construction and 
Installation Engineering Co., Ltd. 116,142.81 6,968.57 17,610.81 1,408.86

Yantai Andre Yangma Resort Co., Ltd. – – 1,122.00 89.76
Yantai Tongli Beverage Industry 

Co., Ltd. – – 116.00 9.28
Yantai Andre Real Estate Development 

Co., Ltd. 168,540.00 10,112.40 – –
Kunlong Spring Resort Ltd. 21,300.00 1,278.00 – –

Other 
receivables

President Enterprises (China) Investment 
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries – – 60,000.00 3,000.00

(2) Accounts due to related parties of the Company

Project name Affiliated party
Closing 
balance

Opening 
balance

Accounts 
payable

Yantai Andre Construction and 
Installation Engineering Co., Ltd. 302,449.19 68,369.00

Yantai Yitong Heat Co., Ltd. 6,182.56 6,182.56
Yantai Andre Holiday Hotel Plaza 

Limited – 3,169.00
Yantai DSM Andre Pectin Co., Ltd. 16,832.00 –

Other payables Yantai Yitong Heat Co., Ltd. – 508,174.23
Yantai Andre Construction and 

Installation Engineering Co., Ltd. 72,050.00 72,050.00
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XI Commitments and contingencies

(I) Significant commitments

1. Foreign investment contracts and related financial expenditures that have not yet been performed 
or fully performed

Yantai Andre Drinking Water Co., Ltd, was established on 13 November 2020 with the joint 
contribution of the Company and its subsidiaries, Andre Juice Co., Ltd., Yantai Xinweishun 
Packaging Co., Ltd, and Yantai Rongze Carton Factory. The registered capital of the Company 
is USD5 million, of which USD2.5 million is subscribed by the Company, accounting for 
50.00% of the registered capital; Andre Juice Co., Ltd, subscribed USD1.75 million, accounting 
for 35.00% of the registered capital; Yantai Xinweishun Packaging Co., Ltd, subscribed 
USD500,000, accounting for 10.00% of the registered capital; Yantai Rongze Carton Factory 
subscribed USD250,000, accounting for 5.00% of the registered capital. As of 30 June 2021, the 
contributions of the remaining shareholders have not been made yet. Therefore, the Company 
and the Company’s subsidiary, Andre Juice Co., Ltd., are required to fulfill their obligations 
to contribute USD2.5 million and USD1.25 million respectively to Yantai Andre Drinking 
Water Co., Ltd.

(II) Significant contingencies existing at the balance sheet date

1. Contingencies arising from outstanding litigations and arbitration and related financial impact

Yongji Andre Juice Co., Ltd., a controlling subsidiary of the Company, was sued by others in 
relation to a debt dispute with an amount of RMB4,476,731.64,As of the date of approval of 
these financial statements, the case is still proceeding.

Except above contingencies, as at 30 June 2021, the Company had no other significant 
contingencies that should be disclosed but not disclosed.

XII Subsequent events

Up to the date of approval of the financial report, the Company has no other material post-balance 
sheet events that should be disclosed but not disclosed.
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XIII Description of other important matters

(I) Other important transactions and events that have an impact on the decision-making of investors

1. Capital commitment

Items 30 June 2021 31 December 2020

Contracts for the purchase of fixed assets that 
have been signed and are being or are about to 
be performed 2,078,900.00 4,516,992.82

  

XIV Notes to Major Items in the Financial Statements of the Parent Company

Note 1. Accounts receivable

1. Disclosure of trade receivables by age

Aging Closing balance Opening balance

Within 6 months (inclusive) 185,882,721.86 111,723,851.56
6 months to 1 year (inclusive) 3,169,372.02 17,115,533.55
2 to 3 years (inclusive) – 2,612.50
More than 3 years 2,612.50 –

  

subtotal 189,054,706.38 128,841,997.61

Less: bad debt allowance 12,176,051.00 10,757,192.00
  

Total 176,878,655.38 118,084,805.61
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XIV Notes to Major Items in the Financial Statements of the Parent Company (continued)

Note 1. Accounts receivable (continued)

2. Classified disclosure by bad debt provision accrual method

Type

Closing balance
Book balance Bad-debt provision

Book valueAmount
Percentage 

(%) Amount

Accrual 
proportion 

(%)

Accounts receivable for which ECLs are 
accrued Accounts receivable for which 
ECLs are accrued individually – – – – –

Trade receivables with expected credit losses 
by portfolio 189,054,706.38 100.00 12,176,051.00 6.44 176,878,655.38

Where: Portfolio 1: Portfolio of amounts due 
from customers 189,054,706.38 100.00 12,176,051.00 6.44 176,878,655.38

   

Total 189,054,706.38 100.00 12,176,051.00 6.44 176,878,655.38
   

Type

Opening balance
Book balance Bad-debt provision

Book valueAmount
Percentage 

(%) Amount

Accrual 
percentage 

(%)

Accounts receivable for which ECLs are 
accrued individually – – – – –

Trade receivables with expected credit losses 
by portfolio 128,841,997.61 100.00 10,757,192.00 8.35 118,084,805.61

Where: Portfolio 1: Portfolio of amounts due 
from customers 128,841,997.61 100.00 10,757,192.00 8.35 118,084,805.61

     

Total 128,841,997.61 100.00 10,757,192.00 8.35 118,084,805.61
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XIV Notes to Major Items in the Financial Statements of the Parent Company (continued)

Note 1. Accounts receivable (continued)

3. Trade receivables with expected credit losses by portfolio

(1) Portfolio 1 Portfolio of amounts due from customers

Overdue time

closing balance

book balance bad-debt provision
Accrual percentage 

(%)

Not past due 184,050,822.24 11,043,049.00 6.00
Within 30 days overdue 4,673,320.82 934,664.00 20.00
Overdue for 31-60 days 330,563.32 198,338.00 60.00

   

Total 189,054,706.38 12,176,051.00 6.44
   

4. Provision for bad debts withdrawn, recovered or reversed in the current period

Type
Opening 
balance

Changes in current period

closing balanceProvision
Recovery or 

reversal
cancel after 
verification Other changes

Accounts receivable for which ECLs are accrued 
individually – – – – – –

Trade receivables with expected credit losses by 
portfolio 10,757,192.00 1,418,859.00 – – – 12,176,051.00

Where: Portfolio 1: Portfolio of amounts due from 
customers 10,757,192.00 1,418,859.00 – – – 12,176,051.00

      

Total 10,757,192.00 1,418,859.00 – – – 12,176,051.00
      

5. There are no accounts receivable actually written off in the current period.
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XIV Notes to Major Items in the Financial Statements of the Parent Company (continued)

Note 1. Accounts receivable (continued)

6. Five largest accounts receivable by debtor at the end of the period

Name of organization Closing balance

Percentage of 
accounts receivable 
ending balance (%)

Provision for bad 
debts has been made

Summary of the Top Five 
Accounts Receivable in the 
Closing Balance 113,301,463.15 59.93 6,798,087.79

Note 2. Other receivables

Items Closing balance Opening balance

Interest receivable – –
Dividends receivable 25,699,658.48 25,699,658.48
Other receivables 72,413,647.02 146,515,273.55

  

Total 98,113,305.50 172,214,932.03
  

Note: Other receivables in the above table refer to other receivables after deducting interest receivable and 
dividend receivable.

(I) Dividends receivable

1. Dividends receivable

Investee Closing balance Opening balance

Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 25,699,658.48 25,699,658.48
  

Total 25,699,658.48 25,699,658.48
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XIV Notes to Major Items in the Financial Statements of the Parent Company (continued)

Note 2. Other receivables (continued)

(II) Other receivables

1. Disclosure of other receivables by age

Aging

Closing balance

Other receivables Bad-debt provision
Accrual percentage 

(%)

Within 1 year 2,131,150.53 12,832.05 0.60
1-2 years 19,460,674.32 2,500.00 0.01
2-3 years 10,210,042.12 – –
3-4 years 4,549,062.18 – –
4-5 years 3,149,898.48 – –
More than 5 years 32,928,151.44 – –

   

subtotal 72,428,979.07 15,332.05 0.02

Less: bad debt allowance 15,332.05 – –
   

Total 72,413,647.02 – –
   

Note: Long aging receivables are mainly amounts due from subsidiaries within the scope of 
consolidation.

2. Breakdown by nature of amounts

Nature of money Closing balance Opening balance

Consolidated subsidiaries 72,147,338.07 145,773,003.07
VAT refund – 479,788.19
other 281,641.00 301,549.16

  

Total 72,428,979.07 146,554,340.42
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XIV Notes to Major Items in the Financial Statements of the Parent Company (continued)

Note 2. Other receivables (continued)

(II) Other receivables (continued)

3. Disclosed in three stages of impairment of financial assets

Items

closing balance Opening balance

book balance
bad-debt 
provision book value book balance

bad-debt 
provision book value

Stage I 72,428,979.07 15,332.05 72,413,647.02 146,554,340.42 39,066.87 146,515,273.55
Stage II – – – – – –
Stage III – – – – – –

      

Total 72,428,979.07 15,332.05 72,413,647.02 146,554,340.42 39,066.87 146,515,273.55
      

4. Classified disclosure by bad debt provision accrual method

Type

closing balance
book balance bad-debt provision

book valueAmount
Proportion 

(%) Amount

Accrual 
percentage 

(%)

Other receivables for which 
expected credit losses are 
accrued individually – – – – –

Other receivables for which ECLs 
are accrued by portfolio 72,428,979.07 100.00 15,332.05 0.02 72,413,647.02

Of which: Group 1 Consolidated 
Related Parties 72,147,338.07 99.61 – – 72,147,338.07

Low credit risk portfolios such 
as margin and reserve fund 
portfolios 281,641.00 0.39 15,332.05 5.44 266,308.95

     

Total 72,428,979.07 100.00 15,332.05 0.02 72,413,647.02
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XIV Notes to Major Items in the Financial Statements of the Parent Company (continued)

Note 2. Other receivables (continued)

(II) Other receivables (continued)

4. Classified disclosure by bad debt provision accrual method (continued)

Type

Opening balance
book balance bad-debt provision

Amount
Percentage 

(%) Amount

Accrual 
percentage 

(%) book value

Other receivables for which 
expected credit losses are 
accrued individually – – – – –

Other receivables for which ECLs 
are accrued by portfolio 146,554,340.42 100.00 39,066.87 0.03 146,515,273.55

Of which: Group 1 Consolidated 
Related Parties 145,773,003.07 99.47 – – 145,773,003.07

Export tax rebate portfolio 479,788.19 0.33 23,989.41 5.00 455,798.78
Low credit risk portfolios such 

as margin and reserve fund 
portfolios 301,549.16 0.20 15,077.46 5.00 286,471.70

     

Total 146,554,340.42 100.00 39,066.87 0.03 146,515,273.55
     

5. There are no other receivables actually written off in the current period.



129

XIV Notes to Major Items in the Financial Statements of the Parent Company (continued)

Note 2. Other receivables (continued)

(II) Other receivables (continued)

6. Other receivables in the top five of the ending balance aggregated by the defaulting party

Name of organization Nature of money Closing balance Aging

Percentage of other 
receivables ending 

balance (%)
Bad-debt provision 

closing balance

Anyue Andre Lemon Industry 
Technology Co., Ltd.

Transactions 68,503,232.88 Within 1 year: 595,324.44;
1-2 years: 19,435,674.32;
2-3 years: 10,210,042.12;
3-4 years: 2,184,142.08;
4-5 years: 3,149,898.48;
Over 5 years: 32,928,151.44

94.58 –

Yongji Andre Juice Co., Ltd. Transactions 3,644,105.19 Within 1 year: 1,299,185.09; 
More than 5 years 2,344,920.10

5.03 –

Tianjin Wahaha Hongzhen Food & 
Beverage Trading Co., Ltd.

Margin 100,000.00 Within 1 year 0.14 5,000.00

Jinmailang Beverage Co., Ltd. 
Longyao Branch

Margin 100,000.00 Within 1 year 0.14 5,000.00

Wang Lei Others 33,000.00 Within 1 year: 8,000.00;
1-2 years: 25,000.00

0.05 2,900.00

   

Total 72,380,338.07 99.94 12,900.00
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XIV Notes to Major Items in the Financial Statements of the Parent Company (continued)

Note 3. Long – term equity investment

Nature of money

Closing balance Opening balance

Book balance
Impairment 

allowance Book value Book balance
Impairment 

allowance Book value

Investment in subsidiaries 465,462,158.14 35,667,333.86 429,794,824.28 465,462,158.14 35,667,333.86 429,794,824.28
Investment in associates and 

joint ventures – – – – – –
      

Total 465,462,158.14 35,667,333.86 429,794,824.28 465,462,158.14 35,667,333.86 429,794,824.28
      

1. Investment in subsidiaries

Investee
Initial investment 

cost Opening balance
Increase in current 

period
Decrease in current 

period Closing balance

Provision for 
impairment in 
current period

Closing balance 
of impairment 

allowance

Baishui Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 110,630,130.07 110,630,130.07 – – 110,630,130.07 – –
Yantai Longkou Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 80,622,695.55 80,622,695.55 – – 80,622,695.55 – –
Xuzhou Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 58,645,418.00 58,645,418.00 – – 58,645,418.00 – –
Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 8.00 8.00 – – 8.00 – –
Dalian Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 56,000,000.00 56,000,000.00 – – 56,000,000.00 – –
Yantai Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 30,000,000.00 30,000,000.00 – – 30,000,000.00 – –
Yongji Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 77,443,906.52 77,443,906.52 – – 77,443,906.52 – –
Anyue Andre Lemon Industry 

Technology Co., Ltd. 52,120,000.00 52,120,000.00 – – 52,120,000.00 – 35,667,333.86
       

Total 465,462,158.14 465,462,158.14 – – 465,462,158.14 – 35,667,333.86
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XIV Notes to Major Items in the Financial Statements of the Parent Company (continued)

Note 4. Operating income and operating costs

1. Operating income, operating costs

Items
Current amount incurred Prior period occurrence

income cost income cost

Principal businesses 288,529,861.01 283,901,708.34 323,784,206.83 291,678,053.22
Other business 4,769,566.01 3,351,796.85 3,985,483.05 2,898,515.60

    

Total 293,299,427.02 287,253,505.19 327,769,689.88 294,576,568.82
    

Note 5. Investment income

Items
Current amount 

incurred
Prior period 
occurrence

Long-term equity investment income accounted for by cost 
method – 7,904,651.00

Investment income from disposal of financial assets held for 
trading 4,219,537.05 5,345,038.99

Investment income in the period in which other debt 
investments are held 5,493,899.79 –

  

Total 9,713,436.84 13,249,689.99
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XV Supplementary information

(I) List of current non-recurring profit and loss

Items Amount

Profit or loss on disposal of non-current assets (7,630.29)
Government grants included in the profit or loss of the current period (except 

for government grants that are closely related to the business of the 
enterprise and are fixed or quantitatively enjoyed in accordance with the 
unified national standard) 742,722.15

Profit or loss on changes in fair value arising from the holding of trading 
financial assets and trading financial liabilities, and investment income 
from the disposal of trading financial assets, trading financial liabilities, 
debt investments and other debt investments, other than effective hedging 
business in relation to the normal operations of the Company (6,136,896.23)

Other non-operating income and expenses other than those mentioned above (25,513.84)
 

Total (5,427,318.21)
 

(II) Return on net assets and earnings per share

Profit for the Reporting Period

Weighted average  
Return on net assets 

(%)

Earnings per share
Basic earnings  

per share
Dilute earnings  

per share

Net profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of the Company 2.44 0.140 0.140

Net profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of the Company 
after deducting non-recurring 
profit or loss 2.69 0.155 0.155
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MAJOR FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND INDICATORS

1. Major financial information

Major financial information
Jan – Jun 2021 

RMB
Jan – Jun 2020 

RMB
Change 

(%)

Operating income 418,371,887.26 470,121,307.00 (11.01)
Net profit attributable to equity shareholders of 

the Company 51,837,891.19 86,490,641.69 (40.07)
Net profit attributable to equity shareholders 

of the Company after deduction of 
extraordinary gain/loss 57,265,209.40 80,711,735.69 (29.05)

Net cash flows from operating activities 370,474,383.16 471,033,021.44 (21.35)

Amount at the 
end of the period 

RMB

Amount at the end 
of the previous 

year
RMB

Percentage changes 
in amount at the 

end of the period 
as compared to that 

at the end of the 
previous year 

(%)

Net assets attributable to equity shareholders 
of the Company 2,117,391,603.83 2,107,791,120.85 0.46

Total assets 2,279,273,819.32 2,224,359,551.49 2.47

2. Major financial indicators

Major financial indicators Jan – Jun 2021 Jan – Jun 2020
Change 

(%)

Basic earnings per share (RMB/share) 0.140 0.242 (42.15)
Diluted earnings per share (RMB/share) 0.140 0.242 (42.15)
Basic earnings per share after deduction of 

extraordinary gain or loss (RMB/share) 0.155 0.225 (31.11)
Weighted average earnings on net assets (%) 2.44 4.42 (1.98)
Weighted average earnings on net assets after 

deduction of extraordinary gain or loss (%) 2.69 4.13 (1.44)
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3. Extraordinary gain or loss items and amounts

Extraordinary gain or loss item Jan-Jun 2021
RMB

Gains or losses on disposal of non-current assets (7,630.29)
Government grant recognised in profit or loss other than those 

closely related to the Company’s normal operations, and entitled 
to fixed amounts or quantities on a continuous basis according 
to national standards

742,722.15

Profit and loss of fair value changes arising from the holding 
of trading financial assets, derivative financial assets, trading 
financial liabilities, derivative financial liabilities, and 
investment income obtained from the disposal of trading 
financial assets, derivative financial assets, trading financial 
liabilities, derivative financial liabilities and other creditor’s 
rights investment other than the effective hedging business 
related to the Company’s normal operations

(6,136,896.23)

Non-operating income and expenses other than those stated above (25,513.84)
 

Total (5,427,318.21)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Major Operating Performance

For the six months ended 30 June 2021, the Group’s turnover was approximately RMB418,371,887 
as compared to approximately RMB470,121,307 for the corresponding period in 2020, representing 
a decrease of approximately RMB51,749,420 or 11%. The Group’s turnover was principally 
derived from the production and sale of apple juice concentrate, pear juice concentrate, apple 
essence, feedstuff and related products, and provision of juice processing services. The decrease in 
turnover was mainly attributable to the decrease in export sales revenue caused by the appreciation 
of average exchange rate of RMB against US dollars.

For the six months ended 30 June 2021, the Group’s gross profit was approximately RMB78,568,293 
and the gross profit margin was approximately 19%. For the corresponding period in 2020, the 
Group’s gross profit was approximately RMB137,230,678 and the gross profit margin was 
approximately 29%. The gross profit and the gross profit margin for the current period recorded 
a decrease, on the one hand due to the decline in product sales prices caused by the appreciation 
of average exchange rate of RMB against US dollars; on the other hand, due to the increase in 
the principal business cost for the period compared with the previous period. The international 
freight charges remained high during the current period. Also, the Company included the freight, 
import and export declaration and warehousing costs into the principal business cost rather than 
selling and distribution expenses in the period. If the freight and other expenses of last period 
are transferred from selling and distribution expenses to principal business cost, the gross profit 
margin of previous period will be 22%.

For the six months ended 30 June 2021, the Group’s net profit was approximately RMB51,837,891, 
all of which was the net profit attributable to the owners of the parent company. As compared 
to approximately RMB86,490,642 for the corresponding period in 2020, representing a decrease 
of approximately RMB34,652,751 or 40%. The net profit decreased, on the one hand due to the 
decline in export sales revenue caused by the appreciation of average exchange rate of RMB 
against US dollars; on the other hand, due to the significant increase in international freight 
charges and decrease in fair value of financial assets held for trading, such as stocks, under the 
global pandemic.
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Analysis on Principal Businesses

1. Analysis of changes in related items of the income statement and the cash flow statement

Item
Jan – Jun 

 2021
Jan – Jun 

2020
Percentage 

change
RMB RMB (%)

Operating income 418,371,887.26 470,121,307.00 (11.01)
Operating cost 339,803,594.53 332,890,629.39 2.08
Selling and distribution expenses 1,393,785.67 33,859,119.40 (95.88)
General and administrative expenses 14,207,526.14 16,912,425.45 (15.99)
Financial expenses 3,347,411.04 (6,433,111.79) 152.03
Research and development expenses 1,486,610.18 861,917.82 72.48
Other income 742,722.15 1,002,781.24 (25.93)
Investment income 9,713,436.84 5,662,069.81 71.55
Profit arising from change in fair value (15,850,333.07) – N/A
Credit impairment loss 3,414,587.12 (3,811,660.00) (189.58)
New cash flow from operating 

activities 370,474,383.16 471,033,021.44 (21.35)
Net cash flow from investing activities (180,114,733.45) (14,261,954.19) 1,162.90
Net cash flow from financing activities (26,224,611.38) – N/A

Reasons for changes:

Operating income: mainly attributable to the decrease in export sales revenue caused by 
the appreciation of average exchange rate of RMB against US dollars

Operating cost: mainly due to international freight charges remained high in the reporting 
period which caused increase in operating costs

Selling and distribution expenses: mainly because the Company included the freight, import 
and export declaration and warehousing costs into the principal business cost instead of 
selling and distribution expenses in the reporting period

General and administrative expenses: mainly because the Company was preparing for A 
shares listing in the corresponding period last year and expenses were relatively higher

Financial expenses: mainly attributable to the decrease in exchange gain due to the 
appreciation of average exchange rate of RMB against US dollars in the reporting period

Research and development expenses: mainly due to increase in research and development 
expenditure by the Company in the reporting period
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Other income: mainly attributable to the decrease in grant and subsidy from the government 
in the reporting period

Investment income: mainly due to increase in income from purchase of different kinds of 
securities for investment in the reporting period

Profit arising from change in fair value: mainly attributable to the decrease in fair value 
of financial assets held for trading, such as stocks, in the reporting period

Credit impairment loss: mainly due to decrease in ratio of provision of credit impairment 
loss in accordance with the accounting standards after consideration of the risk of customers’ 
recoverability in the reporting period

Net cash flow from operating activities: mainly due to the fact that Yantai Longkou Andre 
Juice Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, received the grants for new 
factory construction during the corresponding period last year

Net cash flow from investing activities: mainly due to the increase in purchase of fixed-
term investment products in the reporting period

Net cash flow from financing activities: mainly due to the repurchase of H shares in the 
reporting period
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2. Analysis on assets and liabilities

Name of Items

Amount at the 
end  

of the period

Percentage 
of the 

amount at 
the end of 
the period 
over total 

asset

Amount at 
the end of the 

prior year

Percentage 
of the 

amount at 
the end of 
the prior 
year over 

total asset

Percentage 
changes in 
amount at 
the end of 

the period as 
compared to 

that at the 
end of the 
prior year Description

RMB (%) RMB (%) (%)

Cash at bank and on 
hand 350,250,578.98 15.37 187,978,630.88 8.45 86.32 1

Accounts receivable 210,232,889.31 9.22 176,572,910.68 7.94 19.06 2
Inventory 396,362,144.23 17.39 664,477,186.52 29.87 (40.35) 3
Financial assets held 

for trading 411,799,482.88 18.07 287,617,293.20 12.93 43.18 4
Prepayments 8,110,544.12 0.36 2,435,171.66 0.11 233.06 5
Other receivables 834,173.03 0.04 1,293,631.96 0.06 (35.52) 6
Other non-current 

financial assets 6,000,000.00 0.26 – – N/A 7
Construction in 

progress 13,703,191.77 0.60 6,282,281.59 0.28 118.12 8
Other non-current 

assets 1,414,775.00 0.06 4,086,210.22 0.18 (65.38) 9
Contract liabilities 2,079,810.24 0.09 1,359,029.04 0.06 53.04 10
Bills payable 60,000,000.00 2.63 – – N/A 11
Accounts payable 36,788,460.31 1.61 63,179,732.56 2.84 (41.77) 12
Employee benefits 

payable 12,893,353.12 0.57 20,521,257.56 0.92 (37.17) 13
Taxes payable 2,543,622.02 0.11 4,069,730.55 0.18 (37.50) 14
Other payables 33,804,343.33 1.48 13,381,726.13 0.60 152.62 15
Capital reserve 51,532,007.12 2.26 118,791,715.23 5.34 (56.62) 16
Treasury shares 23,872,408.21 1.05 77,959,708.11 3.50 (69.38) 17

1. The increase in cash at bank and on hand was mainly due to the fact that during the reporting 
period, production stopped seasonally, so there was only sales but not production, resulting in 
more cash inflows.

2. The increase in accounts receivable was mainly attributable to the increase in sales volume of 
the Company in June 2021.

3. The decrease in inventory was mainly due to the fact that during the reporting period, production 
stopped seasonally, so there was only sales but not production.

4. The increase in financial assets held for trading was mainly due to the purchase of financial 
products by idle funds of the parent company in the reporting period.
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5. The increase in prepayment was mainly due to the increase in prepayment made for purchase 
of different kinds of auxiliary materials.

6. The decrease in other receivables was mainly attributable to decrease in tax refundable for 
export sales caused by the decrease in export sales volume in the reporting period.

7. The increase in other non-current financial assets was mainly due to the new long term investment 
in the reporting period.

8. The increase in construction in progress was mainly due to the construction of new cold storage 
of Yantai Longkou Andre Juice Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, had not 
yet fully completed in the reporting period.

9. The decrease in other non-current assets was mainly due to decrease in prepayment for 
construction and purchase of equipments in the reporting period.

10. The increase in contract liabilities was mainly due to the increase in advance receipts received 
from sales contracts of certain customers during the reporting period.

11. The increase in bills payable was mainly attributable to new bank financing granted by China 
CITIC Bank to the parent company in the reporting period.

12. The decrease in accounts payable was mainly attributable to the fact that the end of reporting 
period was not the production period, the purchase of raw and auxiliary materials, packaging 
materials and fuel and power were relatively less significant.

13. The decrease in the employee benefits payable was mainly due to the fact that the year-end 
bonus of last year was paid during the reporting period.

14. The decrease in the taxes payable was mainly due to the decrease in VAT payable during the 
reporting period.

15. The increase in other payables was mainly due to the accrual of 2020 dividend payable according 
to the resolution of shareholders’ general meeting at the end of the reporting period while there 
was no such accrual at the end of last year.

16. The decrease in capital reserve was due to the fact that the Company repurchased its H shares 
last year and such shares were cancelled on 5 January 2021.

17. The decrease in treasury shares was due to the fact that the Company repurchased its H shares 
last year and such shares were cancelled on 5 January 2021. The balance at the end the reporting 
period represented the H shares repurchased in the current year but not yet cancelled at the end 
of the reporting period.
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3. Analysis on major subsidiaries and investee companies

Name of companies
As at 30/6/2021  

Total assets
As at 30/6/2021  

Net assets
Jan – Jun 2021  

Net profit
RMB RMB RMB

Baishui Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 510,530,014.25 484,392,362.74 10,182,097.08
Yantai Longkou Andre Juice 

Co., Ltd. 233,995,266.22 212,129,274.67 10,853,568.64
Xuzhou Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 225,522,907.65 217,171,221.27 7,439,360.87
Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 221,529,220.42 192,185,456.75 (162,863.86)
North Andre Juice (USA) Inc. 58,053,319.46 5,264,372.15 (3,112,851.90)
Dalian Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 175,906,800.84 169,199,481.92 16,154,956.72
Yantai Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 110,824,482.04 108,476,419.66 (49,486.98)
Yongji Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 215,824,978.54 203,837,237.62 12,866,805.87
Anyue Andre Lemon Industry 

Technology Co., Ltd. 79,796,029.04 9,492,905.18 582,191.57
Liquan Yitong Juice Co., Ltd. 206,057,348.48 202,910,028.98 3,993,555.42
Yantai Andre Drinking Water 

Co., Ltd. 3,231,725.39 3,219,427.13 (80,572.87)

Business Review

Enlarging Market and Diversifying Products

During the first half year in 2021, by adapting to the market demand and leveraging on its 
management and capital advantages as well as its advanced production technology, superb product 
quality and comprehensive customer services, the Group maintained steady growth in markets. 
With years of continuous efforts, the Group has expanded its sales network to major countries 
and regions in the world, including the US, Japan, Europe, Oceania, Africa, South America and 
Chinese domestic market. At the same time, as the Company became the first “A+H” dual-listed 
enterprise in the juice beverage industry in China, the Company’s visibility in the industry has 
been significantly enhanced and the Company will take advantage of this opportunity to continue 
to focus on the development of new products, small type products markets, as well as the customer 
base. The Group hopes to continue to expand its market places and boost its market share.

Expanding Domestic Sales Market

The Group continued to maintain prime quality and stable business cooperation relationships with 
certain renowned beverage processors and manufacturers in China and has developed new quality 
customers with broadened sales channels. The Group started sales activities with the objective to 
maintain and increase market share, understood the need of the market and customers in a timely 
manner, analyzed precisely and responded reasonably to every price quote, and processed the 
customer needs and market information instantly to get more customer orders.



141

Optimising Customer Base

While expanding its market places and enlarging its market shares, the Group also leveraged 
on the prime quality of its products to optimise its profile of customer base continuously. The 
Group also explored actively for new customers. Through exhibitions, customers’ visits and other 
channels, the Group sought to increase its exposure to new customers and got more chances for 
cooperation, maintained close relationship and communication with customers and provided 
optimized service to customers. Currently, the customer base of the Group mainly comprises 
renowned beverage manufacturers and traders of the world.

Improving Management System and Efficiency

The Group improved the operational control system and assessment and allocation system with 
market as orientation, optimized the allocation of the Company’s assets, human resources and 
technology by prioritizing efficiency. With performance as the guiding principle, the Group 
promoted the performance assessment of all employees to ensure that income can be increased 
or decreased and that rewards and punishments are clearly defined, so as to fully mobilize the 
enthusiasm of all employees. Meanwhile, the Group further improved the corporate governance 
structure to meet the trend of continuous growth of enterprise scale and improve management 
efficiency.

Future Prospects

Enlarging Market and Diversifying Products

Currently, the Group has a relatively stable market shares and customer base in the world’s major 
consumer areas of apple juice concentrate, including the US, Japan and Europe, Oceania, African 
countries. In addition to consolidating the existing market shares and customer base and resuming 
exports to US customers in the new year, the Company will be committed to developing multiple 
emerging markets with a view to making breakthroughs in this aspect. Due to the satisfactory 
development at the present stage, the Company will expand its product range with apple juice 
concentrate as the foundation, increase the research and development, production and sales of 
products such as apple fructose, pear fructose and drinking water, enrich its product range, 
increase income and meet the demands of various customers.

Increasing Market Development Efforts and Promoting Customer Confidence

With the Company becoming the first “A+H” dual-listed company in the juice beverage industry 
in China, its visibility in the industry has been significantly enhanced. Under the premise of 
maintaining the overseas sales, the Company will boost the domestic sales by integrating its 
available resources and optimizing the sales channels, in order to increase the ratio of the 
domestic sales. At the same time, the Company will combine its products, brand and services 
using the current sales channels, to provide quality services and satisfy the customers’ needs. In 
connection with the niche product project, it will provide a wide range of products to become a 
one-stop product supplier. With its excellent product quality, premium services and large variety 
of products, it will further enhance the confidence of and deepen the cooperation with customers.
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Expanding Financing Channels to Promote Sustainable Development

In respect of future financing, the Company will raise funds in a timely manner from various 
means, such as private placement, placing, issuance of convertible bonds, or bank borrowings 
according to its actual situation and development needs, in order to promote the sustainable 
development of the Company.

Possible Risks and Uncertainties

1. Risk of undersupply of the major ingredient

The Company’s main products are apple juice concentrate and apple fructose (decolorized 
and deacidified apple concentrate), of which the main ingredient is apple, and the purchase 
cost of apple accounts for approximately 65% of the cost of the above products. The price 
of apple is affected by climate conditions, supply and demand, and many other factors. 
The volatility of ingredient fruit price is one of the main factors affecting the Company’s 
operating results.

Countermeasures: With years of experience in the industry, strong capital strength and 
accurate analysis of the situation, the Company keeps an eye on the industry dynamics 
every day during the acquisition season and adjusts its acquisition strategy in a timely 
manner. Making full use of the advantages of each subsidiary in the major production areas 
of ingredient fruit, the Company is able to balance the fluctuation of ingredient prices and 
control production costs effectively. At the same time, the Company’s strong scientific 
and technological strength as well as excellent technical advantages have maximized the 
production capacity of the Company, which not only effectively guarantees the quality of 
the Company’s products, but also reduces the Company’s production costs.

2. Risk of uncertainty in the business environment due to COVID-19 outbreak

Due to the continuation of the COVID-19 epidemic, the future operating environment of the 
Company is uncertain. Although the COVID-19 epidemic has been effectively controlled 
in China, the sporadic cases in various places and the risk of spread of the COVID-19 
due to virus variation may have a certain impact on the Company’s production. At the 
same time, impeded logistics caused by the raging overseas epidemic may bring risks 
of delivery delays and increased transportation costs. The production and operation of 
downstream customers affected by the epidemic may bring the risk of decreased demand 
for the Company’s products or delay in ordering.

Countermeasures: The Company has been closely monitoring the impact of the development 
on its business and has formulated countermeasures which include: organizing nucleic 
acid test for all staff according to the epidemic development; increasing logistics and 
transportation options; negotiating with customers on delivery time; continuously paying 
attention to the operating conditions of domestic and overseas customers, and tracking their 
payment status on a daily basis to counteract the adverse impact of the COVID-19 epidemic.
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3. Risk of relying on a single product

The Company is principally engaged in the processing, production and sales of juice 
concentrate, and most of the products are sold abroad. Although the current demand for 
apple juice concentrate is stable around the globe, the Company’s profit sources are largely 
dependent on a single variety of apple juice concentrate, and fluctuations in the market price 
of apple juice concentrate will adversely affect the Company’s production and operations.

Countermeasures: The Company has adjusted its strategy to reduce its reliance on juice 
concentrate products and further seek product sales diversification. The Company timely 
launched and increased the research and development, production and sales of apple 
fructose, pear fructose and drinking water and other products to further diversify products, 
such as apple fructose. With the new products launched by the domestic famous beverage 
processing enterprises and their hot sales, sales are growing year by year.

4. Risk of rising logistics costs

The export products of the Company are mainly sold and transported by sea. Nowadays, 
the international trade environment is becoming more and more complicated. Affected 
by policy-based governance and the control of the COVID-19 epidemic, ports in various 
countries have different levels of control, which caused operating efficiency has declined, 
and shipping turnover has been impeded. As the current global epidemic control situation is 
not optimistic, the uncertainty of the global economic situation has increased. The demand 
fluctuation of overall shipping increased, the uncertainty of changes in shipping costs has 
increased, and there is a risk of rising shipping costs.

Countermeasures: The Company pays real-time attention to the development situation of 
domestic and foreign epidemics, prepares response plans and communicates with customers 
on the delivery progress in a timely manner to strive to reduce the adverse impact of 
increase in shipping costs.
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CHANGE OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

On 30 March 2021, Mr. Wang Yan Hui was appointed as the Vice President of the Company. 
On 28 June 2021, Mr. Qu Kun Sheng resigned as the Vice President of the Company due to 
personal reasons.

Saved as disclosed above, there was no material change in the directors, supervisors and senior 
management of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2021.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

For the six months ended 30 June 2021, the Group’s average number of employee was 738 and 
the total employee remuneration was approximately RMB22,509,939. The Group’s employment 
and remuneration policies remained unchanged with those described in the prospectus of the 
Company dated 11 April 2003. The salaries and benefits of the employees of the Group were kept 
at a competitive level and employees were rewarded on a performance related basis according 
to the Group’s salary and bonus system, which is reviewed annually. A wide range of benefits, 
including statutory compulsory welfare plans, were also provided to employees.

DIVIDEND

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) proposed not to distribute interim dividend 
for the six months ended 30 June 2021.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

No significant investment was made by the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2021.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

No material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries had been made by the Company for the six 
months ended 30 June 2021.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Saved as disclosed in Note XIII to the Financial Statements, the Group had no specific plan for 
material investments or capital assets as at 30 June 2021.



145

A SHARE OFFERING AND USE OF PROCEEDS FROM A SHARE OFFERING

With the approval of the Reply on Approving the Initial Public Offering of Shares of Yantai 
North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.* (Zheng Jian Xu Ke [2020] No. 1914) issued by the CSRC, the 
Company issued 20,000,000 RMB ordinary shares (A shares) on 18 September 2020 with a total 
par value of RMB20,000,000 at the issue price of RMB7.60 per share. The total proceeds raised 
amounted to RMB152,000,000. The net proceeds raised (after deducting the offering expense 
of RMB30,500,000) was RMB121,500,000. For details, please refer to the announcement of the 
Company dated 17 September 2020. 

On 12 October 2020, the Board decided to use the idle proceeds not exceeding RMB120,000,000 
for cash management. For more details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 
13 October 2020.

As at 30 June 2021, the use of proceeds raised from the A Share Offering and its balance are 
set out below:

RMB

Balance of proceeds as of 31 December 2020 121,721,872.16
Less: replacement of prepayments by proceeds in January to June 2021 2,035,100.00
Add: interest income of deposits net of bank charges in January to June 

2021 126,850.12
Add: income from cash management of wealth management products in 

January to June 2021 1,184,362.09
Balance of proceeds as of 30 June 2021 120,997,984.37

As at 30 June 2021, the balance of the Company’s idle proceeds used for cash management and 
investment in related products was RMB100,000,000. The basic information of the investment 
products is set out below:

Product Name
Subscription 

amount
Contracting 
party

Date of 
investment Date of maturity

RMB

Guolian Chengxin No. 69 Principal Protected and Fixed 
Income Certificates Subscription (國聯誠鑫69號本
金保障固定收益性收益憑證認購)

30,000,000.00 Guolian Securities 
Co., Ltd.

30/10/2020 28/7/2021

Guolian Chengxin No. 85 Principal Protected and Fixed 
Income Certificates Subscription (國聯誠鑫85號本
金保障固定收益性收益憑證認購)

30,000,000.00 Guolian Securities 
Co., Ltd.

12/5/2021 17/8/2021

Guolian Chengxin No. 89 Principal Protected and Fixed 
Income Certificates Subscription (國聯誠鑫89號本
金保障固定收益性收益憑證認購)

40,000,000.00 Guolian Securities 
Co., Ltd.

31/5/2021 1/9/2021

 

Total 100,000,000.00
 

* For identification purpose only
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The intended use of proceeds from the A Share Offering is set out below:

Intended investment project

Planned 
investment 

amount
RMB

Investment 
amount as at  
30 June 2021

RMB

Difference 
between the 

actual investment 
amount as at the 
end of the period 
and the planned 

investment 
amount 
RMB

Construction of multi-type juice concentrate  
production line 121,500,000.00 2,035,100.00 (119,464,900.00)

   

Total 121,500,000.00 2,035,100.00 (119,464,900.00)
   

The Company will use the remaining proceeds according to the progress of the investment 
projects and business development. As at 30 June 2021, there was no specific timetable for the 
use of the remaining proceeds.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) were not aware of any material contingent 
liabilities as at 30 June 2021.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

The Group has no material subsequent event as at 30 June 2021.

CHARGE OF ASSETS

The Group has no assets charged as at 30 June 2021.



147

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally financed its operations and investing activities with internally generated 
financial resources and loans from banks. As at 30 June 2021, the Group had no outstanding 
bank loans.

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had a net cash and cash equivalent position of approximately 
RMB350,250,579. The Group’s gearing ratio as at 30 June 2021 was approximately 7% (30 
June 2020: approximately 7%) which was calculated based on the Group’s total liabilities of 
approximately RMB161,882,215 (30 June 2020: approximately RMB145,332,537) divided by 
total equity and liabilities of approximately RMB2,279,273,819 (30 June 2020: approximately 
RMB2,144,295,736). The Directors considered that the Group had sufficient financial resources 
to meet its ongoing operation requirements.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

As at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020, the Group had no outstanding bank borrowing.

Approximately RMB218,440,496, RMB131,401,148 and RMB408,935 (30 June 2020: 
approximately RMB690,917,945, RMB40,224,916 and RMB330,654) of the Group’s cash 
balances were denominated in RMB, US dollars and HK dollars respectively as at 30 June 2021.

For details of the Group’s capital management policies and objectives, please refer to Note VI.47 
of the “Notes to the financial statements”.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The operating revenue of the Group is substantially denominated in US dollars. It is the practice 
of the Group to convert its operating revenue denominated in US dollars to RMB for financing its 
operating expenses and capital requirements. However, the results of operations and the financial 
position of the Group may be affected by any changes in the exchange rates.

On the other hand, the conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies is 
subject to the relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the 
PRC government.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

During June 2021, the Company repurchased a total of 4,000,000 H shares with par value of 
RMB1.00 each on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited at prices ranging from HK$6.65 
to HK$7.45 per H share, for a total consideration of HK$29,098,499 (including the consideration 
for shares repurchase, stamp duty and commission). The Directors believe that through repurchase 
of shares, earnings per share and asset value per share will increase, which in turn will improve 
the Company’s capital structure and Shareholders’equity. Save as disclosed above, neither the 
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s 
listed shares for the six months ended 30 June 2021.
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE 
COMPANY

As at 30 June 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors, supervisors and chief 

executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company 

and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures 

Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which were (a) required to be 

notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of 

Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to 

have under such provisions of the SFO); and (b) required to be recorded in the register kept by 

the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and 

the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by the directors 

of the Company as referred to in Appendix 10 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules were as follows:

Name of 
Directors Class of Shares

Number of
Shares Held Capacity

Type of
Interest

Approximate
Percentage of

A Shares/ 
H Shares

Approximate
Percentage of

Total Share
Capital

Wang An
 (Note 1)

A Shares 101,010,501 (L) Interest of controlled  
 corporation (Note 2)

Personal 37.34% (L) 27.50% (L)

Wang Yanhui
 (Note 3)

A Shares 20,000,000 (L) Interest of controlled 
 corporations (Note 4)

Personal 7.39% (L) 5.45% (L)

Zhang Hui
 (Note 5)

A Shares 20,000,000 (L) Interest of controlled 
 corporations (Note 6)

Personal 7.39% (L) 5.45% (L)

Liu Tsung-Yi H Shares 195,400 (L) Beneficial owner Personal 0.20% (L) 0.05% (L)
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Notes:

The letter “L” denotes a long position.

(1) As at 30 June 2021, Mr. Wang An, a Director, controlled (a) 90% interest in China Pingan Investment 
Holdings Limited, which held 46,351,961 A Shares, representing 12.62% interest in the total issued 
share capital of the Company; (b) 90% interest in Shandong Andre Group Co., Ltd.*（山東安德利
集團有限公司）, which held 54,658,540 A Shares, representing 14.88% interest in the total issued 
share capital of the Company.

(2) Mr. Wang An was deemed to be interested in these Shares through his interests in China Pingan 
Investment Holdings Limited and Shandong Andre Group Co., Ltd.*（山東安德利集團有限公司）.

(3) As at 30 June 2021, Mr. Wang Yanhui, a Director, held 20% interest in Yantai Xingan Investment 
Centre (Limited Partnership) (烟台興安投資中心（有限合夥）), which held 20,000,000 A Shares, 
representing 5.45% of the total issued share capital of the Company.

(4) Mr. Wang Yanhui was deemed to be interested in these A Shares through his interest in Yantai 
Xingan Investment Centre (Limited Partnership)（烟台興安投資中心（有限合夥））.

(5) As at 30 June 2021, Mr. Zhang Hui, a Director, held 36% interest in Yantai Xingan Investment 
Centre (Limited Partnership)（烟台興安投資中心（有限合夥））, which held 20,000,000 A Shares, 
representing 5.45% of the total issued share capital of the Company.

(6) Mr. Zhang Hui was deemed to be interested in these A Shares through his interest in Yantai Xingan 
Investment Centre (Limited Partnership)（烟台興安投資中心（有限合夥））.

* For identification purpose only
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE 
COMPANY

As at 30 June 2021, so far as the Directors are aware, the following persons (other than the 
Directors, supervisors and chief executive of the Company) had interests and short positions in 
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which were discloseable under 
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and recorded in the register kept by the Company 
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Name of
Shareholders Class of Shares

Number of
Shares Held Capacity

Type of
Interest

Approximate
Percentage of

A Shares/
H Shares

Approximate
Percentage of

Total Share
Capital

China Pingan Investment
 Holdings Limited

A Shares 46,351,961 (L)
(Note 1)

(Note 11)

Beneficial owner Corporate 17.13% (L) 12.62% (L)

Shandong Andre Group 
 Co., Ltd.** 

A Shares 54,658,540 (L)
(Note 2)

(Note 11)

Beneficial owner Corporate 20.20% (L) 14.88% (L)

Donghua Fruit Industry 
 Co., Ltd.

A Shares 65,779,459 (L)
(Note 3)

(Note 11)

Beneficial owner Corporate 24.31% (L) 17.91% (L)

Uni-President Enterprises 
 Corp.

A Shares 63,746,040 (L)
(Note 4)

 (Note 12)

Interests of controlled 
 corporations
 (Note 5)

Corporate 23.56% (L) 17.36% (L)

H Shares 237,000 (L) Beneficial owner
 (Note 6)

Corporate 0.24% (L) 0.06% (L)

Mitsui & Co., Ltd. H Shares 18,340,000 (L) Beneficial owner Corporate 18.95% (L) 4.99% (L)

Hongan International 
 Investment Co. Ltd.

A Shares 65,779,459 (L) Interest of controlled  
 corporations

Corporate 24.31% (L) 17.91% (L)

H Shares 17,222,880 (L)
(Note 11)

Beneficial owner Corporate 17.80% (L) 4.69% (L)

Zhang Shaoxia A Shares 101,010,501 (L) Interest of spouse Personal 37.34% (L) 27.50% (L)
 (Note 7)

Wang Meng A Shares 65,779,459 (L) Interest of controlled  
 corporations
 (Note 8)

Personal 24.31% (L) 17.91% (L)

H Shares 17,222,880 (L) Interest of controlled  
 corporations
 (Note 9)

Personal 17.80% (L) 4.69% (L)

* For identification purpose only
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Name of
Shareholders Class of Shares

Number of
Shares Held Capacity

Type of
Interest

Approximate
Percentage of

A Shares/
H Shares

Approximate
Percentage of

Total Share
Capital

Yantai Xingan  
 Investment Centre
 (Limited Partnership)

A Shares 20,000,000 (L)
(Note 11)

Beneficial owner Corporate 7.39% (L) 5.45% (L)

Tiandi Win-Win Investment 
 Management Co., 
 Limited

H Shares 11,000,000 (L)
(Note 10)

Beneficial owner Corporate 11.37% (L) 2.99% (L)

Shenzhen Tiandi Win-Win 
 Investment Management 
 Co., Limited

H Shares 11,000,000 (L)
(Note 10)

Interest of controlled 
 corporations

Corporate 11.37% (L) 2.99% (L)

Tiandi Yihao Beverage 
 Co., Limited 

H Shares 11,000,000 (L)
(Note 10)

Interest of controlled  
 corporations

Corporate 11.37% (L) 2.99% (L)

Chen Sheng H Shares 11,000,000 (L)
(Note 10)

Interest of controlled 
 corporations

Personal 11.37% (L) 2.99% (L)

Notes:

The letter “L” denotes a long position.

(1) Mr. Wang An, a Director, was deemed to be interested in these A Shares through his 90% interest in 

China Pingan Investment Holdings Limited.

(2) Mr. Wang An, a Director, was deemed to be interested in these A Shares through his 90% interest 

in Shandong Andre Group Co., Ltd.*（山東安德利集團有限公司）.

(3) The long position in 65,779,459 A Shares was directly held by Donghua Fruit Industry Co., Ltd. Based 

on the information provided by Donghua Fruit Industry Co., Ltd., Hongan International Investment 

Co, Ltd. and Ms. Wang Meng were deemed to be interested in these 65,779,459 A Shares.

(4) The long position in 63,746,040 A Shares was held by Uni-President China Holdings Ltd., a non 

wholly-owned subsidiary of Uni-President Enterprises Corp. （統一企業股份有限公司）, through 

its two wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely, Chengdu President Enterprises Food Co., Ltd.（成都統
一企業食品有限公司）, which held 42,418,360 A Shares, and Guangzhou President Enterprises Co.,  

Ltd.（廣州統一企業有限公司）, which held 21,327,680 A Shares.

* For identification purpose only
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(5) Pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, Uni-President Enterprises Corp. （統一企業股份有限公司） was 

deemed to be interested in such 63,746,040 A Shares. The 63,746,040 A Shares were held by a 

series of controlled corporations of Uni-President Enterprises Corp. （統一企業股份有限公司）, of 

which 42,418,360 A Shares, representing approximately 11.55% of the total issued share capital 

of the Company, were held directly by Chengdu President Enterprises Food Co., Ltd. （成都統一企
業食品有限公司） and 21,327,680 A Shares, representing approximately 5.81% of the total issued 

share capital of the Company, were held directly by Guangzhou President Enterprises Co., Ltd. （廣
州統一企業有限公司）.

(6) These H Shares are beneficially held by Uni-President China Holdings Ltd..

(7) 101,010,501 A Shares were held by Mr. Wang An, the husband of Ms. Zhang Shaoxia, and therefore 

Ms. Zhang Shaoxia was deemed to be interested in these shares.

(8) Ms. Wang Meng indirectly held 100% of the issued share capital of Donghua Fruit Industry Co., Ltd., 

which in turn held 65,779,459 A Shares. Therefore, Ms. Wang Meng was deemed to be interested in 

these shares.

(9) Ms. Wang Meng directly held the entire issued share capital of Hongan International Investment Co., 

Ltd., which in turn held 17,222,880 H Shares. Therefore, Ms. Wang Meng was deemed to be interested 

in these shares.

(10) The long position in 11,000,000 H Shares was held by Shenzhen Tiandi Win-Win Investment 

Management Co., Limited (深圳市天地共贏投資管理有限公司), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tiandi 

Yihao Beverage Co., Limited (天地壹號飲料股份有限公司), through its wholly-owned subsidiary 

Tiandi Win-Win Investment Management Co., Limited. Mr. Chen Sheng was deemed to be interested 

in these H Shares through his over 70% interest in Tiandi Yihao Beverage Co., Limited (天地壹號飲
料股份有限公司).

(11) The lock-up period of these shares is 36 months, from 18 September 2020 to 17 September 2023.

(12) The lock-up period of these shares is from 18 September 2020 to 21 September 2021.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 30 June 2021, none of the Directors, the management shareholders of the Company and 
their respective associates (as defined under the Hong Kong Listing Rules) had any interest in a 
business which competes or may compete with the businesses of the Group or has or may have 
any other conflicts of the interest with the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

As a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the 
Company has remained in strict compliance with the Articles of Association, relevant laws and 
regulations, the Shanghai Listing Rules and Hong Kong Listing Rules.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles and code provisions 
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the 
Hong Kong Listing Rules. For the six months ended 30 June 2021, the Company complied with 
the Code Provisions of the CG Code, except for the following deviation:

According to Code A.1.8 of the CG Code, the Company should arrange appropriate insurance 
cover in respect of legal action against its Directors. The Board believes that with the current 
risk management and internal control systems and the close supervision of the management, the 
Directors’ risk of being sued or getting involved in litigation in their capacity as Directors is 
relatively low. Benefits to be derived from taking out insurance may not outweigh the cost. As 
such, the Company currently does not have insurance cover for legal action against its Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings set out in Appendix 10 of the Hong 
Kong Listing Rules (the “Required Standard”) as the Company’s code of conduct regarding 
securities transactions by its Directors. A copy of the Required Standard has been sent to each 
Director one month before the date of the Board meeting to approve the Company’s 2021 interim 
results, with a reminder that the Director could not deal in the securities and derivatives of the 
Company until after such results have been published.

Under the Required Standard, the Directors are required to notify the chairman of the Company 
and receive a dated acknowledgement in writing before dealing in the securities and derivatives 
of the Company and, in the case of the chairman of the Company himself, he must notify the 
chairman of the audit and review committee and receive a dated acknowledgement in writing 
before any dealing.

All Directors, upon specific enquiries, have confirmed that they complied with the Required 
Standard for the six months ended 30 June 2021.

Specific employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information 
of the Group are also subject to compliance with the Required Standard. No incident of non- 
compliance was noted by the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2021.
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AUDIT AND REVIEW COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit and review committee with written terms of reference 
which were formulated and amended based on the guidelines recommended by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and code provisions set out in the CG Code. The primary 
duties of the audit and review committee are to review and provide supervision over the financial 
reporting process, risk management and internal control of the Group. All of its members are 
independent non-executive Directors (namely Mr. Jiang Hong Qi, Mr. Li Wei and Mr. Li Yao) 
and its current chairman, Mr. Jiang Hong Qi, is an independent non-executive Director.

The audit and review committee has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by 
the Group and discussed with the Directors about risk management, internal controls and financial 
reporting matters including a review of the interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2021.

By order of the Board
Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*

Wang An
Chairman

Yantai, the PRC, 26 August 2021

As at the date hereof, the Board comprises:

Mr. Wang An (Executive Director)
Mr. Zhang Hui (Executive Director)
Mr. Wang Yan Hui (Executive Director)
Mr. Liu Tsung-Yi (Non-executive Director)
Mr. Jiang Hong Qi (Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. Li Wei (Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. Li Yao (Independent non-executive Director)

* For identification purpose only.


	COVER
	CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET – UNAUDITED
	COMPANY BALANCE SHEET – UNAUDITED
	CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT – UNAUDITED
	COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT – UNAUDITED
	CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS – UNAUDITED
	COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT – UNAUDITED
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY – UNAUDITED
	COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY – UNAUDITED
	NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	CHANGE OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
	EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY
	DIVIDEND
	SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT
	MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
	FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS
	A SHARE OFFERING AND USE OF PROCEEDS FROM A SHARE OFFERING
	LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
	CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
	FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE
	PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES
	DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
	SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
	COMPETING INTERESTS
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
	DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
	AUDIT AND REVIEW COMMITTEE



